Public Document Pack

E-mail: comsec@teignbridge.gov.uk
25 October 2021

EXECUTIVE
A meeting of the Executive will be held on Tuesday, 2nd November, 2021 in the
Council Chamber, Forde House, Brunel Road, Newton Abbot, TQ12 4XX at 10.00
am

PHIL SHEARS
Managing Director
Membership:
Councillors Connett (Leader), Dewhirst (Deputy Leader), J Hook, Keeling, Jeffries, MacGregor,
Purser, Taylor and Wrigley

Please Note:The public can view the live streaming of the meeting at Teignbridge
District Council Webcasting (public-i.tv) with the exception where there are
confidential or exempt items, which may need to be considered in the absence of the
press and public.

AGENDA
Part I

1.

Apologies for absence

2.

Minutes

(Pages 3 - 4)

To approve and sign the minutes of the meeting held on 5 October 2021.
3.

Declarations of Interest (if any)

1

4.

Executive Forward Plan
To note forthcoming decisions anticipated on the Executive Forward Plan

5.

Public Questions (if any)
Members of the Public may ask questions of the Leader or an Executive Member. A
maximum period of 15 minutes will be allowed with a maximum of period of three
minutes per questioner.
The deadline for questions is no later than 12 noon two working days before the
date of the meeting.

6.

2020/21 Final Accounts - 2020/21 Budget Monitoring
Revenue & Capital 2021/22 & Treasury Management Lending
List

(Pages 5 - 36)

7.

Driver and Operational Staff Salaries – Market Forces

(Pages 37 - 42)

8.

Local Plan Consultation – Renewable Energy Site options,
Gypsy and Traveller site options and residential sites
options

(Pages 43 210)

9.

Reducing residual waste collected from households and
encouraging an increase in recycling

(Pages 211 216)

If you would like this information in another format, please telephone 01626 361101 or
e-mail info@teignbridge.gov.uk

2

Agenda Item 2

EXECUTIVE
5 OCTOBER 2021
Present:
Cllrs Connett (Leader), Dewhirst (Deputy Leader), J Hook, Keeling, Purser, Taylor
and Wrigley

Apologies:
Cllr MacGregor
Officers in Attendance:
Trainee Democratic Services Officer
Democratic Services Team Leader & Deputy Monitoring Officer
Managing Director
Coastal Officer

These decisions will take effect from 10.00 a.m. on 12 October 2021 unless
called-in or identified as urgent in the minute
64.

MINUTES
The minutes of the meeting held on 16 September 2021 were agreed as a
correct record and signed by the Chair.

65.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
Councillor Dewhirst declared an interest in respect of Minute no.67 as Devon
County Councils Member on the Devon and Severn Inshore Fisheries and
Conservation Authority Committee.

66.

EXECUTIVE FORWARD PLAN
RESOLVED that the Forward Plan be noted.

67.

UPDATE SHELLFISH COLLECTION ON THE TEIGN AND EXE
ESTUARIES
The Executive Member for Climate Change, Coastal Protection and Flooding
presented the report to update Members regarding shellfish collection and to
offer support to the Devon and Severn Inshore Fisheries and Conservation
Authority in the management of the resource.
Members commented that the informal and largely unregulated public collection
of shellfish was a challenging local issue. Members asked officers to explore if
the Exe Estuary Management Partnership, Teign Estuary and Coastal

3

Partnership or South East Devon Habitats Regulations Partnership would be
able to assist a Byelaw creation process.
RESOLVED that the:(1)

Report be noted;

(2)

Devon and Severn Inshore Fisheries and Conservation Authority be
supported in efforts to manage the shellfisheries in the Teign and Exe
Estuaries; and

(3)

Devon and Severn Inshore Fisheries and Conservation Authority be
recommended to adopt either a sectoral or geographical approach to
prioritise the early adoption of an appropriate Byelaw.

The vote was unanimous.
68.

NOTICE OF MOTION ON THE ENVIRONMENT
The Executive considered the Notice of Motion on the Environment submitted by
Cllr Macgregor to the Full Council 20th September 2021. The Executive Member
for Climate Change, Coastal Protection and Flooding comment that as the
Environment Bill was near the end of its passage through Parliament this Notice
of Motion would be withdrawn.
RESOLVED that this Notice of Motion be withdrawn.
The vote was unanimous.

69.

NOTICE OF MOTION - GIVING THE COMMUNITY A STRONGER VOICE
IN LOCAL PLANNING
The Leader in presenting the Notice of Motion on Giving the Community a
stronger voice in local planning commented that in light of recent Central
Government announcements as to changes to the Planning White paper the
Notice of Motion would be withdrawn.
Members raised concerns regarding changes to permitted development rights
which reduced local authorities’ control of planning in their districts.
RESOLVED that the Notice of Motion be withdrawn.
The vote was unanimous.

The meeting started at 10.00 am and finished at 10.30 am.
Chair

4

Agenda Item 6

Teignbridge District Council
Executive
2 November 2021
Part i
2020/21 FINAL ACCOUNTS
2021/22 BUDGET MONITORING – REVENUE & CAPITAL, TREASURY
MANAGEMENT LENDING LIST

Purpose of Report
To update on the 2020/21 final revenue results including closing general reserves.
To update Members on the principal areas where there are likely to be departures
from the 2021/22 revenue budget and summarise those variations to the end of
September 2021 including updates on progress with the capital programme and
funding and any amendments to the lending list for treasury management purposes.

Recommendation(s)
The Executive Committee resolves to:
(1) Note the revenue results for 2020/21
(2) Approve the revenue budget variations for 2021/22 as shown at
appendix 1
(3) Approve the updated capital programme as shown at appendix 2
(4) Note the lending list as shown at appendix 3
(5) Recommend to Council to note the mid year review of Treasury
Management as shown in appendix 4
(6) Note the continuation of Lloyds Bank as the Council’s bank and Lloyds
(Cardnet) as the Council’s merchant acquiring services provider (in
relation to credit and debit card receipts).

Financial Implications
The financial implications are contained throughout the report. The main implication
is that the accounts have been closed and general reserves are slightly above the
budgeted level anticipated at 31 March 2021 - £2.060 million. See section 2. For
2021/22 there is a favourable variance of £736,400 at the end of September 2021.
See sections 4 and 5.
Martin Flitcroft – Chief Finance Officer
Tel: 01626 215246 Email: martin.flitcroft@teignbridge.gov.uk

5

Legal Implications
See section 7.1 – the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 set out the requirements
for the production and publication and audit of the annual statement of accounts.
The Council is required to secure a balanced budget and also to provide certain
services. Regular financial monitoring by the Executive helps ensure that the Council
is able to meet these statutory obligations.
Martin Flitcroft – Chief Finance Officer
Tel: 01626 215246 Email: martin.flitcroft@teignbridge.gov.uk

Risk Assessment
Major risks are summarised in section 6. The most significant of these is the level of
future funding from Central Government and the level of reserves held to meet future
unexpected variations in income.
Martin Flitcroft – Chief Finance Officer
Tel: 01626 215246 Email: martin.flitcroft@teignbridge.gov.uk

Environmental/ Climate Change Implications
The revenue budget supports the funding of a Climate Change Officer and
associated budget and capital projects are highlighted which contribute towards our
climate change objectives – see section 9.
David Eaton – Environmental Protection Manager
Tel: 01626 215064 Email: david.eaton@teignbridge.gov.uk

Report Author
Martin Flitcroft – Chief Finance Officer
Tel: 01626 215246 Email: martin.flitcroft@teignbridge.gov.uk

Executive Member
Councillor Richard Keeling – Executive Member for Resources

Appendices/Background Papers
Appendix 1
Appendix 2
Appendix 3
Appendix 4

– Revenue budget variations 2021/22
– Updated capital programme 2021/22
– Updated treasury management lending list
– mid year treasury management review

6

1.

PURPOSE



To update Members on the final accounts for 2020/21 including draft closing
general reserves.



To update Members on progress with the capital programme and funding and
bring the latest details for Members approval as shown at appendix 2.



To note the updated treasury management lending list as shown in Appendix
3.



To note the mid year review on treasury management activities.



To identify the principal areas where there are likely to be departures from the
approved 2021/22 revenue budget and summarise the likely overall variation
based on the information available to the end of September 2021. Also to
inform Members of progress that has been made with achieving savings and
efficiencies.

2

FINAL ACCOUNTS

2.1

The accounts and audit regulations 2015 set out the requirements for the
production and publication of the annual statement of accounts. The
statement usually has to be produced and certified by the chief finance officer
by 31 May however the Covid 19 pandemic has triggered amendments to this
deadline by extending this to the end of July for the draft accounts. Full
details were provided in the report of 16 September Executive.

2.2

The statement of accounts and financial records have been closed, balanced
and the draft accounts published are published and have been audited by our
external auditors Grant Thornton during August and through to November.
Details of any observations or amendments will have been reported to Audit
Scrutiny Committee in October. No known material adjustments are required
at this point but any further updates will be reported verbally. Grant Thornton
is required to provide the opinion on the statement of accounts by the end of
September but this will not be finalized until the Full Council meeting on 30
November.

2.3

The availability of the accounts and records for inspection by interested
persons has been advertised on the website
www.teignbridge.gov.uk/statementofaccounts see Draft Statement of
Accounts 2020-2021. These will be replaced with the final accounts once
signed off by the external auditors.

7

3.

TREASURY MANAGEMENT AUTHORISED LENDING LIST (Appendix 3) /
MID YEAR REVIEW (Appendix 4)

3.1

The authorised treasury management lending list was approved at the 2021
February budget meeting. Following the appointment of treasury management
advisors in 2019, additional highly-rated institutions were added to the
Council’s official lending list. From 1 January 2019, the largest UK banks had
to separate core retail banking from investment banking in order to support
financial stability and make any potential failures easier to manage without the
need for a government bailout. The banks addressed ring-fencing, each
taking their own approach about which side of the bank is best suited for local
authorities. In some cases, ring-fencing affected ratings. Officers continue to
monitor all ratings to ensure they meet the Council’s lending criteria.

3.2

Following review of the latest ratings, there is no change to the lending list,
which is included at appendix 3 for information.
The banking services and merchant acquiring services have been procured
via the CPRAS (Cost and Procurement Advisory Service) framework. This
framework has ensured that we have purchased these services in a compliant
manner and for the best value for money relating to Teignbridge District
Council’s usage. We will be awarding Lloyds for our banking for 7 years and
Cardnet (Lloyds) for our merchant acquiring for 4 years.

3.3

The mid year review of treasury management performance which is
required to be noted by Council is attached as appendix 4. This shows returns
of 0.028% being in excess of the benchmark London 7-day interbank bid rate,
which has been negative since 3 rd July 2020. Interest earned to the end of
September is £4,030, less than last year, mainly due to a reduction in interest
rates. The forecast for the year is £9,023, a decrease of £6,923 compared to
2020/21. This is mainly due to reduced interest rates, however the funds
available for investment are also forecast to decrease during the second half
of the year due to items within the capital programme. This is dependent on
the timing of the schemes proceeding as anticipated .

4.

REVENUE BUDGET MONITORING 2021/22 – SUMMARY

4.1

The first report to Members on the budget variations for 2021/22 was
provided on 5 July 2021 together with an update on the capital programme
and lending list. A further update was provided on 16 September 2021. There
is now a net surplus of £736,400 for 2021/22 arising from variations to the
original budget. A summary of revenue variations by service identified to the
end of September is shown below with favourable variations indicated by a
minus sign as per the details shown in Appendix 1.

8

Service
Development management including land charges
Corporate services
Economy & assets
Environment/climate change
Leisure/green spaces
General
TOTAL FAVOURABLE BUDGET VARIATION TO DATE

Variance £
-11,780
-185,770
-166,000
-33,000
52,250
-392,100
-736,400

Budgeted contributions to capital were eliminated as part of the budget
process last year with new homes bonus receipts likely to reduce again next
year as the bonus is phased out. There is still no clarity as to what will take its
place. Estimated rates retention above the baseline and pooling gain is
assumed to be reset next year as part of the review into fair funding which will
eliminate most of the gains made. There is still uncertainty as to whether this
will actually take place next year as planned. We await clarification on this
which may be made clearer when full details of the next settlement are
provided for 2022/23 in December. The spending review on 27 October may
provide some clarity and a verbal update will be provided if necessary. The
business rates retention reserve holds funds to assist with this eventuality
initially. Likely shortfalls for future years after 2021/22 will need to be
addressed as part of the budget setting and monitoring process this year and
next year. Work is ongoing through service plan reviews and modified
business plans to determine savings to meet the gaps identified in the final
budget papers from February 2021.
5.

VARIATIONS BY SERVICE 2021/22 (revenue shown in appendix 1 and
capital in appendix 2)

5.1

Building control



At the end of September fee income is forecast to be 11.5% above the target
budget of £380,000. Any variation at the year end will be charged to the
building control reserve so will not affect Teignbridge’s general reserve.
Income received to date is up on that at the same time last year.



Teignbridge became the Lead Authority fully hosting The Devon Building
Control Partnership with South Hams and West Devon councils from 1 April
2017 and holds the partnership earmarked reserves on behalf of the partners.



An annual contribution from building control towards pension deficit charges is
providing an additional contribution to general reserves of £68,280 per annum.

9

5.2

Development management including land charges



At the end of September net planning application income is forecast to be
£75,500 down compared to the covid adjusted budget of £675,440. Planning
application numbers are 15% up as compared with last year.



The Executive of 30 May 2017 agreed the introduction of charges for preapplication planning advice from 1 July 2017. At the end of September 2021
we were £6,000 down compared with the estimated income of £45,000 for the
year.



Planning appeal costs are currently estimated at £10,000 for this financial
year.



Land charges income is forecast to be £17,000 higher than the original budget
of £204,000, therefore it is unlikely that the budgeted covid provision will be
required, a saving of £18,000. The number of searches is 39% up on last
year. A search can be a full or part search or individual questions.

5.3

Strategic leadership team & corporate services
The 2019 revised strategic leadership team structure has permanent
appointments to the relevant positions. The new structure will ultimately
deliver ongoing savings in excess of £150,000. These savings have already
been incorporated into the budget for 2021/22 and thereafter.
Finance





Forecast net interest receivable at £9,023 is forecast to be up £43,993 on the
base net interest (payable) budget of £34,970 as we have not had to
undertake long term borrowing. There is currently no forecast external
borrowing for the year. Call account rates continue at record lows. Our
average lending rate to the end of September is 0.028% which is above the
average benchmark 7 day London Interbank Bid Rate to date of -0.08%.
As at the end of 2020-21, the draft capital financing requirement (CFR)
(underlying need to borrow) is £19.6 million. As at the end of September, by
using existing balances to fund this internally rather than borrowing externally,
the Council saves £393,304 per annum. This is based on the cost of
borrowing 50% of CFR at the PWLB’s 10-year certainty rate and 50% at the
25-year certainty rate as at end of September, less potential interest earned at
the current average rate of 0.028%.

10

In April we arranged lending as follows:

BORROWER
DMO
DMO
DMO
DMO
DMO
DMO
DMO
DMO
DMO
DMO
DMO
DMO
DMO
DMO

RATE
0.010
0.010
0.010
0.010
0.010
0.010
0.010
0.010
0.010
0.010
0.010
0.010
0.010
0.010

AMOUNT
5,000,000
1,000,000
4,000,000
2,000,000
1,000,000
7,000,000
2,000,000
1,000,000
500,000
1,000,000
1,000,000
1,000,000
3,000,000
1,000,000

START
DATE
01/04/2021
06/04/2021
06/04/2021
06/04/2021
06/04/2021
06/04/2021
07/04/2021
07/04/2021
15/04/2021
15/04/2021
15/04/2021
15/04/2021
15/04/2021
16/04/2021

END DATE
19/04/2021
12/04/2021
19/04/2021
28/04/2021
21/05/2021
26/05/2021
26/05/2021
02/07/2021
28/04/2021
19/05/2021
21/06/2021
23/06/2021
02/07/2021
26/04/2021

TOTAL
DAYS

INTEREST

18
6
13
22
45
50
49
86
13
34
67
69
78
10

24.66
1.64
14.25
12.05
12.33
95.89
26.85
23.56
1.78
9.32
18.36
18.90
64.11
2.74

and we had £26.4 million lent out or in call accounts at the end of the month.
In May we arranged lending as follows:

BORROWER
DMO
DMO
DMO
DMO
Nationwide
DMO

RATE
0.010
0.010
0.010
0.010
0.050
0.010

AMOUNT
1,000,000
2,000,000
1,000,000
2,000,000
1,000,000
1,500,000

START
DATE
17/05/2021
17/05/2021
18/05/2021
18/05/2021
19/05/2021
27/05/2021

END DATE
19/05/2021
24/05/2021
07/06/2021
21/06/2021
19/08/2021
02/07/2021

TOTAL
DAYS

INTEREST

2
7
20
34
92
36

0.55
3.84
5.48
18.63
126.03
14.79

and we had £22.4 million lent out or in call accounts at the end of the month.

11

In June we arranged lending as follows:

BORROWER
Coventry
Principality
DMO
DMO
DMO
DMO
DMO
DMO
Nationwide
DMO

RATE
0.020
0.070
0.010
0.015
0.020
0.020
0.010
0.010
0.050
0.010

START
DATE

AMOUNT
2,000,000
1,000,000
1,000,000
1,000,000
2,500,000
500,000
3,000,000
2,000,000
1,000,000
2,000,000

01/06/2021
01/06/2021
02/06/2021
08/06/2021
15/06/2021
15/06/2021
15/06/2021
15/06/2021
15/06/2021
22/06/2021

END DATE
06/08/2021
06/08/2021
06/08/2021
02/07/2021
02/07/2021
05/07/2021
19/07/2021
06/08/2021
13/09/2021
06/08/2021

TOTAL
DAYS

INTEREST

66
66
65
24
17
20
34
52
90
45

72.33
126.58
17.81
9.86
23.29
5.48
27.95
28.49
123.29
24.66

and we had £33.8 million lent out or in call accounts at the end of the month.
In July we arranged lending as follows:
DMO
DMO
DMO
DMO
DMO
DMO
DMO
DMO

0.010
0.010
0.010
0.010
0.010
0.010
0.010
0.010

1,000,000
1,000,000
1,000,000
1,500,000
4,500,000
1,500,000
1,000,000
1,000,000

01/07/2021
01/07/2021
01/07/2021
06/07/2021
15/07/2021
23/07/2021
26/07/2021
30/07/2021

23/07/2021
06/08/2021
23/08/2021
23/07/2021
04/01/2022
27/08/2021
14/09/2021
14/09/2021

22
36
53
17
173
35
50
46

6.03
9.86
14.52
6.99
213.29
14.38
13.70
12.60

and we had £31.3 million lent out or in call accounts at the end of the month.
In August we arranged lending as follows:
DMO
DMO
DMO
DMO
Coventry
Coventry
Principality
DMO
DMO
DMO

0.010
0.010
0.010
0.010
0.020
0.050
0.070
0.010
0.010
0.010

3,000,000
500,000
500,000
2,500,000
1,000,000
1,000,000
1,000,000
1,500,000
1,000,000
1,500,000

02/08/2021
03/08/2021
10/08/2021
13/08/2021
16/08/2021
16/08/2021
16/08/2021
16/08/2021
16/08/2021
27/08/2021

14/09/2021
14/09/2021
14/09/2021
14/09/2021
12/11/2021
11/02/2022
12/11/2021
20/09/2021
22/09/2021
20/10/2021

43
42
35
32
88
179
88
35
37
54

and we had £32.9 million lent out or in call accounts at the end of the month.

12

35.34
5.75
4.79
21.92
48.22
245.21
168.77
14.38
10.14
22.19

In September we arranged lending as follows:

DMO
Nationwide
DMO
DMO
DMO
DMO
DMO
DMO
DMO
DMO

0.010
0.070
0.010
0.010
0.010
0.010
0.010
0.010
0.010
0.010

4,000,000
1,000,000
2,000,000
1,500,000
1,500,000
3,500,000
1,000,000
1,000,000
3,500,000
1,500,000

01/09/2021
01/09/2021
15/09/2021
15/09/2021
15/09/2021
15/09/2021
22/09/2021
29/09/2021
01/10/2021
04/10/2021

09/02/2021
28/02/2022
29/09/2021
11/10/2021
19/10/2021
20/10/2021
27/09/2021
20/10/2021
20/10/2021
22/10/2021

161
180
14
26
34
35
5
21
19
18

176.44
345.21
7.67
10.68
13.97
33.56
1.37
5.75
18.22
7.40

and had £32.7 million lent out or in call accounts at the end of the month.


Municipal Mutual Insurance (MMI) provided insurance for the Council until
early 1993 when policies were transferred to Zurich Municipal. MMI
experienced financial difficulties in 1992 and a scheme of arrangement was
agreed by local authority creditors to facilitate the solvent run- off of the
company. The scheme has been triggered and we have to pay a percentage
of our potential liability of £341,000.
In 2013/14 a provision was made for the first levy notice of 15% or £51,000
which the administrator issued in April 2013 and was billed and paid early in
2014. A further reserve of 35% or £119,000 for likely claims in future years
was also set up. Together these allowed for a total 50% of the potential
liability as recommended by the broker. MMI’s accounts to 30 June 2015 were
published and we paid a second levy of 10% or £34,000 in April 2016.
We were not required to pay any more after publication of the accounts since
2016. We still have £85,000 in reserve for the potential remaining 25%.
Human resources, legal, democratic services, audit and procurement
Resources have been diverted to assist with distribution of business grants.
This additional support provided by internal audit will be back filled by Devon
Audit Partnership. £25,520 net of savings is required to be funded by new
burdens monies received as detailed in 8.9.

5.4

Economy & assets



Repairs and maintenance are on target to be within the revised budget of
£758,770, which takes account of £161,160 being used as a contribution
towards building fabric improvements associated with Forde House
decarbonisation works. Actual spend to the end of September is £245,260,
with 54% of the budget spent or committed.

13



Income from car parking is currently anticipated to be £350,000 higher than
the covid adjusted budget of £2.8 million at the end of September.



General rental income has reduced over the last 12 months. There is likely to
be a further reduction this year resulting in an adverse variance of £296,390 to
date. This will be covered from the Covid provision. Market income is forecast
to be in line with budget net of Covid provision. The total property income
budget is £2.8 million.



Business rates on empty property has created a budget pressure for the
current year. Rating on public conveniences have been reduced to zero. The
net impact is £184,000.
Capital



The capital programme is shown at appendix 2. It continues to include
significant provisions for investment in town centres and employment land.
This includes the Future High Street Fund projects, which will revitalise the
centre of Newton Abbot, creating a central, flexible mixed use space for
community, artistic and cultural activities, alongside a revitalised market, food
hall and Market Square. With the upgrades to Queen Street and the National
Cycle Network Route, as well as the building of a new state-of-the-art cinema,
the regeneration will help transform the town centre into a vibrant and
welcoming place to visit, boosting footfall and local spend and creating a
premier market destination for the wider area. Government funding of £9
million was confirmed in May 2021.



In 2019, Council resolved to progress plans to develop a hotel, including car
park re-provisioning as part of the town centre regeneration outlined in the
Newton Abbot master-plan. It also granted the necessary authority to
advance regeneration with the purchase of Sherborne House, which is
anticipated to provide accommodation for Health services. Both projects are
funded mainly from prudential borrowing.



Council of 29 July 2019 granted authority to enable progression of the
regeneration in the Brunswick Street area of Teignmouth town centre. This
project is funded mainly from prudential borrowing.



There is a £2 million provision for employment sites, funded from borrowing. It
is anticipated this will be spent on schemes on council owned land, either to
invest in new assets or to enhance and make best use of those already
available. This will encourage new and existing businesses to set up, move in
and stay in the area. The aim is to create better paid jobs and business
expansion for a more resilient local economy. Where people can both work
and spend leisure time locally, carbon emissions are also reduced. Individual
projects will come back to committee as appropriate as business cases are
developed

14



Council of 6 June 2016 resolved to commit funding to the Superfast
Broadband Connecting Devon and Somerset phase 2 programme. An
investment of £250,000 financed from capital receipts was confirmed and the
collaboration agreement signed. It is anticipated to be paid in 2022/23.

Capital - coastal & drainage


The South West Regional Coastal Monitoring Programme (SWRCMP)
completed its 3rd phase in 2020-21 and entered a new 6 year phase on 1
April 2021. This is 100% funded by grant from the Environment Agency – up
to £10.5 million over 6 years. The latest phase includes coastal asset data in
addition to topographic beach survey data, bathymetric data, LiDAR, aerial
photography and habitat mapping, providing a long term dataset showing
changes to the beaches and coastline of the South West. It ensures that all
Coastal Protection Authorities have the evidence to better understand the
processes affecting the coast ensuring that coastal defence schemes are
designed based on reliable information.

5.5

Environment



A waste savings sharing agreement exists with Devon County Council.
Additional savings which might arise can help to contribute towards the costs
of implementing and on-going costs of extra waste and recycling rounds and
improvements. This is anticipated to be £115,000 less than budgeted for
2021/22.



Fuel costs are currently likely to produce a saving of £10,000.



Income from recycling sales is up on the original budget by £200,000 – mainly
due to the price for cardboard and paper collected.



An unexpected repair to the baler has resulted in an adverse variance of
£22,000.



£40,000 additional costs are required for extra bin/box purchases as a result
of increased housing numbers, additional subscriptions to the green bin
service and unit costs of purchase.
Capital



On 4 May 2021, Council approved decarbonisation works at Forde House
offices. This includes £0.672 million grant funding secured under the Public
Sector Decarbonisation Scheme. The delivery of projects covered by grant
funding at Forde House is dependent on the Authority further investing in
building upgrade and renovation works to enable compatibility with low-carbon
technologies and to future-proof the site for flexible working. A further £2.4

15

million for these supporting works, funded from prudential borrowing and
capital receipts, was also approved. Works include upgrading heating and
ventilation systems, installing thermal fabric improvements and upgrading the
incoming electricity supply. The flexible working project seeks to optimise and
modernise staff provisions to support Council services, by redistributing desks
and freeing up ground floor space to enable the potential to rent out the space
and generate a new income stream.


The Authority also worked with a leisure energy specialist to develop a grant
application under the Public Sector Decarbonisation Scheme covering Newton
Abbot Leisure Centre, Broadmeadow Sports Centre and Teignmouth Lido.
The bid was successful, resulting in receipt of £2.3 million of grant funding to
replace existing gas-fired heating systems with low-carbon air source heat
pumps. Further provisions covered by the grant vary on a site-by-site basis
but broadly involve electricity system upgrades, air handling unit works, solar
photovoltaics and energy management system upgrades. A further budget
line has been added to allow the existing roof at Broadmeadow sports centre
to be replaced prior to the installation of solar photovoltaics. This additional
item is funded from developer contributions.

5.6

Housing



For a fourth consecutive year Teignbridge have successfully bid jointly with
South Hams and West Devon for the Rough Sleeper Initiative. The £249,346
grant will continue to fund staff and delivery specifically for rough sleepers,
from first contact through the pathway system to settled accommodation.



Teignbridge have also received £60,000 emergency accommodation support
towards costs incurred due to the Covid 19 pandemic and £32,264 new
burdens funding towards the statutory duty to support victims of domestic
abuse within safe accommodation.
Capital



The indicative anticipated 2021-22 Better Care government grant, received via
Devon County Council is £1.2 million, with a further £1 million carried over
from 2020-21. £0.58 million of this is budgeted towards supporting the Warm
Homes fund grant scheme, with the remainder towards statutory disabled
facilities and other discretionary grants, to meet anticipated increased
demand.



To date in 2021-22, £10,897 previously paid renovation grants have so far
been recovered.



The Council successfully bid for Warm Homes funding streams covering
provision of both air source heat pumps and first-time gas central heating to

16

residents. £212,000 is included for park home grants and £1.7m for Category
1 (Gas) and Category 2 (Air Source Heat Pumps).


In addition, £1.1 million was received from the Green Homes Fund and is
budgeted for grants towards energy efficiency measures.



A provision of £6.6 million over three years relates to the first half of the
Teignbridge 100 housing scheme for affordable and social housing. This work
has already commenced as the programme covers the previously approved
capital schemes. Two homes at Drake Road, Newton Abbot have now been
completed with construction of a further 5 units also underway at Carlisle St
(East St), Newton Abbot. The pipeline covers a range accommodation types,
the intention being to deliver a rented programme across urban and rural
locations on Teignbridge land.
Figures and timing are currently indicative only and represent the initial
estimate for the first 50% of the Teignbridge 100 projects less the amounts
relating to previously approved projects. Funding is assumed to be a
combination of Homes England grant, capital receipts (including right to buy
receipts estimated at £0.6 million per annum until payments cease in 2024)
section 106 for affordable housing and borrowing. Discussions continue with
housing providers over the method of delivery and pipeline projects will be
brought forward for approval in due course.
A successful bid has been made under the Rough Sleeping Accommodation
Programme for £337k of grant funding towards the provision of
accommodation.



A shared equity scheme funded from £0.7 million of external planning
contributions as approved at Full Council in November 2019 is also included.

5.7

Leisure / Green spaces



Leisure has experienced significant loss of income due to various lockdowns
in 2020/21. The single biggest income stream is memberships which have
been deferred whilst lockdowns have occurred. Leisure commenced reopening on 12 April 2021 with restrictions. Exercise classes were unable to
resume until 17 May 2021. Actual income is down on the base budget
(adjusted for the Covid provision) for 2021/22 with a loss of £83,440 at the
end of September (after offset of furlough) – mainly due to memberships and
being unable to reopen until 12 April.



The losses to the end of September are partly recoverable from the
Governments sales, fees and charges compensation scheme (which ended
on 30 June) leaving a net loss of £52,250. These losses are more than
covered by salary savings which have been incorporated in the vacancy
management savings reported below in 5.12.

17



We currently have £8.6 million available in S106 receipts. These are over
many services and parishes but the majority is for leisure including open
spaces, sports provision and play facilities.

Capital
The improvements to Bakers Park are approaching practical completion,
having delivered a new pavilion together with improved car parking, footpath
and tennis court refurbishment.
Decoy play area has also recently reopened following improvements of the
wet and dry play zones.
Newton Abbot Leisure Centre, Broadmeadow Sports Centre and Teignmouth
Lido will benefit from the £2.3 million decarbonisation project and the
Broadmeadow Sports Centre roof replacement outlined in 4.3.
5.8

Licensing
Licensing income looks to be on target to achieve the budget of £214,680.

5.9

Revenue & benefits plus customer services



Covid 19 has created significant pressure on revenue and benefits in
distributing the business grant support monies to various businesses and
increased workload from council tax support. Government have provided
support and a new burdens grant was received this year of £228,800.



Income from liability orders for council and business rates is anticipated to be
£61,500 less than the predicted budget.

5.10

Spatial planning
We received the first payments of community infrastructure levy (CIL) in
2015/16. The money is being coded by town/parish and any payments due to
them are made half-yearly. Teignbridge has recognised £17.5 million of
usable CIL to date after payments due to parishes (£1.8 million paid to the
end of 2020-21). £6.8 million has been spent on infrastructure, with the
remainder committed to existing approved projects including provisions for
local transport, education and sports. £0.1 million has been allocated towards
administration costs since inception. As CIL may be paid in instalments, the
actual cash balance after parish payments and expenditure is £2.3 million.



Teignbridge has been successful in bidding for £150,000 of capacity funding
to support the delivery of Newton Abbot as a garden town from the Garden
Communities Programme. The Programme is to transform local communities
focused on sustainability and supported by the right infrastructure.

18

Capital


At Council on 25 September 2017, the acquisition of approximately 38
hectares of land at South West Exeter for the creation of SANGS was
approved. This is occurring in phases, with instatement works taking place in
line with the acquisition phasing. It is intended that future management of this
site will pass to the Land Trust following instatement, together with Dawlish
Countryside Park.

5.11

General revenue



Council tax support cost has increased and was just under £10.6 million at the
end of September which is £77,000 above the original estimate of £10.5
million. Council tax support falls directly to Teignbridge including parishes
(12.5% together), county, fire and police and is being monitored monthly.



Our business rateable value (RV) has increased and stands at just over £86.3
million. The number of assessed businesses has increased from 5,521 to
5,585. These are the end of September 2021 figures as compared to the
beginning of the current year. We still seem to be on target to achieve the total
budget of £4.7 million business rates retention income for the year.

5.12

General savings progress



Strata Service Solutions Ltd - the current year budget included a savings
target of £164,230 which it is anticipated will be achieved.



Salary vacancy savings at the end of September look to be in excess of the
required budget target of £275,000. An additional saving of £375,000 has
been provided. There are no other material variances on other salary costs at
the end of September. There is an improved pay offer of 1.75% generally with
2.75% for the lowest grade in relation to the pay award for 2021/22. We
estimated this would be 1.5% at budget time in February. This will create a
budget pressure of approximately £62,900 if it was approved by the Union
representatives. The offer has been rejected and if a further increase is
offered and agreed there would be an additional pressure on the revenue
budget.



Utility costs for gas, electricity and water are in line with existing budgets as at
the end of September.



The Better 2022 review of service business plans is in progress and any
identified savings will be fed into the annual budget process . Any further quick
wins will feed into Appendix 1.

19

5.13

Future years



Council tax has been closed down and balanced for 2020/21 and the deficit
declared will be shared with county, fire and police in 2022/23. An earmarked
reserve is held to cover these fluctuations where deficits arise.



The number of dwellings in Teignbridge on the valuation list is monitored
monthly and the data feeds into the new homes bonus (NHB) calculation if
NHB is retained next year and not replaced with an alternative form of
funding. At the end of September there were 63,758 dwellings which is 514
more towards any potential NHB payment for 2022/23. We will need to wait
until the next provisional settlement announcement to be clear on the overall
budget impact of loss of NHB and any replacement or perhaps further
modification of the existing scheme for a further year.



Business rates baseline funding was due to be reset in 2020/21. This has
been delayed by 12 months at each spending review and is now supposed to
be introduced in 2022/23. It is still not clear whether this will take place next
year. When the reset takes place it is considered likely that we will lose the
majority of the business rate growth retention income we have received in
recent years as a result of this reset. These losses will be significant for future
budget setting and financial planning. We hold funds within the business
rates/funding reserve to help cushion the impact of any initial losses of income
as a result of the baseline reset. Any update from the spending review on 27
October will be reported verbally.



The overall impacts of the Brexit outcomes between the UK and the EU is still
difficult to determine and have been overshadowed by the events from the
Covid 19 pandemic. Therefore drawing any conclusions about its impact for
local government is not possible at this stage. We will continue to monitor any
information we receive in relation to this as part of our risk and financial
management.

6.

RISKS
The major risks to be aware of are around future funding and the adequacy of
reserves going forward as further action may be required to address the
impacts of the Covid 19 pandemic. General reserves are maintained at a
value higher than originally budgeted and earmarked reserves have been
increased to help deal with future forecast funding changes and on going
reductions in income. Further clarity is required on the level of Government
support for both this year and next. These risks may impact on the
performance of treasury management and borrowing levels moving forward.
Preparation and approval of the accounts are required by the Accounts and
Audit Regulations 2015 and if these regulations are not adhered to the
auditors could qualify the accounts.

20

7.

MAIN IMPLICATIONS
The implications members need to be aware of are as follows:

7.1

Legal
The Financial Accounts for 2020/21 need to be produced and audited in
accordance with the Accounts & Audit Regulations 2015.
The Council is required to secure a balanced budget and also to provide
certain services. Regular financial monitoring by the Executive helps ensure
that the Council is able to meet these statutory obligations.
Monitoring and reporting of the treasury management results is required by
the CIPFA Treasury Management Code.

7.2

Resources
The report notes that general reserves have been maintained at a level
slightly higher than originally budgeted at 31 March 2021. The report notes an
overall favourable variance of £736,400 identified this year to the end of
September. Cash flow is forecast to be positive for the next twelve months
apart from any borrowing for significant new projects. Revenue reserves are
considered to be sufficient to sustain the council for the current financial year
however the February 2021 budget identified a budget gap next year of £1.2
million and £2.6 million for 2022/23. Service reviews are exploring further
savings that can be made this year and in the future. Consideration will need
to be made of any future developments regarding funding changes from
business rates retention and changes to New Homes Bonus. Capital is funded
over the medium term.

8.

GROUPS CONSULTED
The draft accounts were advertised as available for inspection and are
available on the website. The external auditors have been auditing the
financial records and accounts during August, September and October.

9.

ENVIRONMENTAL/CLIMATE CHANGE IMPACT
The revenue budget supports the appointment of a climate change officer and
associated budget. The capital programme identifies projects which have an
impact on climate change denoted with a green leaf in appendix 2.

21

10.

DATE OF IMPLEMENTATION (CONFIRMATION OF DECISION SUBJECT
TO CALL-IN)
10.00 a.m. on 9 November 2021

22

Appendix 1

Description
UPDATED BUDGET 22.2.21

Forecast
Forecast
Forecast
2021/22
2022/23
2023/24
15,294,980 15,229,330 17,123,440
6,000
75,500
10,000
-68,280
-35,000
25,520
-43,990
-228,800
61,500
0
0
184,000
-350,000
-10,000
115,000
-200,000
22,000
40,000
52,250
0
-375,000
62,900
0
0
-80,000

6,000
75,500
0
-68,280
-22,400
0
0
0
61,500
0
0
-26,000
-350,000
-10,000
115,000
-200,000
0

6,000
75,500
0
-68,280
-18,800
0
0
0
61,500
0
0
-36,000
-350,000
-10,000
115,000
-200,000
0

0
0
-150,000
64,000
0
0
0

0
0
-150,000
65,120
0
0
0

ESTIMATED -SURPLUS/SHORTFALL

-736,400

-504,680

-509,960

23

Major budget variations :
Development management pre-planning application charging
- decrease in planning income
Planning appeal costs
Building control pension costs allocation to general reserves
Land charges increased income at end of September
Audit resources
Finance- net finance investment extra income projected at end of September
New burdens funding
Council tax/business rates - liability income projection at end of September
Economy & assets - general rental income shortfall in income forecast at end of September net of provision
- markets shortfall in income forecast at end of September
- Business rates adjustments - vacant properties / public conveniences
Increase in car parking income at end of September
Environmental - fuel saving in costs
- waste savings sharing agreement with county from 1 April 2017 - reduced income
- other income variations - recycling/sales
- Baler repair costs
- additional waste bin/box purchases
Leisure - reduction in memberships/swimming/general income - end of September
Strata savings from 1 April 2021 compared to budget
Estimated salary vacancy savings/pressures
Salaries - pay award increase above budget
Agreed Better 2022 savings
Council tax surplus 2020/21 Teignbridge share for 2022/23
Use previous year extra reserves to reduce shortfall/increase surplus

G:\Legal and Administrative Services\Legal & Admin Data\Committee Administration\Committee Data\Draft Reports from March 2018\Executive\2021\2 Nov
2021\Report Executive 2.11.21 appendix 1 revenue budget variations

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 2

TEIGNBRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL
CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2020-21 TO 2023-24
32,632
Code /bid no.

Asset/Service Area

Description

Provision?

C/f ?

√

17,182

6,247

38,477

50,164

32,181

13,811

ORIGINAL

LATEST

ACTUAL

ORIGINAL

LATEST

LATEST

LATEST

BUDGET

BUDGET

ACTUAL

BUDGET

BUDGET

BUDGET

BUDGET

2020-21
£'000

2020-21
£'000
(Inc Fees)

2020-21
£'000
(Inc Fees)

2021-22
£'000
(Inc Fees)

2021-22
£'000
(Inc Fees)

2022-23
£'000
(Inc Fees)

2023-24
£'000
(Inc Fees)

402

718

552

KG1

Bakers Park

Bakers Park development (S106)

KL1

Broadband

Contribution to Superfast Broadband subject
to procurement arrangements (RS) (2022/23)
subject to satisfactory assurances of funds
being spent within Teignbridge area.

Provision

Broadmeadow Sports Centre

Provision for Broadmeadow Sports Centre
Improvement Plan (S106/BC).

KF1

Broadmeadow Sports Centre

Replacement roof (S106,CIL)

KY3

Broadmeadow Sports Centre

KM4

Car parks

Replacement of pay on foot with pay and
display machines (CR)

√

70

KM6

Car parks

Machines for new sites and replacement
machines where required. (CR)

√

34

KJ8

Chudleigh

Pump track (S106)

√

Provision

Churchyards

Provision for Churchyards (CR)

√

KY5

Climate Change

CC

Carbon reduction projects (CR)

Provision

Climate Change

CC

Provision for heating and fabric
improvements at Forde House (PB)

KY6

Climate Change

Forde House Decarbonisation and Flexible
Working Arrangements (GG,CR,PB,RS)

Provision

Climate Change

Provision for Solar PV (PB)

√

Provision

Climate Change

Provision for Carbon Action Plan (PB)

√

KY7

Climate Change

KR3

Coastal Monitoring

SW Regional Coastal Monitoring Programme.
(GG,EC)

√

KR1

Coastal Monitoring

SW Regional Coastal Monitoring Programme.
(GG,EC)

√

KR5

Coastal Monitoring

Coastal asset review: project management
support (GG)

√

77

38

39

9. Strong communities

KR6

Coastal Monitoring

Coastal asset review (GG)

√

210

-

210

9. Strong communities

KG8

Cycle paths

CC

Teign Estuary Trail (CIL)

√

100

7. Moving up a gear

Provision

Cycle paths

CC

Provision for Other cycling (CIL)

√

280

280

280

170

250 7. Moving up a gear

Provision

Cycle paths

CC

Dawlish/Teignmouth Cycle Schemes (CIL)

√

65

205

205

200

7. Moving up a gear

Provision

Cycle paths

CC

Heart of Teignbridge Cycle Provision (CIL)

√

90

90

90

KX7

Dawlish

Dawlish link road and bridge (GG)

Provision

Dawlish Leisure Centre

Provision for Dawlish Leisure Centre
Improvement Plan (S106,BC).

KB6

Dawlish Warren

Dawlish Warren Boardwalk (S106)

CC

CC

185

Council Strategy

8. Out and about and active

250

1,765

√

1,675

20

Hot water boiler replacement (RS)

√

√

√

17

8. Out and about and active

668

8. Out and about and active

-

8. Out and about and active

3. Going to town

10

3. Going to town

76

76

8. Out and about and active

43

43

4. Great places to live & work

132

232

232

10. Action on climate

340

-

-

10. Action on climate

3,025

10. Action on climate

75

75

10. Action on climate

310

-

3,000

2,203

27

815

124

Leisure Site Measures (GG)

√

1,675

63

15

√

6. Investing in prosperity

724

1,532

9. Strong communities

100

1,607

-

-

3,344

3,344

-

-

1,321

1,321

107

107

97

826 10. Action on climate

10. Action on climate

1,091

1,126

100

826

-

1,998

1,880 9. Strong communities

7. Moving up a gear

1,433

7. Moving up a gear

8. Out and about and active

4. Great places to live & work

25
]

Appendix 2

TEIGNBRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL
CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2020-21 TO 2023-24
32,632
Code /bid no.

Asset/Service Area

Description

Provision?

C/f ?

17,182

13,811

LATEST

ACTUAL

ORIGINAL

LATEST

LATEST

LATEST

ACTUAL

BUDGET

BUDGET

BUDGET

BUDGET

2020-21
£'000

2020-21
£'000
(Inc Fees)

2020-21
£'000
(Inc Fees)

2021-22
£'000
(Inc Fees)

2021-22
£'000
(Inc Fees)

2022-23
£'000
(Inc Fees)

2023-24
£'000
(Inc Fees)

177

-

Heart of Teignbridge:
Employment

Provision for Heart of Teignbridge
√
Employment Sites (BC: Prudential Borrowing)

425

Provision

Heart of Teignbridge:
Employment

Provision for employment sites (BC:
Prudential Borrowing)

KL2

Heart of Teignbridge:
Employment

Newton Abbot employment land feasibility
(BC: Prudential Borrowing)

KX8

Heart of Teignbridge

A382 Improvements (CIL) (£5.1 m by 202223)

KW2

Heart of Teignbridge

Houghton Barton Link Rd (Prudential
temporary internal Borrowing)

√

810

KW8

Heart of Teignbridge

Houghton Barton land (EC)

√

146

KW4

Heart of Teignbridge

Mineral Rights

JW/JV

Housing

Discretionary - Disrepair Loans & Grants
(CR)

JW/JV

Housing

Better Care-funded grants re: Housing loans
and grants policy, including Disabled
Facilities (GG)

JV7

Housing

JV3

Housing

JV2

Housing

Green Homes Fund (GG)

JY3

Housing

Broadhempston Community Land Trust
(CR,RS)

JY3

Housing

Exception site Starcross (CR)

JY3

Housing

Teign Housing: Widecombe in the Moor (GG)

JY3

Housing

CC

Additional Social Housing in Newton Abbot
(East St) (CR, RS,GG, BC: Prudential
Borrowing,S106)

√

890

909

JY3

Housing

CC

Additional Social Housing in Newton Abbot
(Drake Road) (CR,RS,GG,BC: Prudential
Borrowing,S106)

√

509

JY3

Housing

Longstone Cross Ashburton (CR)

JY3

Housing

Aller Road Kingsteignton (CR)

JY8

Housing

Shared Equity Scheme (S106)

Provision

Housing

Provision for Shared Equity Scheme (CR)

JY3

Housing

Affordable Housing unallocated (CR)

JY5

Housing

Additional plots Haldon (S106,CR)

Provision

Housing

Teignbridge 100: Social/Affordable housing
(GG; CR; PB; S106)

√

Provision

Habitat Regulations

Provision for Habitat Regulations
infrastructure measures (CIL)

√

KV3

IT - provision for Mobile
Working

KV4

IT - Customer Services

Customer Portal (CR)

KV6

IT 17-18 Strata projects

Grounds, Street, Public Realm (CR)

√

16

KV6

IT 17-18 Strata projects

Environmental Health: Idox (CR)

√

13

KW3

IT - Corporate

Idox update (CR)

KV7

IT - Planning

Planning system improvements (CR)

CC

32,181

BUDGET

Energy Company (CIL)

CC

50,164

BUDGET

Energy Company

-

2,000

√

38,477

ORIGINAL

-

CC

6,247

√

2,000

17

1,000

√

-

9. Strong communities

-

6. Investing in prosperity

500

1,500

17

1,000

1,500

1,500

440

1,250

84

Council Strategy

6. Investing in prosperity

6. Investing in prosperity

2,600

7. Moving up a gear

7. Moving up a gear

62

4. Great places to live & work

85

4. Great places to live & work

24

24

10

24

24

50

50 1. A roof over our heads

√

1,030

1,562

1,111

1,000

1,640

1,000

1,000 1. A roof over our heads

Warm Homes Fund (Park Homes) (GG)

√

234

43

-

383

212

1. A roof over our heads

Warm Homes Fund (Category 1 Gas and
Category 2 Air Source Heat Pumps) (GG)

√

1,655

166

-

1,490

1,656

1. A roof over our heads

1,148

1. A roof over our heads

3

1. A roof over our heads

Mobile Working (CR)

√

5

65

3

-

-

-

1. A roof over our heads

-

65

95

1. A roof over our heads

155

761

1. A roof over our heads

517

227

282

1. A roof over our heads

√

100

-

-

1. A roof over our heads

√

20

-

20

1. A roof over our heads

667

668

-

668

1. A roof over our heads

158

158

-

158

1. A roof over our heads

200

-

-

-

1. A roof over our heads

4

8

-

1. A roof over our heads

√
√

√

179

√

84

√

179

86

80

32

33

-

14

18

-

2,197

2,197

2,197

70

249

88

34

34

6

18

2,197 1. A roof over our heads

88 4. Great places to live & work

10. Vital, Viable Council

6

10. Vital, Viable Council

16

10. Vital, Viable Council

13

10. Vital, Viable Council

-

10. Vital, Viable Council

36

10. Vital, Viable Council

26
]

Appendix 2

TEIGNBRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL
CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2020-21 TO 2023-24
32,632
Code /bid no.

KV8

Asset/Service Area

Description

IT - Capital contribution

Provision?

C/f ?

6,247

38,477

50,164

32,181

13,811

ORIGINAL

LATEST

ACTUAL

ORIGINAL

LATEST

LATEST

LATEST

BUDGET

BUDGET

ACTUAL

BUDGET

BUDGET

BUDGET

BUDGET

2020-21
£'000

2020-21
£'000
(Inc Fees)

2020-21
£'000
(Inc Fees)

2021-22
£'000
(Inc Fees)

2021-22
£'000
(Inc Fees)

2022-23
£'000
(Inc Fees)

2023-24
£'000
(Inc Fees)

41

41

41

41

Council Strategy

41

41

√

137

137

10. Vital, Viable Council

√

27

27

10. Vital, Viable Council

√

41

41

10. Vital, Viable Council

-

10. Vital, Viable Council

Ongoing contributions towards Strata (CR)

Provision

IT - Capital contribution

SAN replacement (CR)

Provision

IT - Capital contribution

Data Centre Relocation (CR)

Provision

IT - Capital contribution

NCSC Zero Trust (CR)

KX6

IT - Legal Services

Legal Case Management (CR)

KV1

IT - Finance

Adelante upgrade (CR)

Provision

IT - Finance

Provision for Finance Convergence (CR)

KV6

IT - Finance/HR

Winnix replacement (CR)

Provision

IT - Property and Assets

Provision for Street Cleansing, Grounds
Maintenance and Asset Management (CR)

√

Provision

IT - Property and Assets

SaM improvements (CR)

√

KV5

IT - Corporate: Strata
Business Plan 2020-21

Windows 10/ infrastructure resilience
measures (CR)

KV2

IT - Revenue & Benefits

Civica upgrade (CR)

KB3

Kingskerswell

KG2

Leisure

KX9

Marsh Barton

KG4

√

11
16

√

100

-

13

13

16

167

103

167

41 10. Vital, Viable Council

10. Vital, Viable Council

100

10. Vital, Viable Council

-

10. Vital, Viable Council

-

-

10. Vital, Viable Council

25

25

10. Vital, Viable Council

47

45

-

10. Vital, Viable Council

41

35

6

10. Vital, Viable Council

Purchase of land for open space (S106)

17

17

-

4. Great places to live & work

Playing Pitch Improvement Plan (S106)

23

13

-

8. Out and about and active

√

Marsh Barton Station (CIL)

√

Newton Abbot

3G artifical playing pitch, Coach Road,
Newton Abbot (CR)

√

KW7

Newton Abbot

Drake Road Garages Refurbishment (CR)

Provision

Newton Abbot Leisure Centre

Provision for Newton Abbot Leisure Centre
Improvement Plan (S106;CR)

KF5

Newton Abbot Leisure Centre

Newton Abbot Leisure Centre Gym
Equipment (CR,S106)

Provision

Newton Abbot Town Centre
Regeneration

Provision for Newton Abbot Town Centre
Improvements (GG)

KX1

Newton Abbot Town Centre
Regeneration

Halcyon Rd (BC:Prudential Borrowing)

KL9

Newton Abbot Town Centre
Regeneration

Cattle Market Enabling Works (CR)

KL7

Newton Abbot Town Centre
Regeneration

Bradley Lane Enabling Works (CR)

√

KW9

Newton Abbot Town Centre
Regeneration

Cinema (CR)

√

KX2

Newton Abbot Town Centre
Regeneration

Sherborne House: town centre
regeneration/Social Housing (BC: Prudential
Borrowing)

√

KO3

Newton Abbot Town Centre

Future High Street Fund project: Market
Improvements (GG, BC: Prudential
Borrowing)

KO2

Newton Abbot Town Centre

CC

Future High Street Fund project: Gateway to
the Town Centre and Queen Street (GG, CIL,
EC)

KO1

Newton Abbot Town Centre

CC

KO4

CC

17,182

1,300

1,300

120

1,300

86

7. Moving up a gear

34

8. Out and about and active

26

10. Vital, Viable Council

350

350

40

136

400

400

3,000

3,389

200

200

3. Going to town

32

32

3. Going to town

18

18

3. Going to town

2,400

2,545

3. Going to town

2,043

351

335

2,298 3. Going to town

55

437

453 3. Going to town

Future High Street Fund project: National
Cycle Network Improvements (GG, CIL)

135

-

- 3. Going to town

Newton Abbot Town Centre

Future High Street Fund project: Cinema
development (GG, BC: Prudential Borrowing)

804

5,429

- 3. Going to town

KW5

Open Spaces

Cirl bunting land (S106)

146

146

KB5

Open Spaces

Rangers' tractor (RS,EC)

Provision

Play area equipment/refurb

Provision for Dawlish play space flagship
provision (S106)

Play area equipment/refurb

Provision for Powderham Newton Abbot play
√
space equipment (S106)

Provision

√

√

56

400

√

√

3,381

√

585

2,282

309

4,087

230

250

√

96

75

30

154

82

164

154

146

75

30

8. Out and about and active

40

40 8. Out and about and active

3. Going to town

3,000

3. Going to town

146 4. Great places to live & work

22

8. Out and about and active

75

8. Out and about and active

30

8. Out and about and active

27
]

Appendix 2

TEIGNBRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL
CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2020-21 TO 2023-24
32,632
Code /bid no.

Asset/Service Area

Description

Provision?

C/f ?

√

17,182

6,247

38,477

50,164

32,181

13,811

ORIGINAL

LATEST

ACTUAL

ORIGINAL

LATEST

LATEST

LATEST

BUDGET

BUDGET

ACTUAL

BUDGET

BUDGET

BUDGET

BUDGET

2020-21
£'000

2020-21
£'000
(Inc Fees)

2020-21
£'000
(Inc Fees)

2021-22
£'000
(Inc Fees)

2021-22
£'000
(Inc Fees)

2022-23
£'000
(Inc Fees)

2023-24
£'000
(Inc Fees)

Provision

Play area equipment/refurb

Provision for Newton Abbot Play Area (S106) √

KJ2

Play area equipment/refurb

Ogwell Play Area (S106)

KJ4

Play area equipment/refurb

Decoy refurb (S106/CIL)

Provision

Play area equipment/refurb

Provision for Den, Teignmouth play area
overhaul (S106/CIL)

KJ3

Play area equipment/refurb

Higher Woodway, Teignmouth play area
refurb (S106)

Provision

Play area equipment/refurb

Provision for Meadow Centre Teignmouth
play area major refurb (S106)

Provision

Play area equipment/refurb

Provision for Palace Meadow, Chudleigh play
√
space overhaul (S106)

KJ6

Play area equipment/refurb

Furlong Close, Buckfastleigh (CR)

Provision

Play area equipment/refurb

Provision for Teignbridge-funded play area
refurb/equipment (CR)

KB1

SANGS/Open Spaces

SANGS land purchase (GG)

√

KB1

SANGS/Open Spaces

SANGS instatement (GG)

√

KB1

SANGS/Open Spaces

SANGS endowment (GG)

KB7

SANGS/Open Spaces

SANGS endowment (CIL,S106,Habitat
Regulations planning obligations)

Provision

South West Exeter

Provision for South West Exeter Transport
(2024-29) (CIL)

KW6

South West Exeter

SW Exeter Education (CIL)

KY1

South West Exeter

Provision

Sport & Leisure

Provision for Sports Provision (CIL)

√

664

-

Sport & Leisure

Provision for Outdoor sport facility to serve
Newton Abbot area (S106)

√

230

Provision

Teignbridge

Provision for Education (CIL)

√

-

Teignmouth Lido

Provision for Teignmouth Lido boiler
replacement (CR)

√

KX3

Teignmouth Town Centre

Teignmouth Town Centre Regeneration
(includes feasibility budget) (BC: Prudential
Borrowing)

Provision

Teignmouth

Provision for Teignmouth open space (S106) √

KR1

Teignmouth

Beach Management Plan (GG)

KR2

Teignmouth

Eastcliff flood remediation feasibility (CR)

Provision

Waste Management

Provision for Bulking Station - replace
telehandlers 2024-29 (RS)

Provision

Waste Management

Provision for Bulking Station - replace Sortline
√
(CR)

175

2. Clean scene

Provision

Waste Management

Provision for additional Waste vehicles (PB) √

200

2. Clean scene

Provision

Waste Management

8,200

2. Clean scene

114 2. Clean scene

CC

CC

√

Waste Management

Purchase of Wheeled Bins (CR;RS)

8. Out and about and active

300

8. Out and about and active

200

8. Out and about and active

-

8. Out and about and active

30

30

8. Out and about and active

15

15

8. Out and about and active

28

8. Out and about and active

8. Out and about and active

300

30

15

√

15

√
√

28

28

86

-

68

√

86

86

30

611

596

4. Great places to live & work

108

95

194

405 4. Great places to live & work

1,602

1,602

1,073 4. Great places to live & work

1,315

4. Great places to live & work

1,315

-

√

-

3,000

3,531

1,000

1,950 4. Great places to live & work

9. Strong communities

8. Out and about and active

-

8. Out and about and active

350

650

1,000 4. Great places to live & work

-

2,240

583

8. Out and about and active

4,784

6,441

50

50

38

115

9. Strong communities

3

-

9. Strong communities

-

-

2. Clean scene

77

50

7. Moving up a gear

-

100

√

√

50

350

√

√

Waste Management

8. Out and about and active

26

200

30

√

KS0

300

74
33

√

Provision for Waste vehicles (PB)

Provision

74
33

District Heating (CIL)

Provision for replacement card baler (2026)
(CR)

74

Council Strategy

6. Investing in prosperity

4. Great places to live & work

2. Clean scene

104

124

139

107

167

110

32,632

17,182

6,247

38,477

50,164

32,181

13,811

28
]

Appendix 2

TEIGNBRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL
CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2020-21 TO 2023-24
32,632
Code /bid no.

Asset/Service Area

Description

Provision?

C/f ?

17,182

6,247

38,477

50,164

32,181

13,811

ORIGINAL

LATEST

ACTUAL

ORIGINAL

LATEST

LATEST

LATEST

BUDGET

BUDGET

ACTUAL

BUDGET

BUDGET

BUDGET

BUDGET

2020-21
£'000

2020-21
£'000
(Inc Fees)

2020-21
£'000
(Inc Fees)

2021-22
£'000
(Inc Fees)

2021-22
£'000
(Inc Fees)

2022-23
£'000
(Inc Fees)

2023-24
£'000
(Inc Fees)

(2,872)

(3,391)

(871)

(440)

Council Strategy

FUNDING
GENERAL
Revenue contributions to reserve towards
future expenditure

(44)

Revenue contributions applied to existing
expenditure

(252)

Capital Receipts Unapplied - Brought forward

(3,290)

(3,519)

(3,519)

Capital Receipts - Anticipated

(1,700)

(362)

(362)

-

(205)

-

-

(271)

(94)

(85)

-

(71)

-

-

Budgeted Revenue Contribution plus
additional for specific schemes

(26)

Use of Revenue Contributions Reserve
Government Grants
S106
Other External Contributions
Community Infrastructure Levy
Internal Borrowing

(25)

(250)

(2,507)
(1,413)
(803)
(6,115)
(235)

(2,193)
(1,683)
(892)
(3,216)
-

-

(1,457)
(1,168)
(18)
(849)
(666)

-

(11,714)
(758)
(2,740)
-

-

(12,304)
(1,802)
(778)
(5,310)
-

(8,436)
(186)
(163)
(4,749)
-

-

3,776

2,872

3,391

1,269

871

440

245

(13,614)

(3,619)

-

(16,003)

(17,886)

(14,719)

(826)

(6,109)
(146)
(3,288)
-

596

Capital receipts to fund CFR
Capital Receipts Unapplied - Carried forward
Business cases: Prudential borrowing
HOUSING
(2,235)

(2,325)

(2,325)

(1,772)

(3,035)

(1,447)

(1,716)

Capital Receipts - Anticipated

(50)

(50)

(13)

(50)

(11)

(50)

(171)

Capital Receipts - Right to Buy

(700)

(450)

(795)

(600)

(600)

(600)

(3,374)

(2,500)

(1,363)

(2,752)

(5,298)

(1,330)

(667)

(672)

(8)

-

-

-

Capital Receipts Unapplied - Brought forward

Better Care Funding and other government
grants.
S106

-

Other External Contributions

(801)

Internal or Prudential Borrowing
Budgeted Revenue Contribution plus
additional for specific schemes.

-

(34)

Use of Revenue Contributions Reserve

Capital Receipts Unapplied - Carried forward

TOTAL FUNDING

(203)

(1,916)

-

(48)

-

(667)

-

(1,695)

(1,330)
-

(1,536)

(1,536)

-

(45)

1,427

1,772

3,035

1,431

1,447

1,716

1,506

(32,632)

(17,182)

(6,247)

(38,477)

(50,164)

(32,181)

(13,811)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Programme Funding
Budgeted and additional Revenue
Contribution

(271)

(94)

(85)

-

(71)

Revenue Contributions earmarked
reserve.

(60)

(48)

(45)

-

(25)

(250)

(2,772)
(2,080)
(803)
(5,881)
(6,115)
(235)

(2,062)
(2,355)
(892)
(4,693)
(3,216)
-

(588)
(1,176)
(18)
(2,820)
(849)
(666)

(2,594)
(758)
(14,466)
(2,740)
-

(4,328)
(2,469)
(778)
(17,602)
(5,310)
-

(812)
(186)
(163)
(9,766)
(4,749)
-

Capital Receipts
Section 106
Other External Contribution
Grant
Community Infrastructure Levy
Internal borrowing

(8,310)
(3,559)
(941)
(49,273)
(16,087)
(56,117)

Business cases: Prudential borrowing

(14,415)

(3,822)

(17,919)

(19,581)

(16,255)

(2,362)

Total

(32,632)

(17,182)

(6,247)

(38,477)

(50,164)

(32,181)

(13,811)

(5,203)

(4,649)

(6,427)

(2,700)

(2,919)

(2,155)

(1,750)

Balance of capital receipts
Key:

-

(576)
(146)
(7,439)
(3,288)
-

EC - External Contributions
GG - Government Grant
CR - Capital Receipt
RS - Revenue Savings
BC - Business Case
PB - Prudential Borrowing
C - project complete. Where this relates to payment of a contribution, indicates contribution has been paid.
* - Provisional scheme, pending full approval
Climate Change project

Bold

Denotes a change in the programme

29
]

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 3
TEIGNBRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL TREASURY MANAGEMENT:
AUTHORISED LENDING LIST FROM 24 AUGUST 2021
Lending list
The current authorised lending list has been updated to take account of changes in
ratings and banks and is shown below for approval.
Specified Investments
Type of Lender
Details
1. Current Banker
Lloyds Bank
£3,000,000 limit
2. Local Authorities
All
No limit
3. UK Debt Management Office Deposit Facility (UK government AA-/Aa3/AA
rated) no limit.
4. UK Treasury Bills (UK government AA-/Aa3/AA rated) no limit.
5. Money market funds, subject to maintenance of AAAmf rating.
CCLA Public Sector Deposit Fund
AAAmmf
£3,000,000 limit
Aberdeen Liquidity Fund
AAAmmf
£3,000,000 limit
Blackrock Liquidity Fund
AAAmmf
£3,000,000 limit
LGIM Liquidity Fund
AAAmmf
£3,000,000 limit
Morgan Stanley Liquidity Fund
AAAmmf
£3,000,000 limit
7. Top UK-registered Banks and Building Societies, subject to satisfactory
ratings. Updated below to reflect information provided by treasury advisors.
8. Non-specified: CCLA Property and Diversified Income Funds - £2,000,000
limit
90 day
limit
£

180 day
limit
£

1

3,000,000

2,000,000

1,000,000 3,000,000

1
1

3,000,000
3,000,000

2,000,000
2,000,000

1,000,000 3,000,000
1,000,000 3,000,000

1

3,000,000

2,000,000

1,000,000 3,000,000

1
1
1

3,000,000
3,000,000
3,000,000

2,000,000
2,000,000
2,000,000

1,000,000 3,000,000
1,000,000 3,000,000
1,000,000 3,000,000

1

3,000,000

2,000,000

1,000,000 3,000,000

Close Brothers Ltd
Coventry Building Society
Nationwide Building Society
Skipton Building Society
Standard Chartered Bank

2
2
2
2
2

2,000,000
2,000,000
2,000,000
2,000,000
2,000,000

1,000,000
1,000,000
1,000,000
1,000,000
1,000,000

2,000,000
2,000,000
2,000,000
2,000,000
2,000,000

Clydesdale Bank
Leeds Building Society
Principality Building Society
Virgin Money
Yorkshire Building Society

3
3
3
3
3

1,000,000
1,000,000
1,000,000
1,000,000
31
1,000,000

Institution
Goldman Sachs International
Bank
Handelsbanken plc
HSBC Bank plc
Lloyds Bank plc and
Bank of Scotland plc
NatWest Bank
Royal Bank of Scotland
Santander UK plc
Sumitomo Mitsui Banking
Corporation Europe Ltd

Tier

364 day
limit
£

Overall
limit
£

1,000,000
1,000,000
1,000,000
1,000,000
1,000,000

Appendix 3
TEIGNBRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL TREASURY MANAGEMENT:
AUTHORISED LENDING LIST FROM 24 AUGUST 2021
Bank regulations force banks to maintain “capital buffers”, classifying their deposits
according to duration. Instant access accounts and short deposits are not attractive to
banks as they cannot be counted towards those buffers. For this reason, in addition to
current economic factors, interest rates on most “call” accounts remain low.
Other Non-specified investments
These will be considered on a case-by case basis, using the decision-making framework
laid out in the Commercial Strategy.
Investments which may be considered include
Renewable energy/social impact investments
On-lending to key partners/stakeholders in relation to jointly beneficial projects
Lending in instances where doing so would protect the local economy

32

Appendix 4

Teignbridge District Council
Treasury Management Mid-Year Review 2021-22
Teignbridge District Council has adopted CIPFA’s Treasury Management in the Public
Services: Code of Practice and Cross-Sectoral Guidance Notes 2017 Edition. One of the
requirements is the provision of a mid-year review of treasury management activities.
Activities Undertaken: Daily lending and borrowing from 1 April to 30 September 2021:
Fixed lending

BORROWER
DMO
DMO
Coventry
DMO
DMO
DMO
DMO
DMO
DMO
DMO
DMO
DMO
DMO
DMO
DMO
DMO
DMO
DMO
DMO
DMO
DMO
Nationwide
DMO
Coventry
Principality
DMO
DMO
DMO
DMO
DMO
DMO
Nationwide
DMO
DMO
DMO
DMO
DMO
DMO

RATE
0.020
0.010
0.010
0.010
0.010
0.010
0.010
0.010
0.010
0.010
0.010
0.010
0.010
0.010
0.010
0.010
0.010
0.010
0.010
0.050
0.010
0.020
0.070
0.010
0.015
0.020
0.020
0.010
0.010
0.050
0.010
0.010
0.010
0.010
0.010
0.010

AMOUNT
4,000,000
2,000,000
2,000,000
5,000,000
1,000,000
4,000,000
2,000,000
1,000,000
7,000,000
2,000,000
1,000,000
500,000
1,000,000
1,000,000
1,000,000
3,000,000
1,000,000
1,000,000
2,000,000
1,000,000
2,000,000
1,000,000
1,500,000
2,000,000
1,000,000
1,000,000
1,000,000
2,500,000
500,000
3,000,000
2,000,000
1,000,000
2,000,000
1,000,000
1,000,000
1,000,000
1,500,000
4,500,000

START
DATE
15/03/2021
19/03/2021
22/03/2021
01/04/2021
06/04/2021
06/04/2021
06/04/2021
06/04/2021
06/04/2021
07/04/2021
07/04/2021
15/04/2021
15/04/2021
15/04/2021
15/04/2021
15/04/2021
16/04/2021
17/05/2021
17/05/2021
18/05/2021
18/05/2021
19/05/2021
27/05/2021
01/06/2021
01/06/2021
02/06/2021
08/06/2021
15/06/2021
15/06/2021
15/06/2021
15/06/2021
15/06/2021
22/06/2021
01/07/2021
01/07/2021
01/07/2021
06/07/2021
15/07/2021

33

END DATE
06/04/2021
07/04/2021
23/04/2021
19/04/2021
12/04/2021
19/04/2021
28/04/2021
21/05/2021
26/05/2021
26/05/2021
02/07/2021
28/04/2021
19/05/2021
21/06/2021
23/06/2021
02/07/2021
26/04/2021
19/05/2021
24/05/2021
07/06/2021
21/06/2021
19/08/2021
02/07/2021
06/08/2021
06/08/2021
06/08/2021
02/07/2021
02/07/2021
05/07/2021
19/07/2021
06/08/2021
13/09/2021
06/08/2021
23/07/2021
06/08/2021
23/08/2021
23/07/2021
04/01/2022

TOTAL
INTEREST
DAYS LENT
TO 30.09.21
IN YEAR
5
6
22
24.11
18
24.66
6
1.64
13
14.25
22
12.05
45
12.33
50
95.89
49
26.85
86
23.56
13
1.78
34
9.32
67
18.36
69
18.90
78
64.11
10
2.74
2
0.55
7
3.84
20
5.48
34
18.63
92
126.03
36
14.79
66
72.33
66
126.58
65
17.81
24
9.86
17
23.29
20
5.48
34
27.95
52
28.49
90
123.29
45
24.66
22
6.03
36
9.86
53
14.52
17
6.99
173
94.93

Appendix 4

BORROWER

RATE

AMOUNT

DMO
0.010
1,500,000
DMO
0.010
1,000,000
DMO
0.010
1,000,000
DMO
0.010
3,000,000
DMO
0.010
500,000
DMO
0.010
500,000
DMO
0.010
2,500,000
Coventry
0.020
1,000,000
Coventry
0.050
1,000,000
Principality
0.070
1,000,000
DMO
0.010
1,500,000
DMO
0.010
1,000,000
DMO
0.010
1,500,000
DMO
0.010
4,000,000
Nationwide
0.070
1,000,000
DMO
0.010
2,000,000
DMO
0.010
1,500,000
DMO
0.010
1,500,000
DMO
0.010
3,500,000
DMO
0.010
1,000,000
DMO
0.010
1,000,000
Sub-total fixed lending interest to 30.09.21

START
DATE
23/07/2021
26/07/2021
30/07/2021
02/08/2021
03/08/2021
10/08/2021
13/08/2021
16/08/2021
16/08/2021
16/08/2021
16/08/2021
16/08/2021
27/08/2021
01/09/2021
01/09/2021
15/09/2021
15/09/2021
15/09/2021
15/09/2021
22/09/2021
29/09/2021

END DATE
27/08/2021
14/09/2021
14/09/2021
14/09/2021
14/09/2021
14/09/2021
14/09/2021
12/11/2021
11/02/2022
12/11/2021
20/09/2021
22/09/2021
20/10/2021
09/02/2021
28/02/2022
29/09/2021
11/10/2021
19/10/2021
20/10/2021
27/09/2021
20/10/2021

TOTAL
DAYS
35
50
46
43
42
35
32
88
179
88
35
37
54
161
180
14
26
34
35
5
21

INTEREST
14.38
13.70
12.60
35.34
5.75
4.79
21.92
24.66
61.64
86.30
14.38
10.14
13.97
31.78
55.62
7.67
6.16
6.16
14.38
1.37
0.27
1,554.93

Deposits were also made into the following call accounts and money market funds, dependent
upon cash flow:
Bank

Account terms

Clydesdale Bank
Royal Bank of Scotland
Santander UK plc
Public Sector Deposit Fund
Lloyds plc 95-day notice
Aberdeen Standard
Lloyds plc current account
Sub-total call accounts and
money market funds
Grand total all lending

0.05%
0.01%
0.12%
0.0177% - 0.0368%
0.05%
0.01%
0%

Interest Earned
£
0.06
0.05
1,785.40
397.22
126.03
146.74
0.00
2,475.04
4,029.97

Temporary Borrowing 1 April to 30 September 2021:

Lender

Terms %

Amount Dates
lent £

Lloyds Bank

Base + 1% Variable

Days lent Interest paid
in year
in year
£
Overdraft agreement
0
0.00

34

Appendix 4

Teignbridge District Council
Interim Performance Report for the Period 1 April to 30 September 2021

(i)

Apr-Sep
2020-21

Apr-Sep
2021-22

Interest received and receivable for the period

£12,937

£4,030

Maximum period of investment on any one
loan made in the period

58 days

180 days

“Fixed” investment rates in period.

0.01% - 0.10%

0.01% - 0.07%

Interest paid and payable for the period
Number of new “fixed” loans borrowed in the period

£0.98
0

0
0

Maximum period of borrowing on any one “fixed”
loan borrowed in the period.

0

0

“Fixed” borrowing rates.

n/a

n/a

0.06%

0.028%

Short Term Funds Invested

(ii) Short Term Funds Borrowed

(iii) Average Net Interest Rate Earned

(iv) Average Short Term Net Lending

£21,245,873

£31,933,979

Regular Monitoring
Monthly reports are prepared for the Chief Finance Officer which forecast interest payable and
receivable for the year. The Chief Finance Officer presents a monthly report to CMT and
updates the Executive Committee on a quarterly basis. These reports include any policy
updates, such as changes to the official lending list, based on the latest ratings information.
Full council receives an annual review and strategy statement and a mid-year review.
The interest forecast predicts total net interest receivable for the year of £9,023. This
compares to £15,946 in 2020-21. This forecast decrease is mainly due to the reduction in
interest rates. Base rate was reduced to 0.10% on 19 th March 2020 as part of the measures
taken by the Bank of England (BOE) to support the economy during the Covid 19 pandemic.
During the first half of the year, there has been an increase in the funds available for lending
out (average daily lending is £31.9 million in 2021-22 compared to £21.2 million at the same
stage in 2020-21. This is mainly due to funding received from Government to enable the
payment of business grants. This could not be invested long-term. The average net interest
rate achieved is 0.028% in 2021-22, compared to 0.06% at the same point in 2020-21).
Average benchmark 7-day LIBID rate has been negative since 3 rd July 2020 and is -.08% as at
the end of September 2021.
Treasury Management Indicators
These are part of the Prudential Indicators, as agreed at Full Council on 22 February 2021.
They are available on request or on the Teignbridge website agenda for that meeting.

35

Appendix 4

36

Agenda Item 7

Teignbridge District Council
EXECUTIVE
02 NOVEMBER 2021
Part i

Driver and Operational Staff Salaries – Market Forces
Purpose of Report
To alert the committee to the ongoing difficulties in the recruitment and retention of Large
Goods Vehicle (LGV) Drivers and the implications of applying the Council’s Market Forces
Policy to operational posts to help resolve the issue.

Recommendation(s)
The Executive RESOLVES to:
(1) Approve the implementation of the Council’s Market forces Policy to increase LGV
driver’s salaries to Grade 18
(2) Approve the increases to the related operational posts to maintain the grade
differentials as detailed in this report.
(3) Recommend that the Council approve the salary changes at their meeting on 30
November 2021.

Financial Implications
Please see paragraph 3.1 of the report.
Chief Finance Officer & Head of Corporate Services
Email: martin.flitcroft@teignbridge.gov.uk

Legal Implications
There are no specific legal implications arising from this report. However, the
content of paragraph 3.2 below should be noted.
Paul Woodhead, Interim Legal Services Manager and Monitoring Officer
Email: paul.woodhead@teignbridge.gov.uk

Risk Assessment
Please see paragraph 3.3 of the report.
Waste & Cleansing Manager

Email: chris.braines@teignbridge.gov.uk

Environmental/ Climate Change Implications
Please see paragraph 3.4 of the report.
Waste & Cleansing Manager
Committee
Date of meeting

37

Email: chris.braines@teignbridge.gov.uk

Report Author
Chris Braines
Waste & Cleansing Manager

Email: chris.braines@teignbridge.gov.uk

Executive Member
Cllr Alistair Dewhirst - Deputy Leader of the Council, and Executive Member for
Recycling, Household Waste and Environmental Health.

Appendices/Background Papers
None

1. Introduction/Background
1.1

The national shortage of LGV drivers has been well documented recently in the
media and a number of large organisations, including those in the waste sector, have voiced
their concerns over the impacts on national infrastructure and introduced incentives to attract
and retain qualified drivers.

1.2

The Council currently has 52 FTE LGV drivers on the establishment list evaluated at
Grade 8. These posts are already in receipt of a Market Forces supplement following
historical market reviews and recruitment issues, placing them at Grade 16b with a salary
range of £22,183 to £23,080.

1.3

Despite a rolling recruitment program, the Council currently have 11 LGV driver
vacancies and have had minimal responses. The last successful recruitment into an LGV
role was in June 2021.
1.4
We have six further roles (Supervisors/Chargehands/Inspector) that include LGV
licenses in their job descriptions. These staff are called upon to support the service as
drivers on occasion but it is unsustainable to use them for prolonged periods due to the
impacts on service management.
1.5
As a result of the staff shortages it has been impossible for the waste and cleansing
service to deliver all functions to the prescribed schedules. Weekend overtime working has
become necessary to catch up on delayed rounds and sustained additional pressures placed
on the operational staff and management team.
1.6
The issues have been compounded by a significant increase in the quantities of
household waste and recycling presented for collection as more people isolate or work from
home in response to the covid pandemic. Recycling tonnages rose by over 2,200 tonnes
and residual waste by over 2,000 tonnes in 2020/21.
1.7
Whilst the covid pandemic has contributed to the issue the fundamental reasons for
the shortages can be attributed to;

Committee
Date of meeting

38






An ageing workforce – the average age of HGV driver in the UK is 55. As drivers
reach retirement age there are not enough newly trained drivers to replace them.
The average age at TDC is 51.
A backlog of driver tests – during the national lockdowns test centres were closed for
several months. This has created a backlog of tests for newly skilled drivers
Loss of European drivers – during the pandemic many drivers from Europe returned
home with many not returning. Brexit has also made jobs in the UK less appealing to
European workers, particularly drivers.

1.8
The Council has regularly fed back on its specific issues through various channels,
making joint representations to Government via the LGA, DEFRA and LARAC. Cllr Dewhirst
has also written to the Home Secretary in his capacity as Executive Member to highlight the
issues and ask for immediate action to help rectify the situation, suggesting HGV drivers be
recognised as an ‘important shortage occupation’ with a two-year derogation to the pointsbased immigration rules for trained HGV drivers.

2. Additional Information
The Local Market
2.1
We regularly review our pay against neighbouring local authorities and the private
sector. The latest LA comparison (see 3.1) confirms that we are currently paying below the
Devon average of £24,481 for LGV drivers elsewhere.

2.2

A recent analysis of the private sector vacancies suggests that at face value we are
paying ~ £5k per year below the average. Caution should be taken with these comparisons
however as the roles typically offer less favourable conditions of employment with less
holidays, more hours as standard, compulsory weekend working, additional skill
requirements and inferior pensions. That said many will not necessarily consider these as
important or barriers and be drawn by the higher hourly rate.

Steps taken to address the issues
2.3

In the short term, we have had staff working most Saturdays and some Sundays to
catch up any delayed services. This relies on volunteer crews and is not a sustainable
approach as staff cannot be guaranteed and we need to ensure compliance with driving
hours regulations. This is leading to fatigue amongst some staff.
2.4
We have recently had approval to advertise through ‘Indeed’, historically not used
due to the high cost. We are hopeful that this will provide more opportunities for potential
recruits to see our vacancies and consider joining us. We are considering widening this to
include ‘Total Jobs’ and ‘Reed’ following a mail out by the DfT to over 1 million ex HGV
drivers signposting them to these three sites.
2.5
We have organised an apprenticeship scheme for five of our staff to train as HGV
drivers (2 of these are mechanics however). This takes some time as there is currently a
waiting list for the test centres and there is no guarantee of success for the candidates. We
do not anticipate having any of these available as drivers before 2022.
2.6
We have continued to canvass existing staff to train as LGV drivers and fund the
license qualifications from TDC training budgets. There has been limited interest in this from
suitable candidates however, and the same issues as in 2.5 above apply.

Committee
Date of meeting

39

2.7
We have started to use agency drivers to support the service. This has previously
been avoided as a principle due to the high risks associated with the role and level of
training/induction required. There is also a shortage of agency drivers available locally, with
only 2 available to date.

3. Implications, Risk Management and Climate Change Impact
3.1 Financial
The costs associated with increasing the LGV drivers pay to Grade 18 (£23,541 to
£24,491) and maintaining the differentials of related posts are summarised below.
Comparisons of equivalent operational roles across Devon show that TDC are
consistently paying below average rates.
Role
Loaders
Van Drivers
LGV Drivers
Supervisors

Average Devon
Salary
£19,142
£20,436
£24,481
£30,019

TDC Current Salary
£17,842
£18,933
£23,088
£28,672

TDC Proposed Salary
£18,562
£19,698
£24,491
£29,577

It is particularly important, given the recent and ongoing challenges faced by frontline
operational staff that the entirety of the workforce is considered and no particular
section of staff feel excluded from any pay awards.
It is also necessary that those with responsibilities for staff and operational
organisation are positioned at a higher rate than their reporting staff.
As a result the following changes to post grades are proposed to maintain
differentials






Increasing
Increasing
Increasing
Increasing
Increasing

all Loaders/pedestrian sweepers to Grade 8 (currently Grade 6)
all Parish Sweepers/Van drivers to Grade 11 (currently Grade 9)
Chargehand posts from Grade 19 to Grade 20a
Supervisor posts from Grade 23 to Grade 24
Ops co-ordinator T11002 from Grade 31 to Grade 32

The ’21-22 costs represent an option/cost to introduce from 1 st December 2021.
The ’22-23 costs assume implementation at the 1 st April 2022 based on an assumed
pay increase in 2021-22 of 1.75% and include NI and Pension costs.

Committee
Date of meeting

40

Role

Number of
posts

Cost of
implementation
from December
2021

Full Year
cost
2022/23

76
30
52
5
2
1

24,050
9,930
42,810
2,250
800
450

72,150
29,770
128,440
6,763
2,420
1,360

80,290

240,903

Loaders/sweepers
Van drivers/Parish Sweepers
LGV Drivers
Chargehands
Supervisors
Operations Co-ordinator
TOTAL

Applying the changes as detailed above will create a budget pressure that will be
incorporated into future financial reports by the Chief Financial Officer and budget
proposals in December.
A Market Forces Supplement may be deemed necessary to recruit or to retain
existing staff in areas of national or regional shortage or where Council pay scales
are not competitive to the extent that it is affecting its ability to deliver consistent and
effective services.
Market Forces Supplements are only payable while there is a justifiable ongoing
rationale and they will be regularly reviewed. Although market forces are designed
to be applied and reviewed periodically, and therefore may potentially be removed if
the market shifts to lower salaries, that in reality given the shortage, age profile and
competitive nature of roles we should expect that a market forces uplift will be a long
term commitment.
3.2 Legal
Market Forces Supplements do not form part of an employee’s standard contractual
terms and conditions (it is a temporary addition to the contract of employment). They
must be regularly reviewed and withdrawn if market forces change.
3.3 Risks
There are no significant risks associated with the proposed application of Market
Forces supplements to the identified posts. There are however, risks associated
with failing to take action to address the staffing issues. This could include a further
loss of staff in the short term and reduced retention rates longer term. There would
also be a negative impact on morale and a loss of the goodwill of staff and an
increase likelihood of significant service disruptions to statutory waste and cleansing
services.
3.4 Environmental/Climate Change Impact
The waste and cleansing services provided by the Council play a significant role in
our impact on the environment. Ensuring services are run efficiently is vital to
maximise recycling levels and maintain good public health.
Committee
Date of meeting

41

4.

Alternative Options

As there are no significant changes to the nature of the jobs the ‘Job Evaluation’ process is
not considered a viable process to address this issue.
Other financial incentives to aid recruitment and retention could be considered but with large
numbers of staff and the need to maintain differentials for supervisory and loader staff this
becomes an expensive short term proposition with no guarantees of any significant
sustained impact.

5.

Conclusion

The waste and cleansing services are both statutory and high profile for the Council. In
order to attract and retain operational staff the employment offerings need to remain
competitive.
Failure to take steps to address the issues faced will lead to further significant service
disruptions, increased levels of complaints and potentially damage the Council’s reputation.

Committee
Date of meeting

42

Agenda Item 8

Teignbridge District Council
Executive Committee 2 nd November 2021
Part i

Local Plan 2020-2040; Consultation on Renewable Energy, Gypsy &
Traveller sites and small residential sites
Purpose of Report
To resolve to publish the Draft Local Plan 2020-2040 (part 3) and its associated
documents for public consultation

Recommendation(s)
The Executive RESOLVES to:
1. Publish for public consultation the documents listed below for an eight
week period in accordance with the Statement of Community Involvement
2019 (and 2020 update):
a)

Draft Local Plan 2020-2040 (Part 3) ‘Renewable Energy, Gypsy
and Traveller and small residential site options (Appendix A);

b)

Strategic Environmental Assessment/Sustainability Appraisal
Stage B (Appendix B);

c)

Habitat Regulations Assessment Screening (Appendix C);

2. Grant delegated authority to the Head of Place and Commercial Services to
make minor amendments to the above documents and associated mapping
to enable accurate publication and consultation.

Financial Implications
See section 6.1.
Martin Flitcroft Chief Finance Officer
Email: martin.flitcroft@teignbridge.gov.uk

Legal Implications
There are no specific legal Implications arising from this report save for the matters
referred to at Paragraph 6.2 – 6.7.
Paul Woodhead Interim Legal services Manager and Monitoring Officer
Email: paul.woodhead@teignbridge.gov.uk

Risk Assessment
See section 6.8 – 6.9
Alex Lessware, Principal Planning Officer
Email: alex.lessware@teignbridge.gov.uk

Executive Committee
2nd November 2021

43

Environmental / Climate Change Implications
The environmental impacts associated with recommendations supporting renewable energy
policies are covered in Section 6.10 of this report. Provisions for gypsy and traveller site
options and small residential site options are subject to national policy, however,
environmental mitigations associated with these potential developments will need to align
with relevant sustainability polices under the new local plan.

William Elliot, Climate Change Officer
Email: William.Elliot@teignbridge.gov.uk

Report Author
Alex Lessware, Principal Planning Officer
Email: alex.lessware@teignbridge.gov.uk

Executive Member
Portfolio Holder for Planning, Cllr Gary Taylor

Appendices
A. Draft Local Plan Consultation 2020-2040 (Part 3)
B. Stage B Strategic Environmental Assessment/Sustainability Appraisal Report and
appendices
C. HRA Screening Report
D. Engagement Plan
E. Equality Impact Assessment
Please use the following link to access the Appendices B and C;

https://www.teignbridge.gov.uk/planning/local-plans-and-policy/executive-committee2nd-november-2021/
1. Introduction / Background
1.1 This report is seeking authority to publish for public consultation the third substantive
consultation on the draft local plan in accordance with Regulation 18 of the Town
and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012. The
consultation proposes policies and sites for renewable energy, a gypsy and traveller
site option, and small residential site options, and follows the part 1 (policies) and
part 2 (site options for residential, employment & school) which were consulted upon
in March 2020 and June 2021 respectively. Following this consultation, the Council
will review the responses and begin preparation of a ‘proposed submission’ local
plan which brings together both policies and proposed sites into a single document.
1.2 The purpose of this consultation is threefold. Firstly, the consultation proposes
strong measures to tackle climate change through policies and site options for wind
and solar renewable energy generation. Secondly, a gypsy and traveller site option
is proposed following an extensive search process which resulted in just 1 suitable
site coming forward. Thirdly, a number of small residential site options are set out,
to ensure sufficient options are available to meet the national policy requirement for
10% of the housing target be on small sites.

2. Renewable Energy

Executive Committee
2nd November 2021

44

2.1 The renewable energy chapter is based on the Low Carbon Report produced for the
Council by the Centre for Energy and the Environment (Exeter University). The
consultation proposes two draft policies and 27 wind turbine site options, based on
where the viable wind resource lies.
2.2 The process for assessing site options has been robust and has involved
discussions with in-house conservation specialists, external representatives from
renewable energy companies and the Sustainability Appraisal and Habitat
Regulation Assessment process. Landowners will be written to prior to the
consultation.
2.3 The consultation proposes that Teignbridge allocates suitable wind site options and
adopts policies (alongside reviewed policies consulted upon in ‘Part 1’) to maximise
the contribution the district can make in tackling climate change. The anticipated
increase in electricity demand over the plan period (through electric vehicles and air
source heat pumps), will only be beneficial if they run on low carbon electricity
generated through wind and solar power, which Teignbridge can play its part in
generating and enabling.

3. Gypsy and Traveller sites
3.1 Teignbridge carried out a call for sites and undertook a thorough assessment to try
and maximise gypsy and traveller site options. Unfortunately, this resulted in only
one site with a willing landowner coming forward.
3.2 The evidence for the number of pitches required is currently being produced and will
be necessary for the next stage of the Local Plan process (‘proposed submission’
next summer). If the number of pitches required exceeds the capacity of the option
site (or if the option site is rejected following public consultation), other policy
approaches will be required to ensure the Council complies with national policy
requirements to meet the needs of the gypsy and traveller community.

4. Residential small sites
4.1 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) requires that 10% of the Council’s
housing target is allocated on small sites of up to 1 hectare. This equates to
approximately 75 homes per annum, or approximately 3 small sites per year (over
the plan period). In order to meet this requirement, the proposed submission Local
Plan will need sufficient site options.
4.2 The consultation proposes a further 24 small site options, many of which may be
required to meet the target. Where option sites are larger than 1 ha, we envisage
limiting the development to 1 ha of built development, with the balance as green
infrastructure.
4.3 Following this Local Plan consultation and the previous consultations, the responses
and evidence will be used to inform the final development distribution strategy and
preferred site options to be taken forward into the ‘proposed submission’ plan.
4.4 All the sites submitted have been assessed using the Housing and economic land
availability assessment (HELAA) methodology, which has been specially adapted for
the assessment of small residential sites from the Part 2 approach used for larger
strategic sites, in order to determine their suitability and deliverability. Deliverable
options, in particular those in locations close to existing defined settlements, have
been included in this consultation as site options. In some cases, the small
residential site options may suggest alternative locations for growth that do not
wholly accord with the draft spatial distribution strategy set out in the Part 2

Executive Committee
2nd November 2021

45

consultation. The Council will listen to the consultation responses in considering
whether these sites proceed to the next stage.

5. Consultation arrangements
5.1 This is the fourth consultation since the beginning of the local plan review
preparation, with previous stages being consultations on ‘Issues’, ‘Policies’ (part 1),
‘Site Options’ (part 2), and this stage being part 3. The two previous consultations
were both predominantly web-based during the global pandemic and have proven
successful.
5.2 The site options (part 2) consultation in June – August 2021 reached 50,000 people
via TDC social media. Multiple articles were published in physical local press and
the residents’ newsletter. Approximately 4740 responses were received, which will
help to shape the ‘proposed submission’ plan.
5.3 We will build on the success and learning of previous ‘virtual’ consultations and the
online user experience. This will include improved mapping via StoryMaps and a
questionnaire (Firmstep) that will allow respondents to review their response text in
paragraphs and save their progress.
5.4 The physical versions of the documents will again be distributed to all town and
parish Councils (who are encouraged to make them available), all libraries and at
Forde House. Copies will be available for purchase at cost price.
5.5 The consultation will take place over an 8 week period starting in November.
5.6 It is important to note that the consultation responses made to Parts 1 and 2 of the
previous draft local plan consultations, alongside this consultation, will all be
analysed and inform the preparation of the next draft plan. The Member Local Plan
Working Group (LPWG) has been kept informed, but their involvement will need to
increase as we move to preparing the Proposed Submission version of the Local
Plan.

6. Implications, Risk Management and Climate Change Impact
Financial
6.1 There are no financial implications arising from this report. The costs of preparing
the Local Plan are covered within the existing Spatial Planning base budget. The
majority of these costs are associated with procuring evidence and examination of
the plan.

Legal
6.2 The Planning and Compulsory Purchase (PCP) Act 2004 requires that Local
Planning Authorities prepare development plans (which includes the Local Plan) for
their area. These plans must identify the strategic priorities and have policies to
manage the use of land. Planning applications, by law, must be determined in
accordance with the adopted development plan (unless material considerations
indicate otherwise).
6.3 The 2004 PCP Act (19(1A)) also requires that development plans must include
policies designed to secure that the development and use of land contribute to the
mitigation of, and to the adaptation to, climate change.
6.4 The Local Plan must also comply with the National Planning Policy Framework
which requires sufficient land is made available to meet the development needs of
the district, including those as determined by the Government’s standard housing
target calculation method.
Executive Committee
2nd November 2021

46

6.5 This consultation comprises part of the Regulation 18 stage (of the Town and
Country Planning (England) Local Planning Regulations 2012). The Council’s Local
Development Scheme does not specify this stage in the published timetable. The
next key milestone is proposed submission in July 2022.
6.6 Under relevant legislation, Local Plans must be accompanied by a Sustainability
Appraisal (SA) and Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA). These very similar
requirements are integrated into one document/process. SA/SEA considers the
effects of the plan on the environment, people and the economy, considers
reasonable alternatives, proposes measures to mitigate harmful effects, and
proposes monitoring measures. In this way sustainability considerations are
considered in plan preparation. SA/SEA is an iterative process and a ‘Stage B’
report is provided at Appendix B.
6.7 A Habitats Regulation Assessment (HRA) Screening has been prepared as an initial
examination of the proposed site options. A full Appropriate Assessment will follow
as the plan progresses. The HRA Screening is provided at Appendix C.

Risks
6.8 Failing to consult on the proposed site options and policies would introduce a series
of risks into the Local Plan review process, in particular;
6.8.1

Failure to consult on wind site options at an early stage, including the
SA/SEA process which determines the overall approach to renewable
energy generation. This could be introduced at a later stage but would not
be in keeping with best practice.

6.8.2

Poor progress in identifying sufficient gypsy and traveller sites as
required. Whilst there is a chance that the one site identified may be
found unsuitable following the consultation process, and it may not
accommodate the full need, the consultation does demonstrate the
thorough process the Council has gone through to identify sites.

6.8.3

Potential that insufficient small residential sites options have been
consulted upon, risking failure to comply with the NPPF.

6.9 Going ahead with the consultation does present a minor risk of public ‘consultation
fatigue’. The subject matter contained in the consultation document may also draw
both positive and negative comments.

Environmental / Climate Change Impact
6.10
The consultation sets out options for policies and sites which could support
renewable energy generation infrastructure. These policies and sites could have
both significant positive and negative impacts. The positive impacts would be a
significant contribution to mitigating climate change by generating much more
renewable (low carbon) electricity over the medium to long term. The potential
negative impacts are set out in the documents and relate to the landscape, wildlife,
heritage buildings and other issues, during the lifetime of developments, particularly
any wind turbines.

7. Alternative Options
7.1 The alternative option to publishing this consultation is to continue onto the next
stage of proposed submission in July 2022. This is not advised, as the objective of
this consultation is to help identify key issues, problems and opportunities through
comments from stakeholders and the public, before beginning preparation of the
proposed submission.
Executive Committee
2nd November 2021

47

8. Conclusion
8.1 The publication of this consultation continues the Council’s progress in reviewing the
Local Plan within the timetable set out in the Council’s Local Development Scheme,
working towards the next stage in July 2022.
8.2 This draft Local Plan consultation recommended to the Executive has been
developed with robust assessments and environmental appraisals, in accordance
with national policy requirements and with engagement with relevant groups
including Dartmoor National Park and renewable energy specialists.
8.3 The Draft Plan and associated documents are considered to provide all the
necessary information required in order to enable a meaningful consultation with the
community and stakeholders.

Executive Committee
2nd November 2021

48

Teignbridge draft Local Plan

Local Plan (Part 3) 2020-2040
Renewable Energy, Gypsy and Traveller
and Small Residential Sites
CONSULTATION DOCUMENT

PlanTeignbridge
LOCAL PLAN REVIEW 2020-2040

OCTOBER 2021

49
1

50
2

Contents
1. Introduction						4
2. Renewable Energy - Wind				
Draft Renewable Wind Energy Policy		

6		
8

Wind Site Options					12
3. Renewable Energy - Solar				

68

Draft Solar PV Renewable Energy Policy		

68

4. Providing for Gypsies and Travellers			

74

Gypsies and Travellers Site Option			

75

5. Small Residential Sites					78
Small Residential Site Options			

51
3

79

1. Introduction
1.1

This is the fourth consultation regarding the draft Teignbridge Local Plan, designed to update the
existing Local Plan adopted in May 2014 and which will cover the period until 2040.

1.2

This consultation covers three main areas;
•

•

•

Renewable Energy including options for wind turbine sites and wind and solar power policies;
the options on renewable energy sites and policies, for both wind turbines and solar photovoltaic (PV) developments, are based on the evidence contained in the Teignbridge Low
Carbon Report, and as a response to Teignbridge District Council’s Climate Emergency
declaration
Provision for gypsies and travellers; the consultation asks for your views on a potential gypsy
and traveller site option. The Council will have to meet the needs of gypsies and travellers
for permanent living pitches and transition sites through the Local Plan. The evidence for the
number of pitches the Council will need to allocate is currently being produced and will be
published at the next stage of Local Plan consultation
Small residential development sites; the consultation also includes 24 additional small
residential site options. These sites are being consulted upon following a call for sites during
which landowners submitted their land as an option. This is in response to the Government’s
requirement for Councils to allocate 10% of their housing target on small sites of 1 hectare or
less. It is therefore important that there are sufficient options to meet this requirement

How can I comment?
1.3

We want to hear the views of as many people as possible on how future development is
managed in Teignbridge. Comments are best made using the online survey at www.teignbridge.
gov.uk/localplanreview or by downloading the questions and returning them by email. We can
only accept comments in writing.

Where can I view the documents?
1.4

You can view the Draft Local Plan at: www.teignbridge.gov.uk/localplanreview
Paper copies of the plan and supporting documents will be made available to view at the
following locations (subject to any Covid 19 restrictions which may be in place at the time of
consultation):
•
•
•

Libraries
Teignbridge District Council Offices, Forde House, Brunel Road, Newton Abbot
Parish and Town Council Offices

About Local Plans
1.5

The Local Plan is the starting point for all planning decisions in relation to development in
Teignbridge, alongside national policy and neighbourhood plans. Planning decisions must be
made in accordance with the Plan unless ‘material considerations’ indicate otherwise.The Council
consulted on the draft Local Plan ‘Part 1’ (which focussed on planning policies) in March to July
2020, and a ‘Part 2’ (which looked at housing, employment and school development site options)
was consulted on in June to August 2021.

Vision and Objectives
1.6

The draft Local Plan has established a draft suite of policies which collectively aim to make
Teignbridge a more sustainable place for all, to achieve the following vision;

52
4

Teignbridge will be a leader in tackling climate change and nurture an environment in which
both people and nature can thrive. We will provide more homes which are truly affordable and
able to meet the needs of each generation. We will encourage a buoyant local economy that is
supported by physical and digital infrastructure. High standards of design will create places of
quality where residents can lead healthy, happy lives.
1.7

This draft vision was consulted upon in the previous draft Local Plan consultations (parts 1 and
2). This consultation document proposes a range of renewable energy policies and site options,
as well as gypsy and traveller and small residential options sites, which will contribute towards
achieving the vision.

Development Strategy
1.8

A ‘Development Strategy’ refers to the way in which new development will be distributed across
Teignbridge over the next 20 years. This includes development such as housing and employment.

1.9

A core principle that guides the draft local plan is that new development is focussed into key
locations, focussing on the main towns and South West Exeter, maximising the co-location of
new homes with new and existing job opportunities, services and public transport links. This
approach secures better access to key local facilities and services for new residents, protects the
vast majority of the countryside, and also minimises overall car use (or distances driven) which
can have significant benefits in helping to address the impacts of climate change.

1.10 In Teignbridge, carbon emissions are dominated by transport which comprise 43% of all
emissions (Source: Centre for Energy & Environment, 2021). The relatively high proportion of
transport emissions in Teignbridge is a consequence of the busy trunk roads running through
the district, with many Teignbridge residents working outside the district in Exeter, Torbay and
Plymouth and consequently generating high traffic volumes and associated greenhouse gas
emissions. Reducing transport emissions is therefore a priority for the district.
1.11 Eight development distribution scenarios were considered through the draft Local Plan ‘part 2’
consulted upon in June – August 2021, which recommended a future development scenario
which combines the following;
•

•

•

focussing the majority of development in the largest settlements of the district where new
residents benefit from the greatest access to healthcare, education, shops, sustainable
transport links and other essential services. This will also have the biggest potential for
minimising drivers of climate change;
enabling proportionate growth of the defined rural villages (i.e. those with at least a basic
level of service provision) to provide important local opportunities for housing and support
the provision of neighbourhood facilities without overburdening them. It also opens up more
sites and locations for consideration, meaning that the pressure to find land on sensitive sites
around the larger settlements is reduced, thus helping to minimise potential negative effects
on very sensitive environments.
maximising the use of brownfield land via town centre intensification, to ensure that
development of greenfield sites is minimised, helping to co-locate people, jobs, services and
sustainable travel links as much as possible and protect land resources. Work is underway to
explore if the town centre options are feasible for development;

1.12 Following this consultation, when all large and smaller site options have been assessed and
commented on by the public and stakeholders, the broad distribution strategy outlined above will
be applied to the site options. This will inform the next iteration of the draft plan, which will be
published in 2022 and will contain site allocations and development management policies. This
version of the Plan will be subject to further public consultation.

53
5

Development Strategy for Renewable Energy
1.13 The development strategy for renewable energy is not the same as that for development such as
homes and employment buildings. This is because the evidence underpinning possible renewable
energy allocations is driven by where those sources of energy exist in sufficient quantity (e.g. in the
most windy or sunny locations) and the constraints applied in the modelling exercise (e.g. avoiding
areas of grade 1 agricultural land).
1.14 The development strategy for wind energy is therefore to identify and allocate sites for wind
turbines in the most suitable locations for generating power, whilst avoiding and/or minimising
negative impacts on the built and natural environment.
1.15 The mapping constraints used to identify sites partially determine the development strategy and
are included in Table 4 of the Low Carbon Report. These constraints include considerations such
as avoiding impacts on air traffic and MOD infrastructure, and minimum distances from sensitive
receptors (such as road, railways and heritage buildings). Sites were discussed with specialists
including representatives from energy companies who advised on the deliverability of sites, and
officers from Dartmoor National Park.
1.16 Specific allocations are not proposed for solar PV energy infrastructure, and therefore there is
no development strategy as such. This is because the Low Carbon evidence points to a very
significant proportion of the district being suitable for Solar PV. Therefore this consultation proposes
a criteria based policy which is applicable throughout the district and would be used to determine
where planning applications for solar PV are suitable. This draft policy would seek to enable solar
PV development whilst minimising negative effects on the built and natural environment.

Associated documents
1.17 The revision of the local plan is being prepared taking into account our statutory Duty to Cooperate, which ensures that planning issues that cross local authority boundaries are considered
effectively and appropriately. Various Duty to Cooperate matters have been identified in preparing
the draft Local Plan. Teignbridge will continue working with its neighbours and duty to co-operate
partners to prepare a Duty to Cooperate Statement of Common Ground at the appropriate time.
1.18 Local Plans must be accompanied by a Sustainability Appraisal (SA) (which includes the Strategic
Environmental Assessment (SEA)). SA runs alongside plan preparation to ensure it considers the
effects of the plan on the environment, people and the economy, considers reasonable alternatives,
proposes measures to mitigate harmful effects, and sets out monitoring measures. In this way
sustainability is considered in plan preparation. An SA report has been published alongside this
draft Plan for consultation.
1.19 The Local Plan will need to be screened under the Habitat Regulations and may be subject to
Appropriate Assessment before it is submitted. A draft Habitats Regulation Assessment (HRA) has
been prepared as an initial examination of the development options proposed within this plan. A full
HRA screening/Appropriate Assessment will follow as the plan progresses.

2. Renewable Energy - Wind
2.1

In 2019 Teignbridge District Council signed the Devon Climate Declaration and committed to
prioritise decarbonisation and support the transition to a low carbon and resilient economy and
society. This commitment included working with Devon’s residents and businesses to deploy more
renewable energy systems.

2.2

The local plan plays a critical role in achieving this commitment by including policies and
allocations that enable, and are supportive of, low carbon energy generation. Without policies and

54

6

allocations to support such development this will not be possible, as onshore wind turbines must
receive support through a local plan.
2.3

By generating low carbon electricity within the district, Teignbridge will be playing its role in decarbonising the electricity supply grid. Without sufficient low carbon electricity, the expected
increase in electric vehicles and heat-pump central heating in homes, will not deliver big carbon
savings.

2.4

The wind energy section below sets out a summary of the wind energy evidence, sets out a draft
policy on which we are seeking your views, sets out the supporting text for the draft policy, and
identifies each wind site option including site sensitivities.

Wind Energy
2.5

The Low Carbon Study for Teignbridge (2021) identified a potential onshore wind energy
resource of up to 217 GWh. However, existing energy generation from wind development in
Teignbridge (as at 2019) amounted to an annual output of 0.133 GWh across seven sites. We
are not making the most of our natural wind resource in the fight against climate change and the
study findings indicate significant untapped potential, depending upon local constraints (such as
proximity to the national grid).

2.6

As a yardstick, the electricity demand of 10,000 new homes and 10,000 electric vehicles, is
estimated at 66 GWh. This is equivalent to 14% of Teignbridge’s current electricity consumption.
Resourcing this level of power would need 337 ha of land to be identified for wind turbines or
30% of the overall wind resource to be utilised.

2.7

The Wind Resource for Teignbridge map shows the areas identified for potential wind turbine
development which have been assessed for this Consultation, split between sites for 1 MW and 2
MW turbines.

2.8

Spatial constraints have excluded areas that are likely to impact on a host of natural features,
such as woodland and Sites of Special Scientific Interest, sensitive coastal areas, transport
& communications constraints, together with heritage assets, including registered parks and
gardens and scheduled monuments.

2.9

As set out in the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), Local Planning Authorities should
only grant planning permission for wind development in identified suitable areas as set out in
Local Plans.

2.10 This Consultation sets out all of the potential wind turbine site options within Teignbridge, outside
Dartmoor National Park, that could accommodate 1mw or 2mw wind turbines. All technically
possible sites have been included in this Consultation. This enables feedback to be provided
on all sites. This feedback, along with further technical and land availability investigations, will
be used to help decide which sites will be included in the next version of the Local Plan (the
‘Proposed Submission’ version of the Local Plan, which will be consulted on next summer).
2.11 All wind turbine development has the potential to affect ecology, the landscape, the historic
environment, local amenity and aviation. The site sensitivities set out for each wind site option
highlight the main constraints affecting each site following a desktop analysis. Some constraints
are more significant that others and further investigation into some sites may result in the site
being ruled out through the Strategic Environmental Assessment / Sustainability Appraisal or
Habitats Regulation assessment.

55
7

2.12 However, wind is a highly constrained development type, with the appropriateness and viability
of development at particular sites often requiring investigation through extensive site-specific
surveys.
2.13 It has therefore been necessary for the Local Plan to identify some suitable site options through
the allocation process which is based upon supporting technical data from the Low Carbon Study
and additional assessment of physical site factors to focus development opportunities for wind
energy.

Draft Renewable Wind Energy Policy
The following sites are allocated for wind turbine development at:
[Sites to be confirmed following consultation]
On these sites (and others where wind turbine development has been demonstrated to be
suitable), development will be permitted where, on balance, the contribution towards renewable
energy provision and climate change mitigation outweighs significant harm, which cannot be
mitigated, in relation to the following:
a) the impact of the scheme, together with any cumulative issues, on landscape character, with
particular respect to Dartmoor National Park;
b) biodiversity and geodiversity;
c) flood risk and water quality;
d) significance of heritage assets;
e) agricultural land quality;
f) residential amenity;
g) safety; and
h) aviation and telecommunications.
All proposals must demonstrate that they would not affect the integrity of a European Protected
Site.
Wind development will be removed once no longer in economic use and the land restored.

Supporting Text
2.14 The following text explains some of the considerations arising in a) – h) in the policy text above.

Landscape Character
2.15 The impact of a wind energy development on the landscape can be linked to the lifetime of
the project and the extent to which the development is reversible at the end of its consented
operational lifetime.
2.16 The layout and design should be informed by a Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment. The
detail of this assessment will depend upon the scale of the proposed development and whether
or not the Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) Regulations apply.
2.17 It is preferable that heights are in proportion with, and do not overwhelm, the scale of hills, ridges,
woodlands and fields. In addition, wind turbines need to respect the hierarchy of elements in
the landscape and do not compete, or create clutter when seen together, with other man-made
landscape elements such as pylons.

56
8

2.18 As there are local variations in landscape character and sensitivity within a Landscape Character
Area (LCA), a site-specific analysis should be undertaken to identify specific landscape and
visual issues. It is important to consider the potential impact on landscape characteristics, special
qualities of landscape designations and potential impact on key views.
2.19 The Assessment of the Landscape Sensitivity to Onshore Wind Energy Developments
in the Teignbridge Landscape study (March 2017) contains further guidance on strategic
patterns of landscape sensitivity across Teignbridge and how to consider landscape in planning
applications for wind energy developments.

Biodiversity
2.20 Wind energy developments have the potential to impact on ecology and biodiversity. Ecological
survey findings should be used to help shape the development proposal to deliver a scheme
which results in no net loss to biodiversity, and aims to deliver ecological enhancement. In
particular potential impact on birds needs to be assessed, with some species being particularly
vulnerable or sensitive to wind developments.
2.21 Any potential impact on bats also needs to be taken into account. It is therefore important to
assess local bat populations and their use of the proposed site for foraging and migrating. The
siting of the turbine/s is the key to avoiding impact on bats, for example by distancing the turbine
from bat foraging features such as wetland and hedges. Bat surveys therefore play a key role in
selecting the most appropriate siting for turbine/s and are considered necessary in most cases.

Flood Risk

2.22 Proposals for wind energy development may require a Flood Risk Assessment. When designing
measures to manage runoff, installation of SUDS drainage techniques, such as shallow swales
or infiltration trenches to replicate natural drainage characteristics should be incorporated and
any access tracks should be permeable. The culverting of existing watercourses and drainage
ditches should be avoided.

Heritage

2.23 Wind energy developments generally have the potential to affect heritage assets (archaeological
sites, monuments, buildings and landscape features) both above and below ground.
2.24 Above ground impacts may include the effects on the setting of Listed Buildings and Scheduled
Monuments as well as on the Historic Landscape Character of Teignbridge. Section 66 of the
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 places a statutory duty on local
planning authorities to have “special regard to the desirability of preserving” listed buildings and
their settings. This means that the setting of designated heritage assets must be appropriately
assessed and considerable importance and weight will be given to the desirability of preserving
the setting of listed buildings when the applications are determined.
2.25 Where wind energy proposals lie within a visual envelope of designated heritage assets, planning
applications should be supported by an assessment of the setting of historic assets using the
latest English Heritage guidance.
2.26 Below ground impacts may include direct impacts on archaeological deposits through ground
disturbance associated with ground levelling, piling, trenching, foundations, fencing, temporary
haul routes etc.
2.27 Development will also need to accord with the provisions of Local Plan policies EN16 – Heritage
Assets and EN17 – Conservation Areas.

57
9

Agricultural Land
2.28 Wind energy development proposals should seek to minimise impact on the availability of the
land for food production; ensure that the land around the facility can continue to be used for
agricultural purposes and minimise disturbance to agricultural land and field boundary features.
2.29 When development is located on agricultural land it should be temporary, capable of removal
and reversible (i.e. at the end of the life of the development the land can be return to its predevelopment condition).

Residential Amenity
2.30 The relationship of renewable energy developments to residential amenity will need to be
addressed where nearby properties exist. The impact on the amenity of residential dwellings
must be considered.
2.31 Development will need to accord with the provisions of Local Plan Policy H11: Residential
Amenity with particular emphasis on identified impacts of dominance, flicker and overshadowing/
loss of light.
2.32 Noise implications from movement of the blades through the air and mechanical noise from the
generator and any associated gearbox require consideration. A noise report undertaken by a
qualified acoustician is required as part of any wind turbine planning application. This will enable
an assessment of the noise produced by the turbine, both on its own and cumulatively with any
other turbines in the area, and whether it will have an adverse effect on the amenity of nearby
noise sensitive premises (e.g. homes, schools).

Safety

2.33 Appropriate safety and site security measures should be taken for new sites. Consideration
should be given for the minimal length and height of security fencing in countryside locations.
Natural features, such as hedgerows should be used to assist in site security and/or screen
security fencing.
2.34 The use of security lighting should be minimised. Wherever possible passive infra-red technology
and lighting designed in a manner which minimises light pollution and impacts on biodiversity, in
particular bats, needs to be used.
2.35 When in close proximity to highways, turbines should wherever possible be located away from
junctions, tight bends and crossings. Highways England or Network Rail can advise for locations
near trunk roads or railway lines.

Aviation & Telecommunications
2.36 Implications for aviation and electromagnetic transmissions need to be addressed, a single wind
turbine can for instance cause air traffic safety problems due to representing a potential collision
risk for low flying aircraft, especially if near an aerodrome.
2.37 Wherever possible the siting of wind turbines should avoid radio and microwave signal corridors
and impacts upon domestic TV and radio reception. If this is not possible, mitigation measures
may be required.
2.38 The following Map (3 - Wind map) shows an overview of the wind sites assessed. Note; Not all
these sites are being consulted upon as options, following the SA/SEA and HRA process.

58
10

Legend
Areas identified for wind development,
without grid proximity and woodland constraint 2MW turbine allocated
Areas identified for wind development,
without grid proximity and woodland constraint 1MW turbine allocated

Landscape Sensitivity for Wind
Energy Development (Large 76-110m)
Moderate - High

Map 3 - Wind Map
© Crown copyright and database rights 2019 Ordnance Survey 100024292. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to, or interact with,
the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

59
11

High

´

Wind Site Options
List of Sites
Wind Site 1 - East of Kingscourt Farm, Dunsford
Wind Site 2 - North West of Bishopsteignton
Wind Site 3 – North East of Holcombe Burnell
Wind Site 4 – Colley Lane, Ideford
Wind Site 5 – East of Dunchideock
Wind Site 6 – North of Langdon Road, Dawlish
Wind Site 7 – Hamlyns Farm, Chudleigh
Wind Site 8 – West of Lower Thornton Farm, Kenn
Wind Site 9 – Telegraph Plantation
Wind Site 10 – South of Middle Rixdale Farm, Ideford
Wind Site 11 – North of Staddon Road, Dunsford
Wind Site 12 – West of Willsworthy Farm, Kenn
Wind Site 13 – East of Fordland Farm, Ide
Wind Site 14 – North of Bishopsteignton
Wind Site 15 – West of Tedburn St Mary
Wind Site 16 – South West of Ide
Wind Site 17 – West of Downhouse Farm
Wind Site 18 – Land by Exwick Woods
Wind Site 19 – West of Cockwood
Wind Site 20 – Ducks Brook, Tedburn St Mary
Wind Site 21 – Land North of West View Farm
Wind Site 22 – Powderham New Plantation
Wind Site 23 – South of Broadhempston
Wind Site 24 – North West of Tedburn St Mary
Wind Site 25 – Summercombe Woods, Dawlish
Wind Site 26 – South West of Staddon Road, Dunsford
Wind Site 27 – Upper Old Wheatley Farm, Exeter

60
12

North West of Tedburn St Mary

West of Downhouse Farm

Land by Exwick Woods

West of Tedburn St Mary
North East of Holcombe Burnell
Upper Old Wheatley Farm

Ducks Brook

East of Fordland Farm
South West of Ide

Land North West
View Farm

West of Lower Thornton Farm
North of Staddon Road

Powderham New Plantation

South West of Staddon Road
West of Willsworthy Farm

East of Kingscourt Farm
East of Dunchideock

Telegraph Plantation
West of Cockwood

Hamlyns Farm
North of
Langdon Road

Colley Lane

Summercombe Woods
North West of Bishopsteignton
South of Middle Rixdale Farm

North of Bishopsteignton

Legend
Plan Area Boundary
Area for 2MW Wind Turbine
Area for 1MW Wind Turbine

Landscape Sensitivity for Wind Energy
Development (Large 76-110m)
South West of Broadhempston

Moderate - High

District Overview of Wind Site Options
Scale:
1:150,000

© Crown copyright and database rights 2019 Ordnance Survey 100024292. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to, or interact with,
the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

61
13

High

´

Wind Site 1 - East of Kingscourt Farm, Dunsford
Ref: WS1
Address: East of Kingscourt Farm, Dunsford
Parish: Dunsford/Doddiscombsleigh
Size: 21ha
Description
The site is approximately 2.7km east of Dunsford village. It lies to the east of Kingscourt Farm and
Kolora Park, which are located to the east of the B3193 and south of the B3212 and Cotley Lane.
Potential Site Opportunities
• Low carbon energy production.
Potential Site Sensitivities
• Proximity to Dartmoor National Park (approx. 1.5km). The site may be visible from the National
Park, but the distance of the site from the National Park boundary will reduce its visual impact.
However, the level of harm will depend on siting, size and numbers of turbines introduced onto the
land.
• Within 10km of the Exe Estuary SAC/Ramsar Site/SSSI Dartmoor and South Dartmoor Woods
SACs.
• Proximity to Ancient Woodland.
• Cirl Bunting presence likely.
• Proximity to Unconfirmed Wildlife Sites at Eastern Hill and Lowley Woods, Goose Green, Cotley
Lane and Kingscourt Farm.
• Moderate – high landscape sensitivity.
• Setting of heritage assets.
• Residential amenity.

62
14

Legend
Plan Area Boundary
Area for 2MW Wind Turbine
Area for 1MW Wind Turbine

SAC
SPA
Ancient Woodland
Ancient Monument
Listed Building
Historic Park and Gardens

Landscape Sensitivity for Wind Energy
Development (Large 76-110m)
Moderate - High

0

High

50

100

Wind Map Site 1: East of Kingscourt Farm (21ha)

´

© Crown copyright and database rights 2019 Ordnance Survey 100024292. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to,
or interact with, the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

63
15

200 Meters

Wind Site 2 - North West of Bishopsteignton
Ref: WS2
Address: North west of Bishopsteignton
Parish: Bishopsteignton (small part Kingsteignton)
Size: 19ha
Description
The site lies to the south of Humber Lane and is approximately 1km north west of Bishopsteignton. It
includes land around Kiln Copse and Lendy Hill Copse.
Potential Site Opportunities
• Low carbon energy production.
Potential Site Sensitivities
• Within 10km of the Exe Estuary SPA/Ramsar Site/SSSI and Dawlish Warren SAC/NNR/SSSI.
• Proximity to Grey Long Eared Bat Maternity Roost, with potential for bat presence on site - further
investigation may result in the site being omitted from possible wind site options.
• Potential for Barbestelle bats - further investigation may result in the site being omitted from
possible wind site options.
• Within the South Hams SAC Landscape Connectivity Zone.
• Cirl Bunting presence likely.
• Proximity to County Wildlife Site at Ashwell and Unconfirmed Wildlife Site at Durley Wood.
• Great Crested Newt presence possible.
• High landscape sensitivity and possible views from the estuary.
• Setting of heritage assets.
• Residential amenity.
• Feedback from industry representatives that combination of ecology and landscape constraints
may discourage wind turbine developers.

64
16

Legend
Plan Area Boundary
Area for 2MW Wind Turbine
Area for 1MW Wind Turbine

SAC
SPA
Ancient Woodland
Ancient Monument
Listed Building
Historic Park and Gardens

Landscape Sensitivity for Wind Energy
Development (Large 76-110m)
Moderate - High

0

High

50

100

Wind Map Site 2: North West of Bishopsteignton (19ha)

´

© Crown copyright and database rights 2019 Ordnance Survey 100024292. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to,
or interact with, the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

65
17

200 Meters

Wind Site 3 – North East of Holcombe Burnell
Ref: WS3
Address: North East of Holcombe Burnell
Parish: Holcombe Burnell
Size: 19ha
Description
The site lies to the south west of the A30, and approximately 500m north of the B3212 through
Longdown.
Potential Site Opportunities
• Low carbon energy production.
Potential Site Sensitivities
• Within 10km of the Exe Estuary SPA/Ramsar Site/SSSI, Dawlish Warren SAC/NNR/SSSI and
Dartmoor SAC.
• Proximity to County Wildlife Sites at Cutteridge Farm Field and Springdale Farm, and Unconfirmed
Wildlife Site at Gultimore Brake.
• Moderate-high landscape sensitivity.
• Setting of heritage assets.
• Residential amenity.

66
18

Legend
Plan Area Boundary
Area for 2MW Wind Turbine
Area for 1MW Wind Turbine

SAC
SPA
Ancient Woodland
Ancient Monument
Listed Building
Historic Park and Gardens

Landscape Sensitivity for Wind Energy
Development (Large 76-110m)
Moderate - High

0

High

50

100

Wind Map Site 3: North East of Holcombe Burnell (19ha)

´

© Crown copyright and database rights 2019 Ordnance Survey 100024292. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to,
or interact with, the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

67
19

200 Meters

Wind Site 4 – Colley Lane
Ref: WS4
Address: Colley Lane, Ideford
Parish: Bishopsteignton
Size: 19ha
Description
The site lies to the west of the B3192 (Colley Lane) and east of Rixafer Road, approximately 1.1km
north of Luton and 1.4km north east of Ideford.
Potential Site Opportunities
• Low carbon energy production.
Potential Site Sensitivities
• Site overlaps a Sustenance Zone associated with Chudleigh Caves and Woods SSSI component
part of the South Hams Special Area of Conservation, with radio-tracked flyways and foraging
areas - further investigation may result in the site being omitted from possible wind site options.
• Adjacent to Haldon Heaths SSSI and within RSPB’s Haldon Important Bird Area (possible
candidate Special Area of Conservation) - further investigation required.
• Within 10km of the Exe Estuary SPA/Ramsar Site/SSSI and Dawlish Warren SAC/NNR/SSSI.
• Cirl Bunting presence likely.
• Proximity to Lower Charlwood Copse Ancient Woodland and County Wildlife Sites at Higher
Charlwood (secondary woodland, with willow stands developed over former heath/mire) and
Charlwood Copse (ancient woodland & plantation on ancient woodland site)
• Great Crested Newt presence possible.
• High landscape sensitivity.
• Setting of heritage assets.
• Residential amenity.

68
20

Legend
Plan Area Boundary
Area for 2MW Wind Turbine
Area for 1MW Wind Turbine

SAC
SPA
Ancient Woodland
Ancient Monument
Listed Building
Historic Park and Gardens

Landscape Sensitivity for Wind Energy
Development (Large 76-110m)
Moderate - High

0

High

50

100

Wind Map Site 4: Colley Lane (19ha)

´

© Crown copyright and database rights 2019 Ordnance Survey 100024292. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to,
or interact with, the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

69
21

200 Meters

Wind Site 5 – East of Dunchideock
Ref: WS5
Address: East of Dunchideock
Parish: Dunchideock and Kenn
Size: 18ha
Description
The site lies approximately 1km south east of Dunchideock and approximately 700m south west of
Clapham.
Potential Site Opportunities
• Low carbon energy production.
Potential Site Sensitivities
• Within 10km of the Exe Estuary SPA/Ramsar Site/SSSI and Dartmoor and South Dartmoor Woods
SACs.
• Within the South Hams SAC Landscape Connectivity Zone and nearby Greater Horseshoe Bat
roost.
• Proximity to Haldon Heath SSSI (heath & conifer plantation on a former heathland site and bird &
invertebrate interest).
• Proximity to Unconfirmed Wildlife Sites at Lower Byes (broadleaved woodland), Dunchideock
(broadleaved woodland & semi-improved neutral grassland) and Borough Woods (broadleaved
woodland).
• High and moderate – high landscape sensitivity.
• Setting of heritage assets – most notably Grade II* Listed Haldon Belvedere, whose setting is
likely to be affected by wind turbine development - further investigation required.
• Residential amenity.
• Feedback from industry representatives that proximity to prominent Grade II* Listed Building may
discourage wind turbine developers.

70
22

Legend
Plan Area Boundary
Area for 2MW Wind Turbine
Area for 1MW Wind Turbine

SAC
SPA
Ancient Woodland
Ancient Monument
Listed Building
Historic Park and Gardens

Landscape Sensitivity for Wind Energy
Development (Large 76-110m)
Moderate - High

0

High

50

100

Wind Map Site 5: East of Dunchideock (18ha)

´

© Crown copyright and database rights 2019 Ordnance Survey 100024292. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to,
or interact with, the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

71
23

200 Meters

Wind Site 6 – North of Langdon Road, Dawlish
Ref: WS6
Address: North of Langdon Road, Dawlish
Parish: Dawlish
Size: 18ha
Description
The site lies to the north of Dawlish. It extends from Langdon Hospital towards Langdon Road and
recent and allocated development to the north of Dawlish.
Potential Site Opportunities
• Low carbon energy production.
Potential Site Sensitivities
• Within 2km of the Exe Estuary SAC/Ramsar Site/SSSI and Dawlish Warren SAC/NNR/SSSI.
• Within the South Hams SAC Landscape Connectivity Zone.
• Cirl Bunting presence likely.
• Proximity of Langdon Fields County Wildlife Site (mixed farmland with bird interest) and Langdon
Copse Unconfirmed Wildlife Site (broadleaved woodland and semi-improved grassland).
• High landscape sensitivity.
• Setting of heritage assets.
• Residential amenity of existing dwellings.
• Feedback from industry representatives that proximity of large scale existing hospital and allocated
residential development may discourage wind turbine developers.

72
24

Legend
Plan Area Boundary
Area for 2MW Wind Turbine
Area for 1MW Wind Turbine

SAC
SPA
Ancient Woodland
Ancient Monument
Listed Building
Historic Park and Gardens

Landscape Sensitivity for Wind Energy
Development (Large 76-110m)
Moderate - High

0

High

50

100

Wind Map Site 6: North of Langdon Road (18ha)

´

© Crown copyright and database rights 2019 Ordnance Survey 100024292. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to,
or interact with, the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

73
25

200 Meters

Wind Site 7 – Hamlyns Farm, Chudleigh
Ref: WS7
Address: Hamlyns Farm, Chudleigh
Parish: Chudleigh
Size: 17ha
Description
The site lies to the north of the A38, approximately 1.5km east of Trusham. It is situated between
Emridge Woods and Whiteway Wood.
Potential Site Opportunities
• Low carbon energy production.
Potential Site Sensitivities
• Within 10km of the Exe Estuary SPA/Ramsar Site/SSSI and Dartmoor and South Dartmoor Woods
SACs.
• Within the South Hams SAC Sustenance Zone and Landscape Connectivity Zone - further
investigation may result in the site being omitted from possible wind site options.
• Proximity to Haldon Forest SSSI (heath & conifer plantation on a former heathland site. Bird &
invertebrate interest) - further investigation may result in the site being omitted from possible wind
site options.
• Proximity to Ancient Woodland.
• Proximity to Unconfirmed Wildlife Sites at Whiteway House (parkland), Hamlyns Farm (old orchard
and semi-improved/ unimproved grassland), Higher Ranscombe (semi-improved/ unimproved
grassland), Higher Ranscombe Bridge (possible unimproved/SI grassland) and Lower Ranscombe
(unimproved neutral grassland).
• Cirl Bunting presence likely.
• Great Crested Newt presence likely due to adjacent ponds.
• Combination of ecology constraints may discourage wind turbine developers.
• Moderate - high landscape sensitivity.
• Setting of heritage assets.
• Residential amenity.
• Feedback from industry representatives that significant ecology constraints would be likely to
discourage wind turbine developers.

74
26

Legend
Plan Area Boundary
Area for 2MW Wind Turbine
Area for 1MW Wind Turbine

SAC
SPA
Ancient Woodland
Ancient Monument
Listed Building
Historic Park and Gardens

Landscape Sensitivity for Wind Energy
Development (Large 76-110m)
Moderate - High

0

High

50

100

Wind Map Site 7: Hamlyns Farm (17ha)

´

© Crown copyright and database rights 2019 Ordnance Survey 100024292. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to,
or interact with, the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

75
27

200 Meters

Wind Site 8 – West of Lower Thornton Farm, Kenn
Ref: WS8
Address: West of Thornton Farm, Kenn
Parish: Kenn
Size: 17ha
Description
The site lies approximately 500m east of the A380 at Telegraph Hill and to the south of St Andrew’s
Lane public right of way.
Potential Site Opportunities
• Low carbon energy production.
Potential Site Sensitivities
• Within 10km of the Exe Estuary SPA/Ramsar Site/SSSI and Dawlish Warren SAC/NNR/SSSI.
• Within the South Hams SAC Landscape Connectivity Zone.
• Cirl Bunting presence likely.
• Proximity to Unconfirmed Wildlife Sites at Bickham Wood, Bickham Farm and Bickham House.
• Great Crested Newt presence possible.
• Moderate - high landscape sensitivity.
• Setting of heritage assets.
• Residential amenity.
• Feedback from industry representatives that proximity to the village may discourage wind turbine
developers.

76
28

Legend
Plan Area Boundary
Area for 2MW Wind Turbine
Area for 1MW Wind Turbine

SAC
SPA
Ancient Woodland
Ancient Monument
Listed Building
Historic Park and Gardens

Landscape Sensitivity for Wind Energy
Development (Large 76-110m)
Moderate - High

0

High

50

100

Wind Map Site 8: West of Lower Thornton Farm (17ha)

´

© Crown copyright and database rights 2019 Ordnance Survey 100024292. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to,
or interact with, the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

77
29

200 Meters

Wind Site 9 – Telegraph Plantation
Ref: WS9
Address: Telegraph Plantation
Parish: Kenn and Kenton
Size: 16ha
Description
The site lies approximately 600m east of the A380 and 600m north west of Oxton House. It is situated
mainly to the north of Holloway Lane public right of way.
Potential Site Opportunities
• Low carbon energy production
Potential Site Sensitivities
• Within 10km of the Exe Estuary SPA/Ramsar Site/SSSI and Dawlish Warren SAC/NNR/SSSI.
• Within the South Hams SAC Landscape Connectivity Zone.
• Cirl Bunting presence likely.
• Great Crested Newt presence possible.
• Moderate - high landscape sensitivity.
• Setting of heritage assets, including Oxton Registered Park and Garden, which lies in close
proximity to parts of the site.
• Residential amenity.
• Feedback from industry representatives that topography may be a constraint, as the site lies on
the leeward side of a hill (ie more sheltered from the prevailing wind direction).

78
30

Legend
Plan Area Boundary
Area for 2MW Wind Turbine
Area for 1MW Wind Turbine

SAC
SPA
Ancient Woodland
Ancient Monument
Listed Building
Historic Park and Gardens

Landscape Sensitivity for Wind Energy
Development (Large 76-110m)
Moderate - High

0

High

50

100

Wind Map Site 9: Telegraph Plantation (16ha)

´

© Crown copyright and database rights 2019 Ordnance Survey 100024292. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to,
or interact with, the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

79
31

200 Meters

Wind Site 10 – South of Middle Rixdale Farm, Ideford
Ref: WS10
Address: South of Middle Rixdale Farm, Ideford
Parish: Bishopsteignton
Size: 16ha
Description
The site to the west of the B3192 (Colley Lane), approximately 500m east of Luton.
Potential Site Opportunities
• Low carbon energy production.
Potential Site Sensitivities
• Within 10km of the Exe Estuary SPA/Ramsar Site/SSSI and Dawlish Warren SAC/NNR/SSSI.
• Within the South Hams SAC Landscape Connectivity Zone, with radio tracked bat flyways.
• Within area highlighted for Selected Priority Species, which is likely to include grey long eared bats
- further investigation further investigation required.
• Proximity to Little Haldon Heaths SSSI (wet and dry heath, lowland bog, Molinia mire, rush
pasture, unimproved acidic grassland, wet secondary broadleaved woodland, alder & willow carr &
pin) - further investigation required.
• Proximity to County Wildlife Site Little Haldon (N) (heath with associated acid grassland, wet
woodland and scrub and small patches of wet heath, rush pasture & bracken) that functions as
Functionally Linked Land to the SSSI - further investigation required.
• Within RSPB’s Haldon Important Bird Area (possible candidate Special Area of Conservation) further investigation required.
• Cirl Bunting presence likely.
• Great Crested Newt presence possible.
• High landscape sensitivity.
• Setting of heritage assets.
• Residential amenity.

80
32

Legend
Plan Area Boundary
Area for 2MW Wind Turbine
Area for 1MW Wind Turbine

SAC
SPA
Ancient Woodland
Ancient Monument
Listed Building
Historic Park and Gardens

Landscape Sensitivity for Wind Energy
Development (Large 76-110m)
Moderate - High

0

High

50

100

Wind Map Site 10: South of Middle Rixdale Farm (16ha)

´

© Crown copyright and database rights 2019 Ordnance Survey 100024292. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to,
or interact with, the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

81
33

200 Meters

Wind Site 11 – North of Staddon Road, Dunsford
Ref: WS11
Address: North of Staddon Road, Dunsford
Parish: Dunsford
Size: 13ha
Description
The site lies to the north of Staddon Road, approximately 2km north of Dunsford.
Potential Site Opportunities
• Low carbon energy production.
Potential Site Sensitivities
• Proximity to Dartmoor National Park (approx. 600m from boundary). Discussion has taken place
with Dartmoor National Park Authority, which has strong concerns about the development of
the site, because of the potential for a harmful effect on the setting of the National Park. The
significance of this impact will depend on the position of the turbine, its size and whether multiple
turbines are introduced into this landscape - further investigation required.
• Within 10km of Dartmoor and Dartmoor Woods SACs.
• Proximity to County Wildlife Site at Moor Field (unimproved neutral grassland with small areas
of semi-improved neutral grassland and marshy grassland), Other Site of Wildlife Interest at
Brookdown Fields (semi-improved neutral grassland) and Unconfirmed Wildlife Site at Staddon
Road Wood (broadleaved woodland).
• Proximity to streams and woodland.
• Cirl Bunting presence likely.
• Mainly moderate - high landscape sensitivity.
• Setting of heritage assets.
• Residential amenity.
• Feedback from industry representatives that proximity to Dartmoor National Park is likely to
discourage wind turbine developers.

82
34

Legend
Plan Area Boundary
Area for 2MW Wind Turbine
Area for 1MW Wind Turbine

SAC
SPA
Ancient Woodland
Ancient Monument
Listed Building
Historic Park and Gardens

Landscape Sensitivity for Wind Energy
Development (Large 76-110m)
Moderate - High

0

High

50

100

Wind Map Site 11: North of Staddon Road(13ha)

´

© Crown copyright and database rights 2019 Ordnance Survey 100024292. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to,
or interact with, the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

83
35

200 Meters

Wind Site 12 – West of Willsworthy Farm
Ref: WS12
Address: West of Willsworthy Farm, Kenn
Parish: Kenton
Size: 13ha
Description
The site lies to the south of the River Kenn, at Babel’s Bridge. It is approximately 1.3km south east of
Kennford and approximately 2.3km north west of Kenton.
Potential Site Opportunities
• Low carbon energy production
Potential Site Sensitivities
• Within 10km of the Exe Estuary SPA/Ramsar Site/SSSI and Dawlish Warren SAC/NNR/SSSI
• Within the South Hams SAC Landscape Connectivity Zone
• Proximity to Ancient Woodland
• Cirl Bunting presence likely
• High landscape sensitivity
• Setting of heritage assets
• Residential amenity

84
36

Legend
Plan Area Boundary
Area for 2MW Wind Turbine
Area for 1MW Wind Turbine

SAC
SPA
Ancient Woodland
Ancient Monument
Listed Building
Historic Park and Gardens

Landscape Sensitivity for Wind Energy
Development (Large 76-110m)
Moderate - High

0

High

50

100

Wind Map Site 12: West of Willsworthy Farm (13ha)

´

© Crown copyright and database rights 2019 Ordnance Survey 100024292. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to,
or interact with, the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

85
37

200 Meters

Wind Site 13 – East of Fordland Farm, Ide
Ref: WS13
Address: East of Fordland Farm, Ide
Parish: Ide
Size: 13ha
Description
The site lies between Fordland Bottom Road and Halscombe Road, approximately 1.1km west of Ide.
Potential Site Opportunities
• Low carbon energy production
Potential Site Sensitivities
• Within 10km of the Exe Estuary SPA/Ramsar Site/SSSI and Dartmoor and Dartmoor Woods SACs
• Proximity to Ancient Woodland
• Proximity to Unconfirmed Wildlife Sites at Pollard Hill Brakes Ancient Replanted Woodland and
Chillies Copse (semi-improved neutral grassland & broadleaved woodland) and to the potential
RIGS along the dismantled railway line through Pollards Hill Brake, Perridge Wood and Cotley
Wood.
• High and moderate – high landscape sensitivity
• Setting of heritage assets
• Residential amenity
• Feedback from industry representatives that proximity to the village of Ide, including the village
school and church, may discourage wind turbine developers

86
38

Legend
Plan Area Boundary
Area for 2MW Wind Turbine
Area for 1MW Wind Turbine

SAC
SPA
Ancient Woodland
Ancient Monument
Listed Building
Historic Park and Gardens

Landscape Sensitivity for Wind Energy
Development (Large 76-110m)
Moderate - High

0

High

50

100

Wind Map Site 13: East of Fordland Farm (13ha)

´

© Crown copyright and database rights 2019 Ordnance Survey 100024292. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to,
or interact with, the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

87
39

200 Meters

Wind Site 14 – North of Bishopsteignton
Ref: WS14
Address: North of Bishopsteignton
Parish: Dunsford/Doddiscombsleigh
Size: 74ha
Description
The site lies to the west of Teignmouth Golf Club, approximately 500m south east of Luton to the east
of the B3193 and south of the B3212 and Cotley Lane.
Potential Site Opportunities
• Low carbon energy production
Potential Site Sensitivities
• Within 10km of the Exe Estuary SPA/Ramsar Site/SSSI and Dawlish Warren SAC/NNR/SSSI
• Within the Landscape Connectivity Zone associated with the South Hams SAC, with radio tracked
bat flyways.
• Proximity to Grey Long Eared Bat Maternity Roost, with radio tracked foraging bat presence on
site - further investigation may result in the site being omitted from possible wind site options
• Potential for Barbastelle bats, with radio tracked foraging bat presence on site - further
investigation may result in the site being omitted from possible wind site options
• Cirl Bunting presence likely
• Great Crested Newt presence likely due to ponds
• Proximity to Little Haldon Heaths SSSI (wet and dry heath, lowland bog, Molinia mire, rush
pasture, unimproved acidic grassland, wet secondary broadleaved woodland, alder & willow carr &
pin) - further investigation may result in the site being omitted from possible wind site options
• Within RSPB’s Haldon Important Bird Area (possible candidate Special Area of Conservation)
• Proximity to County Wildlife Sites at Marsden Farm Heath (wet & dry heath, lowland bog, rush
pasture, semi-improved acidic grassland and secondary broadleaved woodland) and Teignmouth
Golf Course (mosaic of heath and acidic grassland) which is Functionally Linked Land for the SSSI
- further investigation may result in the site being omitted from possible wind site options
• Proximity to Unconfirmed Wildlife Sites at Higher Barn Field (unimproved neutral grassland),
Broom Down Strip (broadleaved woodland) and Humber Down (conifer plantation on heathland
site).
• High landscape sensitivity and close to sensitive coastal landscape
• Setting of heritage assets
• Residential amenity
• Feedback from industry representatives that the combination of ecology and landscape constraints
is likely to discourage wind turbine developers

88
40

Legend
Plan Area Boundary
Area for 2MW Wind Turbine
Area for 1MW Wind Turbine

SAC
SPA
Ancient Woodland
Ancient Monument
Listed Building
Historic Park and Gardens

Landscape Sensitivity for Wind Energy
Development (Large 76-110m)
Moderate - High

0

High

125

250

Wind Map Site 14: North of Bishopsteignton (74ha)

´

© Crown copyright and database rights 2019 Ordnance Survey 100024292. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to,
or interact with, the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

89
41

500 Meters

Wind Site 15 – West of Tedburn St Mary
Ref: WS15
Address: West of Tedburn St Mary
Parish: Tedburn St Mary
Size: 51ha
Description
The site lies to the north west of Golds Cross, approximately 1km west of Tedburn St Mary.
Potential Site Opportunities
• Low carbon energy production
Potential Site Sensitivities
• Proximity to Dartmoor National Park. The site may be visible from the National Park, but the
distance of the site from the National Park boundary will reduce its visual impact. However, the
level of harm will depend on siting, size and numbers of turbines introduced onto the land.
• Within 10km of Dartmoor and Dartmoor Woods SACs
• Withycombe Farm (E) Unconfirmed Wildlife Site (semi-improved neutral grassland & broadleaved
woodland).
• Proximity to woodland and small watercourses with ecological value
• High landscape sensitivity
• Setting of heritage assets
• Residential amenity

90
42

Legend
Plan Area Boundary
Area for 2MW Wind Turbine
Area for 1MW Wind Turbine

SAC
SPA
Ancient Woodland
Ancient Monument
Listed Building
Historic Park and Gardens

Landscape Sensitivity for Wind Energy
Development (Large 76-110m)
Moderate - High

0

High

100

200

Wind Map Site 15: West of Tedburn St Mary (51ha)

´

© Crown copyright and database rights 2019 Ordnance Survey 100024292. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to,
or interact with, the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

91
43

400 Meters

Wind Site 16 – South West of Ide
Ref: WS16
Address: South West of Ide
Parish: Ide
Size: 44ha
Description
The site lies approximately 1.6km north of Dunchideock, to the south west of Whiddon Farm and
Halscombe Farm. It is approximately 1.5km south west of Ide.
Potential Site Opportunities
• Low carbon energy production
Potential Site Sensitivities
• Within 10km of the Exe Estuary SPA/Ramsar Site/SSSI and Dartmoor and Dartmoor Woods SACs
• Proximity to Knowle Quarry Regionally Important Geological Site and Unconfirmed Wildlife
Site (broadleaved woodland), Pollards Hill Brakes Unconfirmed Wildlife Site (ancient woodland
& plantation on ancient woodland site) and potential Regionally Important Geological Site at
Whiddon Farm
• High landscape sensitivity
• Setting of heritage assets
• Residential amenity

92
44

Legend
Plan Area Boundary
Area for 2MW Wind Turbine
Area for 1MW Wind Turbine

SAC
SPA
Ancient Woodland
Ancient Monument
Listed Building
Historic Park and Gardens

Landscape Sensitivity for Wind Energy
Development (Large 76-110m)
Moderate - High

0

High

100

200

Wind Map Site 16: South West of Ide (44ha)

´

© Crown copyright and database rights 2019 Ordnance Survey 100024292. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to,
or interact with, the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

93
45

400 Meters

Wind Site 17 – West of Downhouse Farm
Ref: WS17
Address: West of Downhouse Farm
Parish: Holcombe Burnell
Size: 42ha
Description
The site lies approximately 600m south of the south of the A30 at Pathfinder Village.
Potential Site Opportunities
• Low carbon energy production
Potential Site Sensitivities
• Proximity to Dartmoor National Park. The site may be visible from the National Park, but the
distance of the site from the National Park boundary will reduce its visual impact. However, the
level of harm will depend on siting, size and numbers of turbines introduced onto the land.
• Within 10km of Dartmoor and Dartmoor Woods SACs, and a small part of the easternmost part of
the site lies within 10km of the Exe Estuary SPA/Ramsar Site/SSSI
• Proximity of Unconfirmed Wildlife Sites at Pitt Farm (unimproved neutral grassland & scrub) South
Lendon UWS (broadleaved woodland), Pit Plantation (broadleaved woodland), Brinning Copse
(broadleaved woodland), Grattons Plantation (broadleaved woodland) and Bilsden Plantation
(broadleaved woodland).
• Cirl Bunting presence likely
• High and moderate - high landscape sensitivity
• Setting of heritage assets
• Residential amenity

94
46

Legend
Plan Area Boundary
Area for 2MW Wind Turbine
Area for 1MW Wind Turbine

SAC
SPA
Ancient Woodland
Ancient Monument
Listed Building
Historic Park and Gardens

Landscape Sensitivity for Wind Energy
Development (Large 76-110m)
Moderate - High

0

High

100

200

Wind Map Site 17: West of Downhouse Farm (42ha)

´

© Crown copyright and database rights 2019 Ordnance Survey 100024292. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to,
or interact with, the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

95
47

400 Meters

Wind Site 18 – Land by Exwick Woods
Ref: WS18
Address: Land by Exwick Woods, Exeter
Parish: Whitestone
Size: 37ha
Description
The site lies approximately 600m north west of development on the north west edge of Exeter at
Exwick, to the east of Rowhorne Road. It is adjacent to the boundaries with East Devon and Exeter
City.
Potential Site Opportunities
• Low carbon energy production
Potential Site Sensitivities
• Within 10km of the Exe Estuary SPA/Ramsar Site/SSSI and Dartmoor and Dartmoor Woods SACs
• Proximity to Ancient Woodland of Exwick Wood
• Proximity to Unconfirmed Wildlife Sites of Bolsters Wood (broadleaved woodland), Woodend
(broadleaved woodland), Higher Plantation (broadleaved woodland) and Coldharbour Copse
(broadleaved woodland)
• Great Crested Newt presence possible
• High landscape sensitivity
• Setting of heritage assets
• Residential amenity
• Feedback from industry representatives that the proximity of large scale residential development in
Exeter may discourage wind turbine developers

96
48

Legend
Plan Area Boundary
Area for 2MW Wind Turbine
Area for 1MW Wind Turbine

SAC
SPA
Ancient Woodland
Ancient Monument
Listed Building
Historic Park and Gardens

Landscape Sensitivity for Wind Energy
Development (Large 76-110m)
Moderate - High

0

High

100

200

Wind Map Site 18: Land by Exwick Woods (37ha)

´

© Crown copyright and database rights 2019 Ordnance Survey 100024292. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to,
or interact with, the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

97
49

400 Meters

Wind Site 19 – West of Cockwood
Ref: WS19
Address: West of Cockwood
Parish: Starcross
Size: 36ha
Description
The site lies to the north west of the A379 at Cofton, approximately 600m north west of Cockwood and
approximately 700m south west of Starcross.
Potential Site Opportunities
• Low carbon energy production
Potential Site Sensitivities
• Within 1km of the Exe Estuary SPA/Ramsar Site/SSSI - further investigation may result in the site
being screened out if it is a migration route for SPA birds
• Within 10km of Dawlish Warren SAC/NNR/SSSI
• Half of site within the South Hams SAC Landscape Connectivity Zone
• Cirl Bunting presence likely
• High landscape sensitivity and part of site is within sensitive coastal landscape
• Setting of heritage assets
• Residential amenity

98
50

Legend
Plan Area Boundary
Area for 2MW Wind Turbine
Area for 1MW Wind Turbine

SAC
SPA
Ancient Woodland
Ancient Monument
Listed Building
Historic Park and Gardens

Landscape Sensitivity for Wind Energy
Development (Large 76-110m)
Moderate - High

0

High

100

200

Wind Map Site 19: West of Cockwood (36ha)

´

© Crown copyright and database rights 2019 Ordnance Survey 100024292. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to,
or interact with, the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

99
51

400 Meters

Wind Site 20 – Ducks Brook, Tedburn St Mary
Ref: WS20
Address: Ducks Brook, Tedburn St Mary
Parish: Tedburn St Mary and Dunsford
Size: 32ha
Description
The site lies approximately 600m south of the A30 at Tedburn St Mary.
Potential Site Opportunities
• Low carbon energy production
Potential Site Sensitivities
• Proximity to Dartmoor National Park. The site may be visible from the National Park, but the
distance of the site from the National Park boundary will reduce its visual impact. However, the
level of harm will depend on siting, size and numbers of turbines introduced onto the land.
• Within 10km of Dartmoor and Dartmoor Woods SACs
• Proximity of Duck’s Brook County Wildlife Site (unimproved & semi-improved neutral grassland)
and Unconfirmed Wildlife Sites at Wilderness Plantation (orchard), Hackworthy Brakes (plantation
& open areas with bracken) and North Halstow (orchard)
• Mainly moderate - high landscape sensitivity
• Setting of heritage assets
• Residential amenity

100
52

Legend
Plan Area Boundary
Area for 2MW Wind Turbine
Area for 1MW Wind Turbine

SAC
SPA
Ancient Woodland
Ancient Monument
Listed Building
Historic Park and Gardens

Landscape Sensitivity for Wind Energy
Development (Large 76-110m)
Moderate - High

0

High

100

200

Wind Map Site 20: Ducks Brook (32ha)

´

© Crown copyright and database rights 2019 Ordnance Survey 100024292. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to,
or interact with, the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

101
53

400 Meters

Wind Site 21 – Land North of West View Farm
Ref: WS21
Address: Land North of West View Farm, near Pathfinder Village
Parish: Dunsford
Size: 32ha
Description
The site lies approximately 1km south of the A30 at Pathfinder Village. It is situated to the east of
Bilsdon and north of West View Farm.
Potential Site Opportunities
• Low carbon energy production
Potential Site Sensitivities
• Proximity to Dartmoor National Park. The site may be visible from the National Park, but the
distance of the site from the National Park boundary will reduce its visual impact. However, the
level of harm will depend on siting, size and numbers of turbines introduced onto the land.
• Within 10km of Dartmoor and Dartmoor Woods SACs
• Cirl Bunting presence likely
• Proximity to County Wildlife Site at Holehill Field CWS (wet & dry semi-improved neutral
grassland, gorse & bracken) and Unconfirmed Wildlife Sites at Brinning Copse (broadleaved
woodland), Bilsdon Plantation (broadleaved woodland) and Higher Pitt Farm (unimproved neutral
grassland & scrub)
• Moderate - high landscape sensitivity
• Setting of heritage assets
• Residential amenity

102
54

Legend
Plan Area Boundary
Area for 2MW Wind Turbine
Area for 1MW Wind Turbine

SAC
SPA
Ancient Woodland
Ancient Monument
Listed Building
Historic Park and Gardens

Landscape Sensitivity for Wind Energy
Development (Large 76-110m)
Moderate - High

0

High

100

200

Wind Map Site 21: Land North West View Farm (31ha)

´

© Crown copyright and database rights 2019 Ordnance Survey 100024292. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to,
or interact with, the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

103
55

400 Meters

Wind Site 22 – Powderham New Plantation
Ref: WS22
Address: Powderham New Plantation
Parish: Powderham (small area within Exminster)
Size: 31ha
Description
The site lies to the north of Powderham New Plantation, approximately 1.4km north east of Kennford
and 1.3km south west of Exminster.
Potential Site Opportunities
• Low carbon energy production
Potential Site Sensitivities
• Within 10km of the Exe Estuary SPA/Ramsar Site/SSSI and Dawlish Warren SAC/NNR/SSSI
• Cirl Bunting presence likely
• Possible Greater Horseshoe Bats at easternmost part of site lies within the South Hams SAC
Landscape Connectivity Zone
• High landscape sensitivity and within 550m of sensitive coastal landscape
• Setting of heritage assets, in particular the Grade II* Registered Park and Garden at Powderham
Castle Pleasure Gardens
• Residential amenity

104
56

Legend
Plan Area Boundary
Area for 2MW Wind Turbine
Area for 1MW Wind Turbine

SAC
SPA
Ancient Woodland
Ancient Monument
Listed Building
Historic Park and Gardens

Landscape Sensitivity for Wind Energy
Development (Large 76-110m)
Moderate - High

0

High

75

150

Wind Map Site 22: Powderham New Plantation (31ha)

´

© Crown copyright and database rights 2019 Ordnance Survey 100024292. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to,
or interact with, the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

105
57

300 Meters

Wind Site 23 – South of Broadhempston
Ref: WS23
Address: South of Broadhempston
Parish: Broadhempston and Denbury & Torbryan
Size: 26ha
Description
The site lies approximately 450m south of the southern part of the village of Braodhempston, to the
south of Wottons Farm and Greyface Farm.
Potential Site Opportunities
• Low carbon energy production
Potential Site Sensitivities
• Within 10km of Dartmoor and Dartmoor Woods SACs
• Within the Landscape Connectivity Zone associated with the South Hams SAC
• Cirl Bunting presence likely
• Great Crested Newt presence likely due to ponds
• High landscape sensitivity
• Setting of heritage assets
• Residential amenity
• Feedback from industry representatives that the proximity to Broadhempston and South Hams
villages may discourage wind turbine developers

106
58

Legend
Plan Area Boundary
Area for 2MW Wind Turbine
Area for 1MW Wind Turbine

SAC
SPA
Ancient Woodland
Ancient Monument
Listed Building
Historic Park and Gardens

Landscape Sensitivity for Wind Energy
Development (Large 76-110m)
Moderate - High

0

High

100

200

Wind Map Site 23: South West of Broadhempston (26ha)

´

© Crown copyright and database rights 2019 Ordnance Survey 100024292. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to,
or interact with, the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

107
59

400 Meters

Wind Site 24 – North West of Tedburn St Mary
Ref: WS24
Address: North West of Tedburn St Mary
Parish: Tedburn St Mary
Size: 29ha
Description
The site lies approximately 1.5 km north/north west of Tedburn St Mary, adjacent to the boundary with
Mid Devon, to the west of the River Ted.
Potential Site Opportunities
• Low carbon energy production
Potential Site Sensitivities
• Within 10km of Dartmoor and Dartmoor Woods SACs
• Within the Landscape Connectivity Zone associated with the South Hams SAC
• Cirl Bunting presence likely
• Great Crested Newt presence likely due to ponds
• High landscape sensitivity
• Setting of heritage assets
• Residential amenity

108
60

Legend
Plan Area Boundary
Area for 2MW Wind Turbine
Area for 1MW Wind Turbine

SAC
SPA
Ancient Woodland
Ancient Monument
Listed Building
Historic Park and Gardens

Landscape Sensitivity for Wind Energy
Development (Large 76-110m)
Moderate - High

0

High

50

100

Wind Map Site 24: North West of Tedburn St Mary (29ha)

´

© Crown copyright and database rights 2019 Ordnance Survey 100024292. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to,
or interact with, the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

109
61

200 Meters

Wind Site 25 – Summercombe Woods, Dawlish
Ref: WS25
Address: Summercombe Woods, Dawlish
Parish: Dawlish
Size: 26ha
Description
The site lies to the east of Summercombe Wood, approximately 1.3km west of Dawlish, to the north of
Luscombe Hill and to the south west of Greenway Lane.
Potential Site Opportunities
• Low carbon energy production
Potential Site Sensitivities
• Within 10km of the Exe Estuary SPA/Ramsar Site/SSSI and Dawlish Warren SAC/NNR/SSSI
• Within the Landscape Connectivity Zone associated with the South Hams SAC
• Cirl Bunting presence likely
• Great Crested Newt presence possible
• Proximity to Ancient Woodland and Unconfirmed Wildlife Sites at The Moors (unimproved
neutral grassland and broadleaved woodland) Luscombe Woods (ancient woodland), Rixdale
Wood (broadleaved woodland, unimproved and semi-improved grassland) and Greenway Lane
(broadleaved woodland).
• High landscape sensitivity
• Setting of heritage assets including the Grade I Listed Registered Park and Garden of Luscombe
Castle, which is adjacent to the site

110
62

Legend
Plan Area Boundary
Area for 2MW Wind Turbine
Area for 1MW Wind Turbine

SAC
SPA
Ancient Woodland
Ancient Monument
Listed Building
Historic Park and Gardens

Landscape Sensitivity for Wind Energy
Development (Large 76-110m)
Moderate - High

0

High

50

100

Wind Map Site 25: Summercombe Woods (26ha)

´

© Crown copyright and database rights 2019 Ordnance Survey 100024292. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to,
or interact with, the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

111
63

200 Meters

Wind Site 26 – South West of Staddon Road, Dunsford
Ref: WS26
Address: South West of Staddon Road, Dunsford
Parish: Dunsford
Size: 23ha
Description
The site lies to the south east of Staddon Road and north east of Fulford Road, approximately 1.3km
north of Dunsford.
Potential Site Opportunities
• Low carbon energy production
Potential Site Sensitivities
• Proximity to Dartmoor National Park (approx. 450m from boundary). Discussion has taken place
with Dartmoor National Park Authority, which has strong concerns about the development of
the site, because of the harmful effect on the setting of the National Park. The significance of
this impact will depend on the position of the turbine, its size and whether multiple turbines are
introduced into this landscape - further investigation may result in the site being omitted from
possible wind site options
• Within 10km of Dartmoor and Dartmoor Woods SACs
• Proximity to Moor Field County Wildlife Site (unimproved neutral grassland with small areas of
semi-improved neutral grassland and marshy grassland) and Staddon Road Wood Unconfirmed
Wildlife Site (broadleaved woodland)
• Cirl Bunting presence likely.
• High landscape sensitivity
• Setting of heritage assets
• Residential amenity

112
64

Legend
Plan Area Boundary
Area for 2MW Wind Turbine
Area for 1MW Wind Turbine

SAC
SPA
Ancient Woodland
Ancient Monument
Listed Building
Historic Park and Gardens

Landscape Sensitivity for Wind Energy
Development (Large 76-110m)
Moderate - High

0

High

50

100

Wind Map Site 26: South West of Staddon Road (23ha)

´

© Crown copyright and database rights 2019 Ordnance Survey 100024292. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to,
or interact with, the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

113
65

200 Meters

Wind Site 27 – Upper Old Wheatley Farm, Exeter
Ref: WS27
Address: Upper Old Wheatley Farm, Exeter
Parish: Holcombe Burnell
Size: 23ha
Description
The site lies to the north east of the A30, and west of Nadderwater Brook, approximately 500m west of
the edge of Exeter at Redhills.
Potential Site Opportunities
• Low carbon energy production
Potential Site Sensitivities
• Within 10km of the Exe Estuary SPA/Ramsar Site/SSSI and Dartmoor and Dartmoor Woods SACs
• Proximity to County Wildlife Sites at Upper Old Wheatley Farm (unimproved grassland on steep
slopes forming a valley. Semi-improved grassland and improved grassland also present), Old
Wheatley Field (unimproved neutral grassland on a steep slope), Whitestone Valley Park (large
site mostly supporting woodland and unimproved grassland) and Spring Brake (pasture & semiimproved neutral grassland) and Unconfirmed Wildlife Site at Attwells Farm (unimproved & semiimproved neutral grassland)
• Great Crested Newt presence possible
• Moderate - high landscape sensitivity - potential impact resulting from its hillside position within the
rural setting of Exeter
• Setting of heritage assets
• Residential amenity
• Feedback from industry representatives that the proximity to the large population within the urban
area of Exeter is likely to discourage wind turbine developers.

114
66

Legend
Plan Area Boundary
Area for 2MW Wind Turbine
Area for 1MW Wind Turbine

SAC
SPA
Ancient Woodland
Ancient Monument
Listed Building
Historic Park and Gardens

Landscape Sensitivity for Wind Energy
Development (Large 76-110m)
Moderate - High

0

High

50

100

Wind Map Site 27: Upper Old Wheatley Farm (23ha)

´

© Crown copyright and database rights 2019 Ordnance Survey 100024292. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to,
or interact with, the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

115
67

200 Meters

3. Solar Energy
3.1

The Solar energy section below sets out a summary of the solar energy evidence, a draft policy
on which we are seeking your views, and the supporting text for the draft policy.

3.2

The Solar Photovoltaic (PV) Map shows those areas identified for potential development on
agricultural land grades 3 to 5, and identifying landscape sensitivity to PV sites of 5 to 10
hectares. (Agricultural land is rated 1 (excellent) to 5 (very poor)).

3.3

Other constraints excluded natural features such as woodland and Sites of Special Scientific
Interest, sensitive coastal areas, together with heritage assets, including registered parks and
gardens and ancient monuments.

3.4

The Low Carbon Study for Teignbridge (2021) identified 736 GWh of solar PV energy resource,
taking account of identified constraints, were a quarter of those sites identified in the study built
out.

3.5

In context, existing PV development in Teignbridge (as of 2019 base) amounts to 35 MW capacity
with annual output of 35.1 GWh across 3,603 sites of both ground mounted and roof mounted
locations. The study findings indicate a large unexploited potential of 730 – 1720 MW capacity,
depending upon primarily grid proximity constraint and agricultural land grades parameters.

3.6

As a yardstick for the plan, the combined electricity demand of 10,000 new homes and electric
vehicles is estimated at some 66 GWh or equivalent to 14% of Teignbridge’s current electricity
consumption. Resourcing such a level of power would need the identification of 161 ha of land
for PV. This would equate to 9% of the overall solar PV resource, by for instance 13 x 5 MW PV
farms, each occupying 12.2 hectares.
(Note: Policies in Part 1 of the Draft Local Plan will be reviewed following consideration of all
consultation responses).

Draft Solar PV Renewable Energy Policy
Ground-mounted solar photovoltaic (PV) energy developments and associated infrastructure
will be strongly supported in principle within areas identified as having suitable solar resource.
The Solar PV Map 1 (District) and Map 2 (Bovey Basin) indicates those areas likely to have
suitable solar resource. Outside these areas, applicants will need demonstrate the suitability
of the chosen development site, in terms of solar resource, for solar development at the
scale proposed in order for the site to be considered acceptable in principle. In areas where
ground-mounted solar PV development is identified as “suitable”, or where a site has been
demonstrated to be suitable, development will be permitted where, on balance, the contribution
towards renewable energy provision and climate change mitigation outweighs significant harm,
which cannot be mitigated, in relation to the following:
a)
b)
c)
d)
e)
f)
g)

landscape character;
biodiversity and geodiversity;
flood risk and water quality;
significance of heritage assets;
agricultural land quality;
residential amenity; and
safety

116
68

All proposals must demonstrate that they would not affect the integrity of a European
Protected Site.
Solar PV development will be removed once no longer in economic use and the land
restored.
All proposals including supporting infrastructure and buildings necessary for operation and
maintenance of the Solar PV development will be designed in accordance with the details
set out in any future Renewable Energy Development Design Guidance.

Supporting Text
3.7

The following text explains the policy including some of the considerations arising in a) – g).

Landscape Character
3.8

The impact of a solar PV development on the landscape can be linked to the lifetime of the
project and the extent to which the development is reversible at the end of its consented
operational lifetime.

3.9

The layout and design should be informed by a Landscape and Visual Assessment. The
detail of this assessment will depend upon the scale of the proposed development and
whether or not the Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) Regulations apply.

3.10 As there are local variations in landscape character and sensitivity within a Landscape
Character Area (LCA), a site-specific analysis should be undertaken to identify specific
landscape and visual issues. It is important to consider the potential impact on landscape
characteristics, special qualities of landscape designations and potential impact on key views.
3.11 Regard should be had to the ‘Solar Photovoltaic (PV) Developments in the Landscape’ SPD
for further guidance on strategic patterns of landscape sensitivity across Teignbridge and how
to consider landscape in planning applications for Solar PV.

Biodiversity
3.12 Solar PV schemes may reduce habitat and habitat suitability for some species, but they may
also enable the land to be used in multiple ways which deliver environmental gains.
3.13 Intensively managed agricultural land is likely to be of least ecological value. The ecological
value of land which is not under intensive management, including previously used land
should be carefully assessed through an ecological survey.
3.14 Development proposals must take account of the importance of any affected habitats or
features with particular regard to internationally important sites and species.

Flood Risk

3.15 Most proposals for ground mounted solar PV development will require a Flood Risk
Assessment. When designing measures to manage runoff, installation of SUDS drainage
techniques, such as shallow swales or infiltration trenches to replicate natural drainage
characteristics should be incorporated and any access tracks should be permeable. The
culverting of existing watercourses and drainage ditches should be avoided.

Heritage

3.16 Solar developments generally have the potential to affect heritage assets (archaeological
sites, monuments, buildings and landscape features) both above and below ground.

117
69

Legend

Areas identified for PV development,
land grades 3 to 5 without grid
proximity constraint

Landscape Sensitivity for Solar PV
Development (Medium >5-10ha)
Moderate
Moderate - High
High

Map 1 - Solar PV Map
© Crown copyright and database rights 2019 Ordnance Survey 100024292. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to, or interact with,
the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

118
70

´

3.17 Above ground impacts may include the effects on the setting of Listed Buildings and
Scheduled Monuments as well as on the Historic Landscape Character of Teignbridge.
Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 places a
statutory duty on local planning authorities to have “special regard to the desirability of
preserving” listed buildings and their settings. This means that the setting of designated
heritage assets must be appropriately assessed and considerable importance and weight will
be given to the desirability of preserving the setting of listed buildings when the applications
are determined.
3.18 Where solar proposals lie within a visual envelope of designated heritage assets, planning
applications should be supported by an assessment of the setting of historic assets using the
latest English Heritage guidance.
3.19 Below ground impacts may include direct impacts on archaeological deposits through ground
disturbance associated with ground works such as levelling, trenching, foundations, fencing,
temporary haul routes etc.

Agricultural Land
3.20 When development is located on agricultural land it should be temporary, capable of removal
and reversible (i.e. at the end of the life of the development the land can be return to its predevelopment condition).
3.21 Land classified under the Agricultural Land Classification as grades 1 – 2 (Best and
Most Versatile) is safeguarded for food production and should generally be avoided. For
development proposed on grade 3a land, consideration should be given to reasonable
alternative locations on land of lesser agricultural and environmental value.
3.22 Where development on grades 1-3a cannot be avoided, applications should be supported by
detailed information that confirms the means by which the higher quality land will be retained
to enable its future use.

Residential Amenity
3.23 The relationship and potential impacts of new renewable energy developments to residential
amenity will need to be considered and addressed where nearby properties exist.
3.24 Development will need to accord with the provisions of Local Plan Policy H11: Residential
Amenity with particular emphasis on identified impacts on amenity such as glint and glare,
dominance and overshadowing/loss of light. Solar panels are designed to absorb, not reflect
irradiation. The cumulative reflective quality of all materials used in the construction of solar
installations, including PV panels, frames and supports, should be assessed.

Safety

3.25 Roads and rail could be affected by glint and glare or distraction. Appropriate safety and
site security measures should be taken for new sites. Consideration should be given for the
minimal length and height of security fencing in countryside locations. Natural features, such
as hedgerows should be used to assist in site security and/or screen security fencing.
3.26 The use of security lighting should be minimised. Wherever possible passive infra-red
technology and lighting designed in a manner which minimises glare, light pollution and
impacts on biodiversity, in particular bats, needs to be used. Also, in may be necessary to
consider appropriate measures to enable continued access by larger mammals, such as
badgers and foxes.

119
71

Bovey Basin

3.27 Certain parts of the plan area, such as the Bovey Basin, lying to the north of Newton Abbot
towards Bovey Tracey and Chudleigh Knighton, offer considerable potential for Solar PV
development. A detailed resource assessment undertaken as part of the Low Carbon Study
identifies up to 57 sites with potential output of up to 353 GWh. In terms of grid proximity, the
entire area is within 2km of an 11KV grid connection.
3.28 The concentration of mineral workings and long term working areas/safeguarding areas have
been factored in, including the prospect for renewable development as medium or longer term
as an interim use, before required for extraction purposes. Particular regard will be given to
the forthcoming Bovey Basin (Minerals) Strategy, prepared by Devon County Council with the
operators. This will show a detailed overview of minerals development across the basin over the
longer term, for time horizons up to 2121.

Recreation
3.29 Dependent upon location of renewable energy development in relation to existing designated
open space, public footpaths and cycle ways or proposals for the same; opportunities to
incorporate improvements for such facilities may be sought through the provisions of Local Plan
Policy DW9: Natural Infrastructure, other Design and Wellbeing policies and defined Active Travel
routes contained in the Local Plan. In addition, where opportunities exist to create or improve
local wildlife networks, development should maximise these opportunities where feasible, in
addition to natural infrastructure as mitigation for any harm arising from the development.

120
72

Legend

Areas identified for PV development, land
grades 3 to 5 excluding long term quarrying areas

Landscape Sensitivity for Solar
PV Development (Medium >5-10ha)
Moderate
Moderate - High
High

Map 2 - Solar PV Bovey Basin Map
© Crown copyright and database rights 2019 Ordnance Survey 100024292. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to, or interact with,
the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

121
73

´

4. Providing for Gypsies and Travellers
4.1

People who are included within the definition of gypsies and travellers are described as follows:

Persons of nomadic habit of life whatever their race or origin, including such persons who on
grounds only of their own or their family’s or dependants’ educational or health needs or old
age have ceased to travel temporarily.

What does the Local Plan need to provide?
4.2

The Teignbridge Local Plan has to provide land to accommodate sufficient gypsy and traveller
pitches in the same way that it has to provide land for additional housing and employment
development.

4.3

The allocation of new sites is consistent with the Government’s requirement to make sufficient
land available for the gypsy and travelling community and to enable them to continue their
traditional and nomadic way of life, while respecting the interests of the settled community.

4.4

To help achieve this, Government’s aims for traveller sites include a requirement for local
authorities to:
•
•
•
•
•

make an assessment of the gypsy and traveller accommodation needs in their area;
work collaboratively to identify land for sites over a reasonable period of time;
promote private traveller site provision, whilst recognising that some affordable gypsy and
traveller pitch provision may be required;
identify sites in suitable locations that can access education, health, welfare and employment
infrastructure; and
maintain a supply of sites with planning permission to prevent the creation of unauthorised
sites.

How many pitches do we need?
4.5

The existing Local Plan allocated a total of 70 pitches for gypsies and travellers for the period
2013-2033. Of these, 48 pitches have been provided. There is therefore a balance of 22 pitches
to be provided.

4.6

The need for new Gypsy and Traveller pitches to be provided in Teignbridge should be based on
an additional seven years’ worth of supply, but will also need to take account of new up to date
evidence that identifies additional pitch requirements.

4.7

Work has therefore been commissioned to identify the current and future needs of travellers and
gypsies, and those of travelling show-people. This will include an assessment of the number of
additional pitches required up to 2040, and will assess whether these are for permanent, transit
or stopping sites. It will also identify whether affordable pitches are needed as well as private
pitches. This work is not yet complete, but will inform the number and type of pitches that will be
allocated in the Proposed Submission version of the Local Plan 2020-2040, which is due to be
published for consultation and public comment in Summer 2022.

Gypsy and Traveller Policy
4.8

A draft policy was included in the draft Local Plan Part 1 consultation (March 2020). The policy
will be updated in light of consultation responses and further evidence. For information, the draft
policy as consulted upon can be found on p127 of the following link; draft-teignbridge-local-plan2020-march-2020.pdf

122
74

Have any site options been identified for consultation?
4.9

We have been through an extensive process of identifying potential sites for Gypsy and
Traveller pitches. This has involved looking at the following sources of supply:
•
•
•
•
•

Land submitted through the two Gypsy and Traveller ‘Call for Sites’
Unimplemented sites which have a planning permission
Existing authorised sites and their potential to expand
Sites with withdrawn and refused planning applications
Previous unauthorised sites

4.10 This rigorous process only resulted in 1 potential site (with a willing landowner) being
identified as an option for consultation.

Gypsy and Traveller Site Option
CFS-GT-01 Higher Mead Farm, Ashburton
Site Reference Number: CFS-GT-01 (previous HELAA ref n612ver)
Site Name: Higher Mead Farm, Ashburton
Site Description: Site lies to north east of Ashburton. It comprises 2 fairly flat fields, enclosed by
hedgerows, adjacent to A38. There is a recently approved storage yard to the south, adjacent to
the lane/track, a small area of woodland to west, and caravan site to south on higher land.
Site Size (ha): 5.91 of which 4.9 ha is developable
Estimated Yield: Pitch capacity to be determined
Opportunities
Site size: There is sufficient space to provide natural infrastructure improvements, such as
landscaping, play spaces, biodiversity offsetting, tree planting and natural green space. Impacts on
the existing ecology is likely to be largely mitigated through good site design and layout.
Active and sustainable travel: The site lies within 30 minutes travel on foot or by bicycle from the
services and facilities in Ashburton, including its town centre. Public transport is not available close
to the site, but is available in Ashburton.
Highways: There is suitable existing access, needing only minor improvements, to enable the
development.
Landscape impact: Subject to additional landscaping, the site could be relatively well contained
and unlikely to have a significant landscape impact. Although the site lies in close proximity to
Dartmoor National Park, it is adjacent to the A38, which strongly influences the character of the
immediate setting.
Sensitivities
Ecology: The site lies within the South Hams SAC Landscape Connectivity Zone with potential to
affect habitats and connectivity features.
The site may contain protected species including bats, dormouse, reptiles, badgers and barn owls.
Site is adjacent to Mead Farm Unconfirmed Wildlife Site. Priority habitat of species-rich hedges
also exists on the site.
Flood risk, Water Quality and Drainage: The site lies within the Critical Drainage Area
associated with Holbeam Dam. A detailed flood risk mitigation and drainage plan will be required.
Minerals: The site is in a minerals safeguarding area for aggregates.
Infrastructure: The impact of the proposed level of development on local infrastructure such as
the primary, secondary school and GP surgeries will require assessment with regards to existing
capacity.

123

75

Noise: The impact of road noise from the A38 will need to be assessed and potentially mitigated.
Other: Safety of occupants of the site, which is likely to include children, will need to be secured
through appropriate buffers and means of enclosure.
Likely Site Requirements
• Open space including pocket play and/or children`s play (DW8-13)
• Highway access improvements if necessary.
• Preliminary Ecological Appraisal and protected species surveys to inform mitigation and
enhancement measures. Retention of the existing boundary hedges and trees, and biodiversity
offsetting on site. Protection of woodlands. Protect, enhance and restore biodiversity and
achieve a minimum of 10% uplift
• Ecological mitigation – For greater horseshoe bats, as a minimum, a dark flyway corridor will
need to be retained and protected. Other species are likely to be present. In relation to loss of
tree roosts/ foraging habitat/tree roosts and from lighting impacts, mitigation/ compensation
needed. For dormouse, in relation to loss of trees, hedges, scrub and from lighting, mitigation/
compensation needed.
• Flood risk management (e.g. SUDS). (DW15 & EN6)
• Appropriate waste & recycling storage (DW19)

124
76

Tikai Cattery

Homeleigh

The Glen
Stables

A38

Catonia

Beehives

Cattle Grid

ALSTON CROSS

Track

Meadpark
Track

The Rockery

Higher Mead Farm

Legend
Small Residential Site Option
HELAA Adjacent Sites
Flood Zone 3
Parish Boundary

Higher Mead Farm, Ashburton - CFS-GT-01

´

© Crown copyright and database rights 2019 Ordnance Survey 100024292. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to,
or interact with, the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

125
77

5. Small Residential Sites
5.1

To promote the availability of a good mix of sites, national planning policy requires local planning
authorities to identify land to accommodate at least 10% of their housing requirements on sites no
larger than 1 hectare. For context, 1 ha of developable land can typically accommodate 25 – 50
homes, depending on the density and form of development. Small residential sites can make an
important contribution to the delivery of local housing targets and to the local economy, and are
often built out by smaller builders relatively quickly.

5.2

The spatial development strategy outlined in section 1, requires development to be focussed
around existing settlements, in order to minimise travel when accessing services and facilities.
We have therefore carried out a ‘Call for Small Sites’ asking for land located immediately adjacent
or close to existing defined settlements, maximising the ability of new residents to reach facilities
on foot, by bicycle or by public transport.

5.3

In order to take a slightly more flexible approach to small sites, a minor update to the Housing
and Economic Land Availability Assessment (HELAA) methodology was applied to these
new sites. It was also used to re-examine some previously assessed and discounted small
sites, where they were well located close to an existing identified settlement, and only had
limited constraints. The key difference in the updated methodology was the greater flexibility in
topography limits for small sites.

5.4

This process identified a significant number of small sites (both new and reassessed) which were
assessed via the updated HELAA process to consider the feasibility and deliverability of the site.
This included additional HELAA panel meetings, which involved Teignbridge conservation and
flood risk / drainage officers, DCC highways and property industry representatives.

5.5

The outcome is 24 small site options which are subject to this consultation.

126
78

Small Residential Site Options
List of Sites
Bickington
Land between Old Hill and former A38, Bickington
Small Residential Site: Land south of Old Hill, Bickington
Bovey Tracey
Small Residential Site: Land off Moretonhampstead Road, Bovey Tracey
Small Residential Site: Land South of Le Molay Littry Way, Bovey Tracey
Broadhempston
Small Residential Site: Land at Lomans Farm, Broadhempston
Small Residential Site: Field north of Easterways, Broadhempston
Small Residential Site: Field south of Broadhempston
Buckfastleigh
Small Residential Site: Land south of Strode Road, Buckfastleigh
Chudleigh
Small Residential Site: Inner Bell, Exeter Road, Chudleigh
Dawlish
Small Residential Site: Land off Meadow Park, Dawlish
Exminster
Small Residential Site: Land to the North and South of Days Pottles Lane, Exminster
Hennock
Small Residential Site: Field off Knights Mead, Chudleigh Knighton (Parish of Hennock)
Ilsington
Small Residential Site: Myrtle Lodge, Liverton (Parish of Ilsington)
Ipplepen
Small Residential Site: East of Brook House, North Street, Ipplepen
Kingskerswell
Small Residential Site: Edginswell Lane, opposite Hayley Park, Kingskerswell
Small Residential Site: Land at Fluder Hill, Kingskerswell
Small Residential Site: Longlands House, Kingskerswell
Kingsteignton
Small Residential Site: Higher Sandygate, Kingsteignton
Newton Abbot
Small Residential Site: Land and Buildings at Hopkins Lane, Newton Abbot
Small Residential Site: East of Haytor Drive, Newton Abbot
Small Residential Site: Coach Road Nursery, Newton Abbot
Teignmouth
Land to the East and West of Holcombe Road, Teignmouth (in Parish of Dawlish)
Land to the North of Higher Woodway Road, Teignmouth

127
79

Land between Old Hill and former A38, Bickington
Site Reference Number: y2134qo & 4016ya2
Site Name: Land between Old Hill and former A38
Site Description: Comprises of two parcels within the centre of the village. A grassed field enclosed
by hedgerows which is fairly level with some sloping areas and a smaller section to the northwest of
grassed residential curtilage/adjacent paddock also enclosed by hedgerows.
Site size: Total size is 1.44 hectares, of which 1.25 hectares is developable.
Potential yield: 20 – 30 homes (suburban/rural)
Opportunities
Site size: There is sufficient space to provide natural infrastructure improvements, such as
landscaping, play spaces, biodiversity offsetting, allotments, tree planting and natural green space.
Impacts on the existing ecology is likely to be largely mitigated through good site design and layout.
Active and sustainable travel: The site lies within reasonable proximity to a bus route, along the
A383 into Newton Abbot and Ashburton which provides a frequent service.
Health and Wellbeing: The site lies close to local footpaths from the village, giving some opportunity
for healthy lifestyles
Sensitivities
Ecology: The site lies within the South Hams SAC Landscape Connectivity Zone with potential to
affect habitats and connectivity features. The site also lies within 10km of the Dartmoor and South
Dartmoor Woods SAC.
The site may contain protected species including bats, badgers, Cirl Bunting, Dormouse, great crested
newt, barn owls and other species.
Land is close to Unconfirmed Wildlife Sites at Bickington Quarry and Bickington Road Verge.
Priority habitat of hedgerows, trees and grassland provide potential foraging and commuting habitat
for several bat species including greater horseshoe bats. Existing buildings may provide bat roost and
nesting bird potential.
Heritage: A Grade ll listed building at Love Lane, close to the northwest end of the site. This will
require any scheme to provide especially high standards of design and layout.
Highways: Highway improvements would be required in order to facilitate the development scheme
with safety measures put in place for suitable connections from site. Access off Old Hill would be
acceptable, as road is sufficiently wide.
Landscape: The site is in a visually sensitive landscape close to Dartmoor National Park, and is
within the 5km Dartmoor buffer zone.
Flood risk, Water Quality and Drainage: The site lies within Flood Zone 1 and the Critical Drainage
Area, associated with Holbeam Dam. A detailed flood risk mitigation and drainage plan will be
required.
Minerals: The site is within a Mineral Consultation Area for the nearby limestone resource.
Infrastructure: The impact of the proposed level of development on local infrastructure such as GP
surgeries will require assessment with regards to existing capacity. Blackpool Primary School has

128
80

sufficient capacity to accommodate the children living within its designated area. It is popular and
admits pupils from out of area. Should development come forward within the school’s designated
area, some of these pupils would be pushed back to other schools. These may or may not have
the capacity to accommodate these pupils (e.g. Bovey Tracey would not). South Dartmoor College
(Secondary) has capacity for pupils from the proposed development. The site is within South
Dartmoor’s designated area, but close to that of the Newton Abbot secondary schools, and should
be considered as part of a wider secondary review for the Newton Abbot area.
Likely Site Requirements
• Carbon neutral or low carbon development (CC2)
• Open space including pocket play and/or children`s play (DW8-13)
• Highway access improvements
• Preliminary Ecological Appraisal and protected species surveys to inform mitigation and
enhancement measures. Retention of the existing boundary hedges and trees, and biodiversity
offsetting on site. Protect, enhance and restore biodiversity and achieve a minimum of 10%
uplift
• Ecological mitigation – For greater horseshoe bats, as a minimum, a dark flyway corridor will
need to be retained and protected. Other species are likely to be present. In relation to loss of
tree roosts/ foraging habitat/tree roosts and from lighting impacts, mitigation/ compensation
needed. For dormouse, in relation to loss of trees, hedges and from lighting, mitigation/
compensation needed.
• Affordable housing (percentage to be determined). Adaptable and accessible home provision
(H4).
• Flood risk management (e.g. SUDS). (DW15 & EN6)
• Vehicle & cycle parking (DW18) and waste & recycling storage (DW19)
• 5% custom and self-build plots if more than 20 homes proposed
• Design requirements - Design Principles, Parameter Plans, Design Code and Parcel Plans
• Electric vehicle supporting infrastructure (CC3)
• High speed digital infrastructure (EC8)
• Use of appropriate construction techniques to avoid over-compaction or pollution of soil.
Remediation of contaminated and unstable land (EN9)

129
81

The Old Post Office

TCB
The Old Police House

Church
Cottages

Prince's
Briar
Cottage

Moss Cottage

Rose

Prestbury Cottage

Little Princes
4

Parkside

Sinks

3
1

Mill Cottages

Victoria House

Bow Bridge
Cottage

1a

St Georges

MS
Pump
Cottage

Haytor House
Saddle Tor

Rowen
Belvedere
Thistledown

Rippon Tor

Privet Cottage

Robin Hill

Bickington

Little Alice

Bow
Bridge

Quarry Brambles
Cottage
Bustan

Westlands

Glenalva

Lionkins
Tor
View
Bluebell
House

Crooked Cottage

4016ya2
and y2134qo

Riverside
Lodge
LOVE

Lemonford

MANOR MEAD

Hedgehog House

Bovey
Cottage

LANE

Brookside

Springfield

Sunny
OLD HILL
Cottage

The Nest

Kingfishers
Rosetor

Iona

Manor
House
Peacehaven

Love Lane
Farm

Stone
Love Lane
Cottage

Caravan
Old Bow
Bridge

Pond

4016ya2
and y2134qo

Legend
Small Residential Site Option
HELAA Adjacent Sites
Flood Zone 3
Parish Boundary

Land between Old Hill and Former A38 - 4016ya2 and y2134qo

´

© Crown copyright and database rights 2019 Ordnance Survey 100024292. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to,
or interact with, the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

130
82

Land south of Old Hill, Bickington
Site Reference Number: zat092x
Site Name: Land south of Old Hill
Site Description: Site comprises of a pair of fields on the south side of the village. Mainly flat in
topography with sloping land at western end. A couple of existing residential properties are located
between the two fields.
Site size: Total size is 1.59 hectares, of which 1.27 hectares is developable.
Potential yield: 20 – 30 homes (suburban/rural)
Opportunities
Site size: There is sufficient space to provide natural infrastructure improvements, such as
landscaping, play spaces, biodiversity offsetting, allotments, tree planting and natural green space.
Impact on the existing ecology is likely to be largely mitigated through good site design and layout.
Active and sustainable travel: The site lies within reasonable proximity to a bus route, along the
A383 into Newton Abbot and Ashburton which provides a frequent service.
Health and Wellbeing: The site lies close to local footpaths from the village, giving some
opportunity for healthy lifestyles.

Sensitivities
Ecology: The site lies within the South Hams SAC Landscape Connectivity Zone with potential to
affect habitats and connectivity features. The site also lies within 10km of the Dartmoor and South
Dartmoor Woods SAC.
The site may contain protected species including bats, badgers, Cirl Bunting, Dormouse, great
crested newt and other species.
Land is close to Unconfirmed Wildlife Site at Bickington Quarry.
Priority habitat of hedgerows provide potential commuting habitat for several bat species.
Highways: Highway improvements would be required in order to facilitate the development
scheme with safety measures put in place for suitable connections from site.
Landscape: The site is in a visually sensitive landscape close to Dartmoor National Park, and is
within the 5km Dartmoor buffer zone.
Flood risk, Water Quality and Drainage: The site lies within Flood Zone 1 and the Critical
Drainage Area, associated with Holbeam Dam. A detailed flood risk mitigation and drainage plan
will be required.
Minerals: The site is within a Mineral Safeguarding Area and Consultation Area for the nearby
limestone resource.
Infrastructure: The impact of the proposed level of development on local infrastructure such
as GP surgeries will require assessment with regards to existing capacity. Blackpool Primary
School has sufficient capacity to accommodate the children living within its designated area. It is
popular and admits pupils from out of area. Should development come forward within the school’s
designated area, some of these pupils would be pushed back to other schools. These may or
may not have the capacity to accommodate these pupils (e.g. Bovey Tracey would not). South

131

83

Dartmoor College (Secondary) has capacity for pupils from the proposed development. The site is
within South Dartmoor’s designated area, but close to that of the Newton Abbot secondary schools,
and should be considered as part of a wider secondary review for the Newton Abbot area.
Likely Site Requirements
• Carbon neutral or low carbon development (CC2)
• Open space including pocket play and/or children`s play (DW8-13)
• Highway access improvements
• Preliminary Ecological Appraisal and protected species surveys to inform mitigation and
enhancement measures. Retention of the existing boundary hedges and trees, and biodiversity
offsetting on site. Protect, enhance and restore biodiversity and achieve a minimum of 10% uplift
• Ecological mitigation – For greater horseshoe bats, as a minimum, a dark flyway corridor will
need to be retained and protected. Other species are likely to be present. In relation to loss of
tree roosts/ foraging habitat/tree roosts and from lighting impacts, mitigation/ compensation
needed. For dormouse, in relation to loss of trees, hedges and from lighting, mitigation/
compensation needed.
• Affordable housing (percentage to be determined). Adaptable and accessible home provision
(H4).
• Flood risk management (e.g. SUDS). (DW15 & EN6)
• Vehicle & cycle parking (DW18) and waste & recycling storage (DW19)
• 5% custom and self-build plots if more than 20 homes proposed
• Design requirements - Design Principles, Parameter Plans, Design Code and Parcel Plans
• Electric vehicle supporting infrastructure (CC3)
• High speed digital infrastructure (EC8)
• Use of appropriate construction techniques to avoid over-compaction or pollution of soil.
Remediation of contaminated and unstable land (EN9)

132
84

The Old Post Office
Forge Cottage
Dovecote

TCB

Church
Cottages

Prince's
Briar
Cottage
Little Princes

Moss Cottage
4
3

Victoria House

Bow Bridge
Cottage

1a

MS

Rose
Prestbury Cottage
Quarry Brambles
Cottage
Bustan

Parkside

Sinks

1

Haytor House
Saddle Tor
Rippon Tor

Privet Cottage

Rowen
Lionkins

Belvedere

Bickington Village Hall

1

Rock Cottages

Tel
Ex

Bickington

2
Tremal
Cottage

1

Trowse

Glenalva

Thistledown Tor

Westlands

View

Wingstone

Bluebell
House

Riverside
Lodge

Springfield

LOVE

Sunny
OLD HILL
Cottage
Bovey
Cottage

LANE
MANOR MEAD

2

Robin Hill

Crooked Cottage

Brookside

St MaryVirgin
theChurch

St Georges

Bickington

Little Alice
Pump
Cottage

GPLB

Church House

The Old Police House

The Nest

Hedgehog House

zat092x

Ferndale
Wisden
Ashleigh

Glebe
Cottage

Path (um)
The Old Vicarage

Kingfishers

Rosetor

Iona
Manor
House
Peacehaven

Old Bow
Bridge

zat092x

Love Lane
Farm

Stone

Love Lane
Cottage

Pond

LOVE LANE

Track

Rentor Quarry
(dis)

4

Love Lane
Cottages

Track

Path (um)

zat092x

zat092x

Legend
Small Residential Site Option
HELAA Adjacent Sites
Flood Zone 3
Parish Boundary

Land South of Old Hill, Bickington - zat092x

´

© Crown copyright and database rights 2019 Ordnance Survey 100024292. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to,
or interact with, the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

133
85

Land off Moretonhampstead Road, Bovey Tracey
Site Reference Number: y314119
Site Name: Land off Moretonhampstead Road, Bovey Tracey
Site Description: The land is located on the north western edge of Bovey Tracey adjacent to
Moretonhampstead Road and close to the junction with the A382. The area is currently grassed,
sloping and detached from the town.
Site size: Total Size is 0.8ha, all of which is considered developable.
Potential yield: 13-19 (rural / suburban)
Opportunities
Active and sustainable travel: The site lies over 1km from the town centre with no sustainable travel
links currently in place. However, the opportunity to connect will be provided when the adjacent BT1
Dean Park allocation is built.
Highways: Suitable access can be created directly from the site onto Moretonhampstead Road.
Health and Wellbeing: The site lies close to a public open space and public rights of way, providing
opportunities for recreation and healthy lifestyles.
Sensitivities
Ecology: The site lies within 10km of South Dartmoor Woods Special Area of Conservation (SAC)
and is within the South Hams Special Area of Conservation (SAC) Sustenance Zone, with radiotracked barbastelle bat area.
The site may contain protected species including bats, (including Greater Horseshoe, Barbastelle,
Lesser Horseshoe and Brown Long Eared Bats) and Dormice.
Site is close to Whitstone Quarry Regionally Important Geological Site.
Priority Habitats include broadleaved woodland, species-rich hedges, streams, mature (possibly
veteran) trees and possibly semi- or unimproved grassland in places (e.g. unimproved habitat/scrub
mosaic in northern-most field).
Topography: The sloping topography may impact on site capacity, viability and how the dwellings can
be accessed and designed.
Infrastructure: The impact of the proposed level of development on local infrastructure such as the
GP surgery will require assessment with regards to existing capacity. Currently Bovey Tracey Primary
School does not have any additional capacity and cannot be expanded on its existing site. However,
should the proposed relocation of Bovey Tracey Primary School to Le Moley Littry Way as proposed in
the current Local Plan and the Bovey Parish Neighbourhood Plan take place, then sufficient capacity
will be available.
Landscape impact: The site lies within 250m of the boundary of Dartmoor National Park. It is
sloping, visually prominent land. Development could possibly have a significant adverse effect on the
landscape and visual amenity of the area. At this stage it is unclear what mitigation measures may be
achievable.
Likely Site Requirements
• Carbon neutral or low carbon development (CC2)
• Provision of footway along road and crossing/connection with emerging BT1 Dean Park
sustainable travel links.

134

86

•

•

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Preliminary Ecological Appraisal and protected species surveys to inform mitigation and
enhancement measures. Retention of the existing boundary hedges and trees, and biodiversity
offsetting on site. / Protection of trees, hedges and woodlands / Protect, enhance and restore
biodiversity and achieve a minimum of 10% uplift.
Ecological mitigation – For Greater Horseshoe Bats, Barbastelle Bats as a minimum, a dark
flyway corridor will need to be retained and protected. Other species are likely to be present. In
relation to loss of tree roosts/ foraging habitat/tree roosts and from lighting impacts, mitigation/
compensation needed. For dormouse, in relation to loss of trees, hedges, scrub and from
lighting, mitigation/compensation needed.
Affordable housing (percentage to be determined). Adaptable and accessible home provision
(H4).
Flood risk management (e.g. SUDS) (DW15 & EN6)
Vehicle & cycle parking (DW18) and waste & recycling storage (DW19)
Design requirements - Design Code and Parcel Plans
Electric vehicle supporting infrastructure (CC3)
High speed digital infrastructure (EC8)
Open space and children’s play area on-site
Use of appropriate construction techniques to avoid over-compaction or pollution of soil and
remediation of contaminated and unstable land (EN9)

135
87

Issues

Bovey Tracey Golf Centre

Drain
Issues

Sinks

Whitstone
Tennis
Court

Rock

Whitstone
Quarry
Track

(disused)

MONKS WAY

MORETONHAMPSTEAD ROAD
Whitstone
House

Pond

Whitstone
Vineyard

Dean House

Legend
Small Residential Site Option
HELAA Adjacent Sites
Flood Zone 3
Parish Boundary

Land off Moretonhampstead Road, Bovey - y314119

´

© Crown copyright and database rights 2019 Ordnance Survey 100024292. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to,
or interact with, the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

136
88

Land South of Le Molay Littry Way, Bovey Tracey
Site Reference Number: Z9141mi
Site Name: Land South of Le Molay Littry Way, Bovey Tracey
Site Description: The land is located to the south of Bovey Tracey adjacent to Le Molay Littry
Way. The site is gently sloping, comprises 2 fields and is currently grassed.
Site size: Total Size is 2.33ha, of which 1.1ha is considered developable.
Potential yield: 17-26 (suburban / rural)
Opportunities
Active and sustainable travel: The site lies within 1km from the town centre with existing
sustainable and active travel links in place.
Flood Risk, Water Quality and Drainage: A large portion of the site is within the functional
floodplain and is unsuitable for built development. However, the area to the north and east of the
site adjacent to Le Molay Littry Way lies outside the functional floodplain and is therefore suitable
for development.
Highways: Suitable access can be created directly from the site onto Le Molay Littry Way.
Health and Wellbeing: The site lies close to a public open space and public rights of way, providing
opportunities for recreation and healthy lifestyles.
Sensitivities
Ecology: The site lies within 10km of South Dartmoor Woods Special Area of Conservation (SAC)
and is within the South Hams SAC Sustenance Zone.
The site may contain protected species including bats (including Greater Horseshoe, and
Barbastelle), Dormice and Great Crested Newts.
Part of the site is within the West Golds Mine Marsh Unconfirmed Wildlife Site identified for
floodplain grazing marsh.
Priority habitats include species-rich hedges; streams; possible floodplain grazing marsh.
Landscape impact: This low-lying site lies within the 5km buffer of Dartmoor National Park. Any
development would break the characteristic pattern of development only on the north side of the
B3344 - Le Molay Littry Way.
Infrastructure: The impact of the proposed level of development on local infrastructure such as
the GP surgery will require assessment with regards to existing capacity. Currently Bovey Tracey
Primary School does not have any additional capacity and cannot be expanded on its existing site.
However, should the proposed relocation of Bovey Tracey Primary School to Le Moley Littry Way
as proposed in the current Local Plan and the Bovey Parish Neighbourhood Plan take place, then
sufficient capacity will be available.
Likely Site Requirements
• Carbon neutral or low carbon development (CC2)
• Provision of a crossing/connection with existing sustainable travel links.
• Preliminary Ecological Appraisal and protected species surveys to inform mitigation and
enhancement measures. Retention of the existing boundary hedges and trees, and biodiversity
offsetting on site. / Protection of trees, hedges and woodlands / Protect, enhance and restore
biodiversity and achieve a minimum of 10% uplift

137
89

•

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Ecological mitigation – For Greater Horseshoe Bats, Barbastelle Bats as a minimum, a dark flyway
corridor will need to be retained and protected. Other species are likely to be present. In relation to
loss of tree roosts/ foraging habitat/tree roosts and from lighting impacts, mitigation/ compensation
needed. For dormouse, in relation to loss of trees, hedges, scrub and from lighting, mitigation/
compensation needed.
Affordable housing (percentage to be determined). Adaptable and accessible home provision (H4).
Flood risk management (e.g. SUDS) (DW15 & EN6)
Vehicle & cycle parking (DW18) and waste & recycling storage (DW19)
Design requirements - Design Code and Parcel Plans
Electric vehicle supporting infrastructure (CC3)
High speed digital infrastructure (EC8)
Open space and children’s play area on-site
Use of appropriate construction techniques to avoid over-compaction or pollution of soil and
remediation of contaminated and unstable land (EN9)

138
90

18

Croft

BRADLEY ROAD

14

23

12

Latchets

Braemar

38

37

13

St Martins

Staddlestones

21

Marina

13

15
8

30

26

30

24
45
5

Mitchleigh

THE OAKS
26

Issues

12

9

14

15

7

8

28

5

Sinks

1

11
5

DRIVE

2

4

22

3

MEADOW
RENDELLS

7

4
3
2

5

2

13
1

1

10

Choak Walk

GILLEY CLOSE

NICHOLLS PLACE

1

7

Balancing
DAYMOND DRIVE
Pond

SYMONS CLOSE

15

3

1

5
12

24

1

ST
CL
THOMAS
NEWBURY 6

LE MOLAY-LITTRY WAY

26

Jasmine
Cottage

Oak Lodge

4
1

2

Balancing
Pond

18

6

DRAKE ROAD

2

Montrose

El Sub Sta

KENDALL GROVE

14

Strettel
House

14

Westlands

9

1

28

11

2 to 20

5

WYATT CLOSE

13
2

17

8

11

3

23

1

6

14

Issues

FB
Sinks

23

CENTENARY WAY

1

5

15
13

2
12

Play Area

18

B 3344

1

LARKIN CLOSE
1

ESS

20 to 34

3

Track

2
1

11

Tank

EAP

Heath Walk

Balancing
Pond

Spring

ESS
Tk

Sinks

BRADLEYFORD
CORNER
Issues

Sinks

Pond
Spreads
Track

Legend
Small Residential Site Option
HELAA Adjacent Sites
Flood Zone 3
Parish Boundary

Land South of Le Molay Littry Way, Bovey - z9141mi

´

© Crown copyright and database rights 2019 Ordnance Survey 100024292. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to,
or interact with, the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

139
91

Land at Lomans Farm, Broadhempston
Site Reference Number: pp137b1
Site Name: Land at Lomans Farm
Site Description: Grassed field and former orchard area enclosed by mature hedgerows. Residential
properties adjoin both ends of the site, including to rear of Main Street and Houndhead Cross. The
land is located on the southern side of the village and is gently sloping in character.
Site size: Total size is 2.45 hectares, of which 1.50 hectares is developable.
Potential yield: 24 – 36 homes (suburban/rural)
Opportunities
Site size: There is sufficient space to provide natural infrastructure improvements, such as
landscaping, play spaces, biodiversity offsetting, allotments, tree planting and natural green space.
Impacts on the existing ecology is likely to be largely mitigated through good site design and layout.
Active and sustainable travel: The site lies within reasonable proximity to a bus route from the
village centre served by a frequent service. Within walking distance of village services.
Health and Wellbeing: The site lies close to a public right of way, providing an opportunity for walking
and healthy lifestyles.
Sensitivities
Ecology: The site lies within the South Hams SAC Landscape Connectivity Zone, and an
Unconfirmed Wildlife Site covers the northern field with potential to affect habitats and connectivity
features.
The site may contain protected species including bats, Cirl Bunting, Dormouse, Great Crested Newts
and other species.
Land is close to a Great Crested Newt breeding pond.
Priority habitat of species-rich hedges and traditional orchard also exists on the site.
Heritage: Northern part of site is within Broadhempston Conservation Area. Grade ll listed buildings
border the site on northeast and southeast ends. This will require any scheme to provide especially
high standards of design and layout.
Highways: Highway improvements would be required in order to facilitate the development scheme
with safety measures put in place for suitable connections from site.
Landscape: The site is in a visually sensitive rural and historic landscape and would only be
acceptable if it responds to vernacular character in terms of pattern, scale and form.
Flood risk, Water Quality and Drainage: The site lies within Flood Zone 1 (lowest flood risk).
Development in this area could possibly be an opportunity to resolve high surface water runoff from
surrounding fields into the village centre.
Infrastructure: The impact of the proposed level of development on local infrastructure such as
the GP surgeries will require assessment with regards to existing capacity. Broadhempston Primary
School has capacity for the equivalent of 12 dwellings. It is on a constrained site with no option /
land for expansion. South Dartmoor College (Secondary) has capacity for pupils from the proposed
development. Development within South Dartmoor’s designated area, but close to that of the Newton

140
92

Abbot secondary schools, should be considered as part of a wider secondary review for the
Newton Abbot area. There is limited capacity within the Secondary School in Totnes (KEVICC).
Likely Site Requirements
• Carbon neutral or low carbon development (CC2)
• Open space including pocket play and/or children`s play (DW8-13)
• Safe active travel connections to settlement centre where possible. Highway access
improvements if necessary.
• Preliminary Ecological Appraisal and protected species surveys to inform mitigation and
enhancement measures. Retention of the existing boundary hedges and trees, and biodiversity
offsetting on site. Protect, enhance and restore biodiversity and achieve a minimum of 10%
uplift
• Ecological mitigation – For greater horseshoe bats, as a minimum, a dark flyway corridor will
need to be retained and protected. Other species are likely to be present. In relation to loss of
tree roosts/ foraging habitat/tree roosts and from lighting impacts, mitigation/ compensation
needed. For dormouse, in relation to loss of trees, hedges, scrub and from lighting, mitigation/
compensation needed.
• Affordable housing (percentage to be determined). Adaptable and accessible home provision
(H4).
• Flood risk management (e.g. SUDS). (DW15 & EN6)
• Vehicle & cycle parking (DW18) and waste & recycling storage (DW19)
• 5% custom and self-build plots if more than 20 homes proposed
• Design requirements - Design Principles, Parameter Plans, Design Code and Parcel Plans
• Electric vehicle supporting infrastructure (CC3)
• High speed digital infrastructure (EC8)
• Use of appropriate construction techniques to avoid over-compaction or pollution of soil.
Remediation of contaminated and unstable land (EN9)

141
93

Legend
Small Residential Site Option
HELAA Adjacent Sites
Flood Zone 3
Parish Boundary

Land at Lomans Farm, Broadhempston - pp137b1

´

© Crown copyright and database rights 2019 Ordnance Survey 100024292. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to,
or interact with, the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

142
94

Field north of Easterways, Broadhempston
Site Reference Number: CFS-R-36
Site Name: Field north of Easterways
Site Description: Site comprises a large field on the northeast side of the village. It borders
existing residential properties at Easterways to the south and road along whole of western
boundary. The land is relatively flat to gently sloping in character.
Site size: Total size is 2 hectares, of which 1.85 hectares is developable.
Potential yield: 30 – 44 homes (suburban/rural)
Opportunities
Site size: There is sufficient space to provide natural infrastructure improvements, such as
landscaping, play spaces, biodiversity offsetting, allotments, tree planting and natural green space.
Impacts on the existing ecology is likely to be largely mitigated through good site design and layout.
Health and Wellbeing: The site lies close to a playing field at Waterford Cross and public right of
way, providing opportunities for recreation and healthy lifestyles.
Landscape impact: The site is relatively well contained and unlikely to have a significant
landscape impact.
Sensitivities
Ecology: The site lies within the South Hams SAC Landscape Connectivity Zone with potential to
affect habitats and connectivity features.
The site may contain protected species including bats, Cirl Bunting, Dormouse, Great Crested
Newts and other species.
Land is close to a County Wildlife Site at Broadhempston Pond which is a Great Crested Newt
breeding pond.
Highways: Highway improvements would be required in order to facilitate the development
scheme with safety measures put in place for suitable connections from site.
Infrastructure: The impact of the proposed level of development on local infrastructure such as
the GP surgeries will require assessment with regards to existing capacity. Broadhempston Primary
School has capacity for the equivalent of 12 dwellings. It is on a constrained site with no option /
land for expansion. South Dartmoor College (Secondary) has capacity for pupils from the proposed
development. Development within South Dartmoor’s designated area, but close to that of the
Newton Abbot secondary schools, should be considered as part of a wider secondary review for
the Newton Abbot area. There is limited capacity within the Secondary School in Totnes (KEVICC).
Likely Site Requirements
• Carbon neutral or low carbon development (CC2)
• Open space including pocket play and/or children`s play (DW8-13)
• Safe active travel connections to settlement centre where possible. Highway access
improvements if necessary.
• Preliminary Ecological Appraisal and protected species surveys to inform mitigation and
enhancement measures. Retention of the existing boundary hedges and trees, and biodiversity
offsetting on site. Protect, enhance and restore biodiversity and achieve a minimum of 10%
uplift

143
95

•

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Ecological mitigation – For greater horseshoe bats, as a minimum, a dark flyway corridor will
need to be retained and protected. Other species are likely to be present. In relation to loss of tree
roosts/ foraging habitat/tree roosts and from lighting impacts, mitigation/ compensation needed.
For dormouse, in relation to loss of hedges and from lighting, mitigation/compensation needed.
Affordable housing (percentage to be determined). Adaptable and accessible home provision (H4).
Flood risk management (e.g. SUDS). (DW15 & EN6)
Vehicle & cycle parking (DW18) and waste & recycling storage (DW19)
5% custom and self-build plots if more than 20 homes proposed
Design requirements - Design Principles, Parameter Plans, Design Code and Parcel Plans
Electric vehicle supporting infrastructure (CC3)
High speed digital infrastructure (EC8)
Use of appropriate construction techniques to avoid over-compaction or pollution of soil.
Remediation of contaminated and unstable land (EN9)

144
96

GP

CROSS

Drain

Tennis
Court

Football Ground

LAKEWATER
CROSS

Allotment
Gardens

1

4

NEW LANE
1
6

Easterways
Pond

Newhaye

Hazelnut Barn

Ashwick Court

Hickling
Mount

Issues

SMALL PARK LANE

Legend
Small Residential Site Option
HELAA Adjacent Sites
Flood Zone 3
Parish Boundary

Field north of Broadhempston - CFS-R-36

´

© Crown copyright and database rights 2019 Ordnance Survey 100024292. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to,
or interact with, the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

145
97

Field south of Broadhempston
Site Reference Number: CFS-R-37
Site Name: Field south of Broadhempston
Site Description: Site is located to the south of Houndhead Cross. It comprises a large rectangular
field which has a highway frontage along the western side. The northern end of the site adjoins a
residential property of The Gables and others at The Rectory and Old Police House lie on the opposite
side of the road.
Site size: Total size is 4.7 hectares, of which 3.9 hectares is developable.
Potential yield: 20 – 30 homes
Opportunities
Site size: There is sufficient space to provide natural infrastructure improvements, such as
landscaping, play spaces, biodiversity offsetting, allotments, tree planting and natural green space.
Impacts on the existing ecology is likely to be largely mitigated through good site design and layout.
Health and Wellbeing: The site lies close to a public right of way, providing opportunities for
recreation and healthy lifestyles.
Sensitivities
Ecology: The site lies within the South Hams SAC Landscape Connectivity Zone with potential to
affect habitats and connectivity features.
The site may contain protected species including Bats, Cirl Bunting, Great Crested Newts and other
species.
Land is adjacent to Unconfirmed Wildlife Sites at The Gables and Slipperstone Cross.
Priority habitats of hedges and trees exist on the site.
Highways: Highway improvements would be required in order to facilitate the development scheme
with safety measures put in place for suitable connections from site.
Heritage: The village conservation area is close to the site. This will require any scheme to provide
especially high standards of design and layout.
Topography: The topography may impact on site capacity, viability and how the dwellings can be
accessed and designed.
Infrastructure: The impact of the proposed level of development on local infrastructure such as
the GP surgeries will require assessment with regards to existing capacity. Broadhempston Primary
School has capacity for the equivalent of 12 dwellings. It is on a constrained site with no option /
land for expansion. South Dartmoor College (Secondary) has capacity for pupils from the proposed
development. Development within South Dartmoor’s designated area, but close to that of the Newton
Abbot secondary schools, should be considered as part of a wider secondary review for the Newton
Abbot area. There is limited capacity within the Secondary School in Totnes (KEVICC).
Likely Site Requirements
• Carbon neutral or low carbon development (CC2)
• Open space including pocket play and/or children`s play (DW8-13)
• Safe active travel connections to settlement centre where possible. Highway access improvements
if necessary.

146
98

•

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Preliminary Ecological Appraisal and protected species surveys to inform mitigation and
enhancement measures. Retention of the existing boundary hedges and trees, and biodiversity
offsetting on site. Protect, enhance and restore biodiversity and achieve a minimum of 10%
uplift.
Affordable housing (percentage to be determined). Adaptable and accessible home provision
(H4).
Flood risk management (e.g. SUDS). (DW15 & EN6)
Vehicle & cycle parking (DW18) and waste & recycling storage (DW19)
5% custom and self-build plots if more than 20 homes proposed
Design requirements - Design Principles, Parameter Plans, Design Code and Parcel Plans
Electric vehicle supporting infrastructure (CC3)
High speed digital infrastructure (EC8)
Use of appropriate construction techniques to avoid over-compaction or pollution of soil.
Remediation of contaminated and unstable land (EN9)

147
99

Legend
Small Residential Site Option
HELAA Adjacent Sites
Flood Zone 3
Parish Boundary

Field south of Broadhempston - CFS-R-37

´

© Crown copyright and database rights 2019 Ordnance Survey 100024292. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to,
or interact with, the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

148
100

Land south of Strode Road, Buckfastleigh
Site Reference Number: 3a13bhe
Site Name: Land south of Strode Road
Site Description: The land is located to the south of Buckfastleigh with the northern boundary
along Strode Road and southern edge bounded by A38 highway. Western section of land in
particular is sloping.
Site size: Total size is 1.67 hectares, of which 0.6 hectare is developable.
Potential yield: 10 – 14 homes (suburban/rural)
Opportunities
Site size: There is sufficient space to provide natural infrastructure improvements, such as
landscaping, play spaces, biodiversity offsetting, allotments, tree planting and natural green space.
Impacts on the existing ecology is likely to be largely mitigated through good site design and layout.
Active and sustainable travel: The site lies within reasonable proximity of a bus route with a
regular service (within 500m of nearest bus stop) and also lies on national cycle route 272.
Health and Wellbeing: The site lies close to a local park (Victoria Park), the recreation ground
and the Millennium Green and, is within 400m of footpaths and a national cycle route. There are
consequently local opportunities for healthy lifestyles.
Sensitivities
Ecology: The site lies within the South Hams SAC Sustenance Zone and Landscape Connectivity
Zone with potential to affect habitats and connectivity features. The site lies within 10km of the
Dartmoor and South Dartmoor Woods SACs.
The site may contain protected species including bats, dormouse, great crested newts and other
species.
Land is close to Buckfastleigh Caves SSSI, located to north of site and West Mill Cross
Unconfirmed Wildlife Site to southwest.
Priority habitat of species-rich hedges and adjacent broadleaved woodland.
Heritage: Buckfastleigh Conservation Area lies close to the site, on the opposite side of Strode
Road. This will require any scheme to provide especially high standards of design and layout.
Highways and access: Highway access may be challenging and improvements would be required
in order to facilitate the development scheme with safety measures put in place for suitable
connections from site, particularly a cycle and footway route.
Landscape: The site lies adjacent to the boundary of Dartmoor National Park, where development
could have a significant negative effect on the setting of the protected landscape. However, this is
dependent on the specific details and scale of the development.
Topography: The topography may impact on site capacity, viability and how the dwellings can be
accessed and designed given sloped nature of parts of the site.
Minerals: The site is within Mineral Consultation Area for Whitecleaves Quarry, although the facility
has closed.
Infrastructure: The impact of the proposed level of development on local infrastructure such as

149
101

the GP surgeries will require assessment with regards to existing capacity. Buckfastleigh Primary
Schools and South Dartmoor College (Secondary) have capacity for the proposed development.
Noise: The impact of road noise will need to be assessed and potentially mitigated as the site lies
within 100m of the A38 road corridor.
Likely Site Requirements
• Carbon neutral or low carbon development (CC2)
• Open space including pocket play and/or children`s play (DW8-13)
• Safe active travel connections to settlement centre where possible. Highway access improvements
if necessary.
• Preliminary Ecological Appraisal and protected species surveys to inform mitigation and
enhancement measures. Retention of the existing boundary hedges and trees, and biodiversity
offsetting on site. Protect, enhance and restore biodiversity and achieve a minimum of 10% uplift
• Ecological mitigation – For greater horseshoe bats, as a minimum, a dark flyway corridor will
need to be retained and protected. Other species are likely to be present. In relation to loss of
tree roosts, foraging habitat and from lighting impacts, mitigation/ compensation needed. For
dormouse, in relation to loss hedges and from lighting, mitigation/compensation needed.
• Affordable housing (percentage to be determined). Adaptable and accessible home provision (H4).
• Flood risk management (e.g. SUDS). (DW15 & EN6)
• Vehicle & cycle parking (DW18) and waste & recycling storage (DW19)
• Design requirements - Design Principles, Parameter Plans, Design Code and Parcel Plans
• Electric vehicle supporting infrastructure (CC3)
• High speed digital infrastructure (EC8)
• Use of appropriate construction techniques to avoid over-compaction or pollution of soil.
Remediation of contaminated and unstable land (EN9)

150
102

15

8

Hamlyns Way

25 to 32

19 to 24

Orchard Terrace

5

3
to
1

3

2a

El Sub Sta

STREET

2

31

24

45

42 41

10

Primary School

3

Garage

Jellyfish

2

Liby

5

PH

4Millman Mews

Drain FBs

28

St Lukes
Church

14

65

71 71a 72

20
25

32a

Burn

6 5
7
8

82

83 22

21

2

17
1

20

Dean

15

13a

ELLIOT PLAIN

14

GP

El
Sub Sta

Works

19
14

6
8

10

1

24

11

9

1

1

GP
STRODE

ESS

Spring

4

THE ORCHARD

ROAD
Appletree Peartree
Cottage
Cottage

23

24

HOSKINGS COURT

Abbey
House

22

Red
Mount

B 3380

16
21

A38

112b
112a

Car Park

111

PC
106
17

1

TCB

22

1
2

1

CROPPINS

10
13

KINGCOME COURT

17

Strode
Bridge

8

FB

19

3

4
3

9

6
7

Car
Park Burn
Dean

13
80

ROAD

Church
Bridge

14

79

14
13 12

27

31

16

17

19
78

6

STATION

8

20

1

42

15

77

PH

1 2

30

41

18

15

32

29

1

FORE STREET

17

PO

7

12

13

34

56

52

12

121

116

115

37

Bank

35

51

LB

6

12a
1

36

3
1

5

3

38

1

36

1

11
11a

Buckfastleigh
Town
33
Hall

32

Car
Park

5

1

ROAD

TCB

Drain

40
a

44

BOSSELL TERRACE

44

LB

Globe Inn
(PH)

49
50

47
48

46

1
43a

4O

57

55

73

7a

15

2
58a

55a

Fagins Court

2

3

64

55b

Car Park

4 to 11

38
to
33
6

11

12 to 18

Track

Shelter

Club

Swimming Pool

22

Skatepark

27

Victoria Park
Play
Area

A38

Dingle Dell
34

Track

STRODE ROAD

Legend
Small Residential Site Option
HELAA Adjacent Sites
Flood Zone 3
Parish Boundary

Land South of Strode Road, Buckfastleigh - 3a13bhe

´

© Crown copyright and database rights 2019 Ordnance Survey 100024292. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to,
or interact with, the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

151
103

8

Inner Bell, Exeter Road, Chudleigh
Site Reference Number: CFS-R-07
Site Name: Inner Bell, Exeter Road
Site Description: The site lies to the northeast of the town, adjoining allotments to the south. It
comprises a single field. There are a mix of buildings to the north associated with Heathfield House.
Site size: Total size is 1.5 hectares, of which 1.4 hectares is developable.
Potential yield: 22 – 34 homes (suburban/rural)
Opportunities
Site size: There is sufficient space to provide natural infrastructure improvements, such as
landscaping, play spaces, biodiversity offsetting, allotments, tree planting and natural green space.
Impacts on the existing ecology is likely to be largely mitigated through good site design and layout.
Active and sustainable travel: The site lies within reasonable proximity of a bus route with a
frequent service to other town service destinations such as Kingsteignton and Newton Abbot.
Health and Wellbeing: The site lies close to the local sports ground at Over Katebrook and is within
400m of footpaths, providing opportunities for recreation and healthy lifestyles.
Landscape impact: The site is relatively well contained by hedge/tree boundaries and unlikely to
have a significant landscape impact.
Sensitivities
Ecology: The site lies within the South Hams SAC Sustenance Zone and Landscape Connectivity
Zone with potential to affect habitats and connectivity features.
The site lies within 10km recreation buffer of the Exe Estuary SPA, and a Habitat Regulations
contribution will be needed.
The site may contain protected species including bats, dormouse and other species.
Land is close to a couple of Unconfirmed Wildlife Sites to the northeast covering semi-improved/
unimproved grassland and scrub.
Heritage: There is a single Grade ll listed building close to the site, northward at Heathfield House.
This will require any scheme to provide especially high standards of design and layout.
Highways: Highway improvements would be required in order to facilitate the development scheme
with safety measures put in place for suitable connections from site, particularly for foot and cycle
purposes.
Infrastructure: The impact of the proposed level of development on local infrastructure such as GP
surgeries will require assessment with regards to existing capacity. Chudleigh Primary School does
not currently have capacity for the development and is not capable of further expansion. Teign School
(Secondary) does not have capacity for the development and has limited capacity for expansion. It will
require off-site sports provision in close proximity to the school to allow for expansion.
Likely Site Requirements
• Carbon neutral or low carbon development (CC2)
• Open space including pocket play and/or children`s play (DW8-13)
• Safe active travel connections to settlement centre where possible. Highway access improvements
if necessary.

152

104

•

•

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Preliminary Ecological Appraisal and protected species surveys to inform mitigation and
enhancement measures. Retention of the existing boundary hedges and trees, and biodiversity
offsetting on site. Protection of trees and hedges. Protect, enhance and restore biodiversity
and achieve a minimum of 10% uplift
Ecological mitigation – For greater horseshoe bats, as a minimum, a dark flyway corridor will
need to be retained and protected. Other species are likely to be present. In relation to loss of
tree roosts/ foraging habitat/tree roosts and from lighting impacts, mitigation/ compensation
needed. For dormouse, in relation to loss of trees, hedges and from lighting, mitigation/
compensation needed.
Affordable housing (percentage to be determined). Adaptable and accessible home provision
(H4).
Flood risk management (e.g. SUDS). (DW15 & EN6)
Vehicle & cycle parking (DW18) and waste & recycling storage (DW19)
5% custom and self-build plots if more than 20 homes proposed
Design requirements - Design Principles, Parameter Plans, Design Code and Parcel Plans
Electric vehicle supporting infrastructure (CC3)
High speed digital infrastructure (EC8)
Use of appropriate construction techniques to avoid over-compaction or pollution of soil.
Remediation of contaminated and unstable land (EN9)

153
105

The Convent

Windyridge
Pilgrims

LB

MS
Roselands

Oakfield Coach House

The
Presbytery

Roselea
Lavenham
Over
Katebrook

Court Ralla
Heathfield
House

Fairlawn

Engledene

Cedar
Gables

Ambleside

Bottle
Bridge

HILL

Sewage Tanks

BRIDGE

Tank

Track

BOTTLE

Allotment Gardens

Cleaveland Cottage

Track
B 3344
Churchills

Track

FB

5

Spring

Legend
Small Residential Site Option
HELAA Adjacent Sites
Flood Zone 3
Parish Boundary

Inner Bell Exeter Road Chudleigh TQ13 0DD - CFS-R-07

´

© Crown copyright and database rights 2019 Ordnance Survey 100024292. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to,
or interact with, the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

154
106

Land off Meadow Park, Dawlish
Site Reference Number: 7w13bvj
Site Name: Land off Meadow Park, Dawlish
Site Description: The land is located on the western side of Dawlish adjoining the built form of the
town with residential properties bordering at Meadow Park. The majority of the site is significantly
sloped by more than 1:6 grad and some parts more than 1:3.
Site Size: 0.9 - taking account of the fact that surrounding development is on land of a similar
topography
Potential yield: Potential of 5 – 10 due to topography
Opportunities
Active and sustainable travel: The site lies within reasonable proximity to a pavement / cycle
route / bus route into the town centre and to the railway station at Dawlish.
Highways: There is suitable existing access, off which individual drives would need to be created
as a joint access to the site would not be possible due to topography.
Health and Wellbeing: The site lies close to a public open space and public rights of way,
providing opportunities for recreation and healthy lifestyles.
Landscape impact: The site is relatively well contained, set adjacent to the existing built-up area
of Dawlish, and is unlikely to have a significant landscape impact.
Sensitivities
Ecology: The site lies within the South Hams SAC Landscape Connectivity Zone with potential to
affect habitats and connectivity features.
The site may contain protected species including Cirl Buntings and other species.
A County Wildlife site for bird interest lies immediately adjacent and on part of the site.
Priority habitat of species-rich hedges.
Heritage: Dawlish Conservation area lies 150m south of the site. This will require any scheme to
provide especially high standards of design and layout.
Highways and access: Vehicular access appears possible from Meadow Park. Although the
site is at a higher level than the road the development to the west demonstrates how parking and
garaging can be provided at ground level within a split level property.
Landscape: The site lies adjacent to existing development and below the peak of the hill.
Topography: The topography may impact on site capacity, viability and how the dwellings can be
accessed and designed given sloped nature of parts of the site.
Likely Site Requirements
• Carbon neutral or low carbon development (CC2)
• Provision of footway along road
• Preliminary Ecological Appraisal and protected species surveys to inform mitigation and
enhancement measures. Retention of the existing boundary hedges and trees, and biodiversity
offsetting on site. Protection of trees, hedges and woodlands. Protect, enhance and restore
biodiversity and achieve a minimum of 10% uplift

155

107

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Ecological mitigation – For greater horseshoe bats, as a minimum, a dark flyway corridor will
need to be needed. For dormouse, in relation to loss of trees, hedges, scrub and from lighting,
mitigation/compensation needed
Exe Estuary SPA and Dawlish Warren SAC Habitat Regulations contribution
Affordable housing (percentage to be determined). Adaptable and accessible home provision (H4)
Flood risk management (e.g. SUDS) (DW15 & EN6)
Vehicle & cycle parking (DW18) and waste & recycling storage (DW19)
Design requirements - Design Code and Parcel Plans
Electric vehicle supporting infrastructure (CC3)
High speed digital infrastructure (EC8)
Use of appropriate construction techniques to avoid over-compaction or pollution of soil and
remediation of contaminated and unstable land (EN9)

156
108

27

Omar
Sunview
El
Sub Sta
Channel
Domek
View
Copper Hedges

Path (um)

Path (um)
Rivendell

27

39

El Sub Sta
14

36

16

Summerfields

MEADOW PARK

2

ESS

33
26

1

West
Pathfield

36

East
Pathfield

8

Hillcrest

48

64

52

11

58

15

26

55

UPPER LONGLANDS

MEADOW

Green

49

39

Orchard

45

10

13

Acres

Mead

106

24
26

15

94

62

RISE

63

61
27

to 30
32

90

68
to 40

8

102

42

14

STOCKTON HILL

12

96

11

60

9

16

SUMMERLAND AVENUE

1

23

10
7

8

4

12

2

5

3

16

1

1

Red
Bank

10

White
Haven

1

21

2

14

12
CLOSE
The
Coach
House

25

6

Dol-Coth

23

LONGLANDS

1

P

2

19

SUMMERLAND

Milford

11

Stockton Cottages

SCHOOL HILL

1

17

12
2

Priory Lodge

11

2a

Legend
Small Residential Site Option
HELAA Adjacent Sites
Flood Zone 3
Parish Boundary

Land off Meadow Park, Dawlish - 7w13bvj

´

© Crown copyright and database rights 2019 Ordnance Survey 100024292. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to,
or interact with, the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

157
109

Land to the North and South of Days Pottles Lane, Exminster
Site Reference Number: 4915yma / ry15y6g / 581357e
Site Name: Land to the north and south of Days Pottles Lane
Site Description: The site is located to the south of Exminster with residential properties immediately
to the east. It comprises 3 small separate undeveloped fields adjacent to the eastern end of Days
Pottles Lane. A stream runs along the southern boundary of the site.
Site Size (ha): Total Size is 2.38ha, of which 1.56ha is considered developable.
Potential yield: 25-37 (suburban / rural)
Opportunities
Active and sustainable travel: The site lies close to a pavement with access into the village centre
and bus route to Exeter and towns along the A379.
Highways: Suitable access can be created directly from the site onto Days Pottles Lane.
Health and Wellbeing: The site lies close to a public open space and public rights of way, providing
opportunities for recreation and healthy lifestyles.
Sensitivities
Ecology: The site lies within the Exe Estuary Special Protection Area (SPA) and Dawlish Warren
Special Area of Conservation (SAC) 10km Zone. East Devon Pebblebeds SPA SAC: within 10km
Recreation Buffer. Being less than 1km from the SPA, housing here is likely to generate recreation
visits. Water Bird Survey recorded no SPA birds here.
The site may contain protected species including bats, Cirl Buntings, otters and Dormouse.
The southern area is adjacent to Hooper’s Field Unconfirmed Wildlife Site identified for semi-improved
grassland and scrub.
Topography: The sloping topography may impact on site capacity, viability and how the dwellings can
be accessed and designed.
Infrastructure: The impact of the proposed level of development on local infrastructure such as the
GP surgery will require assessment with regards to existing capacity. Exminster Primary School
does not have any additional capacity and cannot be expanded on its existing site. In addition,
the new primary school planned for the South West Exeter allocation (SWE1) only has capacity to
accommodate existing planned growth.
Flood Risk, Water Quality and Drainage: The southern edge of the site lies adjacent to flood zone
3.
Landscape impact: The site is well integrated within the existing settlement. The northern portion of
the site is a slightly conspicuous location where development would need to reinforce the distinctive
characteristics of the settlement.
Likely Site Requirements
• Carbon neutral or low carbon development (CC2)
• Provision of footway along road and connection with sustainable/active travel links.
• Preliminary Ecological Appraisal and protected species surveys to inform mitigation and
enhancement measures. Retention of the existing boundary hedges and trees, and biodiversity
offsetting on site. Protect, enhance and restore biodiversity and achieve a minimum of 10% uplift
• Ecological mitigation – For Bats, as a minimum, a dark flyway corridor will need to be retained

158

110

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

and protected. In relation to loss of tree roosts/ foraging habitat/tree roosts and from lighting
impacts, mitigation/ compensation needed. For Cirl Bunting and Dormouse, in relation to loss of
trees, hedges, scrub and from lighting, mitigation/compensation needed. Appropriate mitigation
for otters also required.
Exe Estuary SPA and Dawlish Warren SAC Habitat Regulations contribution.
Affordable housing (percentage to be determined). Adaptable and accessible home provision
(H4).
Flood risk management (e.g. SUDS) (DW15 & EN6)
Vehicle & cycle parking (DW18) and waste & recycling storage (DW19)
Design requirements - Design Code and Parcel Plans
Electric vehicle supporting infrastructure (CC3)
High speed digital infrastructure (EC8)
Open space and children’s play area on-site
Use of appropriate construction techniques to avoid over-compaction or pollution of soil and
remediation of contaminated and unstable land (EN9)

159
111

Path (um)

PC

The Old Police
House

West Bank

Car Park
Redwald

Recreation Ground

8

Spurways

Tennis Court

14

Spurfield House
6

1

Exminster

Skatepark

Spurfield
Cottages

PO

Rose
Cotts

23

1

PW
The
Cottage

River View
Cottage

Clematis
Cottage

6

3

3
4

Allotment Gardens

25

Rose
Villas

1

5

2

South View
Terrace

15
11

South View El Sub Sta
Garden
Cottage
1

9

Par-Len
2
1

Almshouses

10
1

Pynes Cottage

Track

Days End
Middle
Cottage

Days
House

8

Little
Thatch

2

Pottles Court

2

DAIRY
1

Path

4

CLOSE

5

Littlehayes
3

581357e

Hillside Thatch

Cuddiford
House

Hayloft Cottage
Barnfields

Coombe

12

Cambrian

Track

Wesley
Cottages

DAYS-POTTLES LANE

1

San Remo

4
1

Coombe
Cottage

4915yma
Hall Farm
Cottage

Pitts House

ry15y6g

FB

POTTLES CL

Willowbrook

4

Brookside

The Haven

Dell

Springlands

Les Jours

Electricity
Distribution Site

Pond

Maiville

PW

Garage
Hillside
Villa

1
3

Harwill

581357e

4915yma

ry15y6g

Legend
Small Residential Site Option
HELAA Adjacent Sites
Flood Zone 3
Parish Boundary

Land to North and South of Day Pottles Day, Exminster - 581357e, ry15y6g and 4915yma

´

© Crown copyright and database rights 2019 Ordnance Survey 100024292. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to,
or interact with, the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

160
112

Field off Knights Mead, Chudleigh Knighton (Parish of Hennock)
Site Reference Number: CFS-R-23
Site Name: Field off Knights Mead, Chudleigh Knighton (Parish of Hennock)
Site Description: The site lies to the south of the existing development within Chudleigh Knighton.
It is bordered by residential development to the north and west and by the A38 to the east. The site
is fairly level and is grassed with treed hedgebank boundaries.
Site size: Total size of 2.7ha, of which 1ha is developable. The remainder of the site lies within
Flood Zone 3.
Potential yield: 17-24 suburban/rural (based on 80% of 1ha)
Opportunities
Site size: There is sufficient space to provide natural infrastructure improvements, such as
landscaping, play spaces, biodiversity offsetting, allotments, tree planting and natural green space.
Impacts on the existing ecology is likely to be largely mitigated through good site design and layout.
Active and sustainable travel: The site lies within reasonable proximity to a pavement into the
village and bus route to the nearest town centres.
Highways: There is suitable existing access from Knights Mead, needing only minor
improvements to enable a suitable number of homes.
Health and Wellbeing: The site lies close to a public open space and public rights of way,
providing opportunities for recreation and healthy lifestyles.
Landscape impact: The site is relatively well contained, lying adjacent to the existing built
development of Chudleigh Knighton and development is unlikely to have a significant landscape
impact.
Minerals: The site is in a mineral safeguarding area, however, the landowner also owns the
minerals rights.
Sensitivities
Ecology: The site lies within the South Hams SAC Sustenance Zone and Landscape Connectivity
Zone with potential to affect habitats and connectivity features.
The site may contain protected species including bats, Cirl Buntings, Great Crested Newts, otters,
Dormouse and other species.
Land is close to a SSSI at Chudleigh Knighton Heath.
Priority habitat of species-rich hedges and mature trees on the site.
Heritage: Teign Lawn, a Grade II Listed Building, lies adjacent to the site. This will require any
scheme to provide especially high standards of design and layout.
Infrastructure: The impact of the proposed level of development on local infrastructure such as
GP surgeries will require assessment with regards to existing capacity. The local Primary School
has capacity for the proposed development. Teign School (Secondary) does not have capacity for
the development and has limited capacity for expansion. It will require off-site sports provision in
close proximity to the school to allow for expansion.

161
113

Noise: The impact of road noise will need to be assessed and potentially mitigated.
Flood Risk: Part of the site lies within Flood Zone 3, although this area is not proposed for built
development.
Likely Site Requirements
• Carbon neutral or low carbon development (CC2)
• Open space including pocket play and/or children`s play (DW8-13)
• Safe active travel connections to settlement centre where possible. Highway access improvements
if necessary.
• Preliminary Ecological Appraisal and protected species surveys to inform mitigation and
enhancement measures. Retention of the existing boundary hedges and trees, and biodiversity
offsetting on site. / Protection of trees, hedges and woodlands / Protect, enhance and restore
biodiversity and achieve a minimum of 10% uplift.
• Ecological mitigation – For greater horseshoe bats, as a minimum, a dark flyway corridor will
need to be retained and protected. Other species are likely to be present. In relation to loss of
tree roosts/ foraging habitat/tree roosts and from lighting impacts, mitigation/ compensation
needed. For dormouse, in relation to loss of trees, hedges, scrub and from lighting, mitigation/
compensation needed.
• Affordable housing (percentage to be determined). Adaptable and accessible home provision (H4).
• Flood risk management (e.g. SUDS). (DW15 & EN6)
• Vehicle & cycle parking (DW18) and waste & recycling storage (DW19)
• 5% custom and self-build plots if more than 20 homes proposed
• Design requirements - Design Principles, Parameter Plans, Design Code and Parcel Plans
• Electric vehicle supporting infrastructure (CC3)
• High speed digital infrastructure (EC8)
• Use of appropriate construction techniques to avoid over-compaction or pollution of soil.
Remediation of contaminated and unstable land (EN9)

162
114

Cott
1

Ford
Farm

Bem
Backs Vindo
Orchard
17

Rose
Lawn

21

Chudleigh
Knighton
C of E
Primary School

Claycutter's
Arm's

1

2

TCB

2

FB

1

1

2

43

14
12a

6

8

Church
House

LB

12

26

4

4

33
25

54

5

26

1

DEVON HEATH
20

2

19
14

4

14

VIEW CLOSE
RIVER

2

30

3

1
11

ESS

Teign
Lawn

43

Chudleigh Knighton

4l

A 38
34

29

CFS-R-23

KNIGHTS MEAD
26
6 8

10

59

49

39

Devon

Church

Otter
Holt

15
63

19

1

Mews

El
Sub
Sta

Fairmorn

HARVEYS
CLOSE

55

3

Bunker's

51
Orestone

5

FB

1

1

Bridge

36

ROAD

Waterleat

29

BELLAMARSH LA

53

8

52

CHURCH HOUSE
1
Gentians CLOSE

15
11

6

8b
C4
c2

43

Westwater

1

Ps

Church
4
House
Wellbeck Cottage
Cottage

6

Heather
Cottage

1

5

HADFIELD COURT Underhayes

32

Pond

3

RED HOUSE CLOSE
6

14

14

75

Orchard
Farm Little

10
12

Homeleigh

19

16

6c

42

RIVER VALLEY

1

Meadow
Cottages

Beal
Farm
House

Rosanne
9

12

Maple Close

Stable
Cottage

1

21

65
7

12

7

River View
House

73

Beal
Farm

65

1

3

The

1

4

7

Mapledene

Red House

5

St Paul's War Meml
Church

GALES CREST

16

LB

Cottages

The Chapelry GP

(PH)

Vallance
Cottages

26

31

4

3

Spring
Cottage

1

Brooklands

Chudleigh
Knighton
Homelea
Hall Village

1

2

5

Inversnaid

27

Barn
Cottage

22

12
20

8

Candys
Cottages
Shelter

Waterleat
Cottage

Tanks

River Teign

Sewage
Works

PIPEHOUSE LANE
1
3

Path (um)

CFS-R-23

Legend
Small Residential Site Option
HELAA Adjacent Sites
Flood Zone 3
Parish Boundary

Field off Knights Mead Chudleigh Knighton TQ13 0HG - CFS-R-23

´

© Crown copyright and database rights 2019 Ordnance Survey 100024292. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to,
or interact with, the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

163
115

Myrtle Lodge, Liverton (Parish of Ilsington)
Site Reference Number: CFS-R-01
Site Name: Myrtle Lodge, Liverton, TQ12 6JD
Site Description: The site lies to the north of the A38 and west of Liverton Business Park. It
comprises a dwelling and garden area in the eastern part and business use on the western half,
including a large yard area enclosed by trees.
Site size: Total size of 1ha, of which 0.5ha appears developable, once existing residential properties
and woodland boundaries taken into account.
Potential yield: 8/10/12 suburban/rural (based on 80% of 0.5ha)
Opportunities
Efficient use of land: The site involves the redevelopment of a brownfield site (although planning
permission has never been granted for the change of use to business).
Active and sustainable travel: The site lies within reasonable proximity to a pavement into the
village and a cycle route / bus route into the nearest town centre.
Highways: There is suitable existing access, needing only minor improvements, to enable a suitable
number of homes.
Landscape impact: The site is relatively well contained and unlikely to have a significant landscape
impact.
Sensitivities
Ecology: The site lies within the South Hams SAC Landscape Connectivity Zone with potential to
affect habitats and connectivity features.
The site may contain protected species including bats, Cirl Bunting, Great Crested Newts and other
species.
Land is close to Gorse Blossom Copse County Wildlife site.
Health and Wellbeing: The site does not lie close to a park / public open space / public right of way,
providing limited opportunities for recreation and healthy lifestyles.
Minerals: The site is in a mineral safeguarding area for ball clay.
Infrastructure: The impact of the proposed level of development on local infrastructure such as GP
surgeries will require assessment with regards to existing capacity. Blackpool Primary School has
sufficient capacity to accommodate the children living within its designated area. It is popular and
admits pupils from out of area. Should development come forward within the school’s designated
area, some of these pupils would be pushed back to other schools. These may or may not have
the capacity to accommodate these pupils (e.g. Bovey Tracey may not). South Dartmoor College
(Secondary) has capacity for pupils from the proposed development. The site lies within South
Dartmoor’s designated area, but close to that of the Newton Abbot secondary schools, and should be
considered as part of a wider secondary review for the Newton Abbot area.
Noise: The impact of road noise will need to be assessed and potentially mitigated.

164
116

Likely Site Requirements
• Carbon neutral or low carbon development (CC2)
• Open space including pocket play and/or children`s play (DW8-13)
• Safe active travel connections to settlement centre where possible. Highway access
improvements if necessary.
• Preliminary Ecological Appraisal and protected species surveys to inform mitigation and
enhancement measures. Retention of the existing boundary hedges and trees, and biodiversity
offsetting on site. Protect, enhance and restore biodiversity and achieve a minimum of 10%
uplift
• Ecological mitigation – For greater horseshoe bats, as a minimum, a dark flyway corridor will
need to be retained and protected. In relation to loss of foraging habitat/tree roosts and from
lighting impacts, mitigation/ compensation needed. Other species are likely to be present (eg
Dormouse).
• Affordable housing (percentage to be determined). Adaptable and accessible home provision
(H4).
• Flood risk management (e.g. SUDS). (DW15 & EN6)
• Vehicle & cycle parking (DW18) and waste & recycling storage (DW19)
• 5% custom and self-build plots if more than 20 homes proposed
• Design requirements - Design Principles, Parameter Plans, Design Code and Parcel Plans
• Electric vehicle supporting infrastructure (CC3)
• High speed digital infrastructure (EC8)
• Use of appropriate construction techniques to avoid over-compaction or pollution of soil.
Remediation of contaminated and unstable land (EN9)

165
117

Little Liverton
Business Park

El Sub Sta

7

2 to 5

6

Works

1

8 to 10
19

11
12
14
13

Myrtle Lodge

Haldon View

STAPLEHILL ROAD

Track

School House

Blackpool
2

Blackpool
C of E
Primary School

1

Tennis Court

Wilton
Cottages

Pond

Place of Worship

Oaklea

Drum
Cottage
Stover
Cottage
Templer
Cottage

Shute Park Farm

Belvedere

Gorse Blossom Farm

A38

Blackpool
Pond

Yurtcamp Devon

Legend
Small Residential Site Option
HELAA Adjacent Sites
Flood Zone 3
Parish Boundary

Myrtle Lodge Liverton TQ12 6JD - CFS-R-01

´

© Crown copyright and database rights 2019 Ordnance Survey 100024292. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to,
or interact with, the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

166
118

East of Brook House, North Street, Ipplepen
Site Reference Number: CFS-R-05
Site Name: East of Brook House, North Street
Site Description: The site lies on the northern side of Ipplepen, between Townsend Hill and
Tremlett Grove. Part of the site falls outside the settlement limit of the village. Comprises gently
sloping fields with mature trees and hedge boundaries, with a minor watercourse to the south.
Site size: Total size is 1.1 hectare, of which 1.1 hectare is developable.
Potential yield: 16 – 24 homes (suburban/rural)
Opportunities
Site size: There is sufficient space to provide natural infrastructure improvements, such as
landscaping, play spaces, biodiversity offsetting, allotments, tree planting and natural green space.
Impacts on the existing ecology is likely to be largely mitigated through good site design and layout.
Active and sustainable travel: The site lies within reasonable proximity to a bus route, lying within
500m of a bus stop served by a frequent service to Newton Abbot and Totnes.
Health and Wellbeing: The site lies close to a play area and recreation ground and is within 400m
of a footpath. Development would benefit from an opportunity for recreation and healthy lifestyles.
Landscape impact: The site is well contained by existing boundaries and unlikely to have a
significant landscape impact being also mostly an infill site.
Sensitivities
Ecology: The site lies within the South Hams SAC Landscape Connectivity Zone with potential to
affect habitats and connectivity features.
The site may contain protected species including bats, Cirl Bunting, Dormouse, Great Crested
Newt and other species.
Land is adjacent to Appletrees Knoll Unconfirmed Wildlife Site, which is identified for traditional
orchard, woodland and semi-improved limestone grassland.
Priority habitat of species-rich hedges.
Heritage: Land is immediately adjacent to Ipplepen Conservation Area, within buffer zone of Grade
l listed Church of St Andrew and close to two Grade ll listed buildings on North Street. This will
require any scheme to provide especially high standards of design and layout.
Highways: Highway improvements would be required in order to facilitate the development
scheme, including access being reliant on development of an adjacent site to the south and safety
measures put in place for suitable connections from site.
Minerals: The site is in a mineral consultation area for aggregates.
Infrastructure: The impact of the proposed level of development on local infrastructure such as
GP surgeries will require assessment with regards to existing capacity. The Primary School has
capacity for the proposed development. There is some secondary school capacity within Newton
Abbot. The may be limited capacity within the secondary school in Totnes.
Other: The site contains four Tree Preservation Order trees to be taken into consideration for any
development schemes.

167

119

Likely Site Requirements
• Carbon neutral or low carbon development (CC2)
• Open space including pocket play and/or children`s play (DW8-13)
• Safe active travel connections to settlement centre where possible. Highway access improvements
if necessary.
• Preliminary Ecological Appraisal and protected species surveys to inform mitigation and
enhancement measures. Retention of the existing boundary hedges and trees, and biodiversity
offsetting on site. Protect, enhance and restore biodiversity and achieve a minimum of 10% uplift.
• Ecological mitigation – For greater horseshoe bats, as a minimum, a dark flyway corridor will
need to be retained and protected. Other species are likely to be present. In relation to loss of tree
roosts/ foraging habitat/tree roosts and from lighting impacts, mitigation/ compensation needed.
For dormouse, in relation to loss of trees, hedges and from lighting, mitigation/compensation
needed.
• Affordable housing (percentage to be determined). Adaptable and accessible home provision (H4).
• Flood risk management (e.g. SUDS). (DW15 & EN6)
• Vehicle & cycle parking (DW18) and waste & recycling storage (DW19)
• 5% custom and self-build plots if more than 20 homes proposed
• Design requirements - Design Principles, Parameter Plans, Design Code and Parcel Plans
• Electric vehicle supporting infrastructure (CC3)
• High speed digital infrastructure (EC8)
• Use of appropriate construction techniques to avoid over-compaction or pollution of soil.
Remediation of contaminated and unstable land (EN9)

168
120

1

Appletrees
Hettor

GRANGE CL

5

9

Hatterville

Swallows Nest
The Hayloft

Green Lea

Highfield

Shiloh

Tresco

Yarneford
North
Grange

Watergate

1

Fircroft
HILL

4

Little
Finches

Millers
TOWNSENDLea

BEECH TREES LANE

Springside Cottages

Track

1

The Grange

2
4
5 to

12

3

Ainsdale
Meadowside

14
25

10
Elliott Court

1

Cottage

15

5

8

Windmill Brake

DORNAFIELD DRIVE WEST
Cornerways

46
6

26
28

DORNAFIELD

Play Area

Pond

1

27

6

Sinks

29

Sinks

2

FB

END CLOSE

6

Tel Ex

NORTH

5
33
1

32

Ryden

El
Sub Sta

1

5

2

7

The
Firs

17
11

10 to 20

St Marys
Place
Sunflower
Cottage

4 to 8

Issues
Rosemary
Cottage

10
4

Honeysuckle

1

Hall

Myrtle
Cottage

Stevens Farm

38

19

The
Retreat

BROOK ROAD

9

NORTH STREET

Issues

3Brookside
House

6

Issues

40

The
Priory

Little
Priory

2

Willan

GROVE

South
Priory

2

DORNAFIELD ROAD
Ridgeway 1
Cottage
8

TREMLETT

Tennis Court

Pinehurst
Wayside

June Cottage

20

Thimble Cottage
Church
Cridifords
Brook Cottage

Stevens
Cottage

1

Merryrose
LANE END CROSS
Rock
St

1

LB

2

Wesley
Terrace

Penrae

Legend
Small Residential Site Option
HELAA Adjacent Sites
Flood Zone 3
Parish Boundary

Land to the East of Brooke House North Street Ipplepen TQ12 5RT - CFS-R-05

´

© Crown copyright and database rights 2019 Ordnance Survey 100024292. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to,
or interact with, the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

169
121

Edginswell Lane, opposite Hayley Park, Kingskerswell
Site Reference Number: l315yfs
Site Name: Edginswell Lane, opposite Hayley Park
Site Description: The land is located to the west of the settlement and bordered by A380 and
Edginswell Lane. There is a very limited amount of sloping land within the site in the northern section.
Site size: Total size is 1.57 hectares, of which 0.65 is developable
Potential yield: 10 – 16 homes
Opportunities
Site size: There is sufficient space to provide natural infrastructure improvements, such as
landscaping, play spaces, biodiversity offsetting, allotments, tree planting and natural green space.
Impacts on the existing ecology is likely to be largely mitigated through good site design and layout
and enhancement potential for existing green infrastructure in the Aller Valley.
Active and sustainable travel: The site lies approximately 1.2 km from a bus route into
Kingskerswell and Newton Abbot town centre.
Highways: There is suitable existing access, needing only minor improvements, to enable a suitable
number of homes.
Health and wellbeing: The site is located in an area with green infrastructure associated with the
wider Aller Valley providing a valuable informal recreation resource.
Sensitivities
Ecology: The site lies within the South Hams SAC Landscape Connectivity Zone and Cirl Bunting
2km consultation zone with potential to affect habitats and connectivity features.
The site may contain protected species including bats, Cirl Bunting, Dormouse and other species.
Priority habitat of species-rich hedges also exists on the site.
Landscape: The site is in a visually prominent location in terms of potential urbanisation of the
countryside setting of Kingskerswell and North Whilborough.
Topography: The topography is flat to gently sloping. A small amount of sloping land covers part of
the northern section.
Infrastructure: The impact of the proposed level of development on local infrastructure such as GP
surgeries will require assessment with regards to existing capacity. The Primary School has capacity
for the proposed development.
Noise: The impact of road noise will need to be assessed and potentially mitigated.
Likely Site Requirements
• Carbon neutral or low carbon development (CC2)
• Open space including pocket play and/or children`s play (DW8-13)
• Safe active travel connections to settlement centre where possible. Highway access improvements
if necessary.
• Preliminary Ecological Appraisal and protected species surveys to inform mitigation and
enhancement measures. Retention of the existing boundary hedges and trees, and biodiversity

170
122

•

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

offsetting on site. Protect, enhance and restore biodiversity and achieve a minimum of 10%
uplift
Ecological mitigation – For greater horseshoe bats, as a minimum, a dark flyway corridor will
need to be retained and protected. Other species are likely to be present. In relation to loss of
tree roosts/ foraging habitat and from lighting impacts, mitigation/ compensation needed. For
dormouse, in relation to loss of trees, hedges, scrub and from lighting, mitigation/compensation
needed.
Affordable housing (percentage to be determined). Adaptable and accessible home provision
(H4).
Flood risk management (e.g. SUDS). (DW15 & EN6)
Vehicle & cycle parking (DW18) and waste & recycling storage (DW19)
Design requirements - Design Principles, Parameter Plans, Design Code and Parcel Plans
Electric vehicle supporting infrastructure (CC3)
High speed digital infrastructure (EC8)
Use of appropriate construction techniques to avoid over-compaction or pollution of soil.
Remediation of contaminated and unstable land (EN9)

171
123

DW

Pond

30

Balancing Pond

GP

38

DW

57

FB

1
10

2

FB

Homestead

24
20

12

45

52

EDGINSWELL LANE

MP 216.75

FB

Freeway

47
11

HUXLEY VALE

St Michaels

18

15

Westhaven

18
Berrybank

22
24a
24

The Beeches

12

1

HUXNOR ROAD

17

12

6

HUXLEY VALE

PARK
HAYLEY

Nordley

Balancing Pond

2
25

MANOR

2
5

Issues

6

1

4

7

5a
Darith

Kya-Wana

8

9

9

26
13
6

ROUNDMOORS

3
33

30

23
4

17
11

15

5
36

34

TCB Beechcroft

GOURDERS LANE

ESS
GP
1

9

The Falcons

34

1

2

11a

Balancing
Pond

Clarendon
Orchard

2

HUXNOR
CROSS
1 to 2

The Old Vinery

6

Manorola

Tennis Court

The Vineyards

Vineyards

Drains

18

Legend
Small Residential Site Option
HELAA Adjacent Sites
Flood Zone 3
Parish Boundary

Edginswell Lane, Kingskerswell - l315yfs

´

© Crown copyright and database rights 2019 Ordnance Survey 100024292. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to,
or interact with, the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

172
124

Land at Fluder Hill, Kingskerswell
Site Reference Number: 9m135ah
Site Name: Land at Fluder Hill
Site Description: The site is located on the south eastern side of Kingskerswell, south of Fluder
Hill. An open field area with existing residential properties to the north, including Fluder Crescent.
The majority of the land is sloped by more than 1:6 gradient.
Site size: Total size is 1.40 hectares, of which 0.57 hectare is developable
Potential yield: 9 – 14 homes (suburban/rural)
Opportunities
Site size: There is sufficient space to provide natural infrastructure improvements, such as
landscaping, play spaces, biodiversity offsetting, allotments, tree planting and natural green space.
Impacts on the existing ecology is likely to be largely mitigated through good site design and layout.
Active and sustainable travel: The site lies within reasonable proximity to a bus route into
Kingskerswell and Newton Abbot town centre.
Health and Wellbeing: The site lies close to the recreation ground at Kingskerswell providing
opportunities for recreation and healthy lifestyles.
Sensitivities
Ecology: The site lies within the South Hams SAC Landscape Connectivity Zone with potential to
affect habitats and connectivity features.
The site may contain protected species including bats, Cirl Bunting and other species. Land is
close to an Unconfirmed Wildlife Site. Priority habitat of species-rich hedges also exists on the site.
Highways: Highway improvements would be required in order to facilitate the development
scheme, including localised road widening to gain access with safety measures put in place for
suitable connections from site.
Landscape: The site is in a visually prominent location within a sensitive landscape which provides
separation and distinctiveness between Kingskerswell and Torbay. It is however, reasonably well
integrated with existing development.
Topography: The topography may impact on site capacity, viability and how the dwellings can be
accessed and designed.
Infrastructure: The impact of the proposed level of development on local infrastructure such as
GP surgeries will require assessment with regards to existing capacity. The Primary School has
capacity for the proposed development.
Other: A gas pipe buffer covers the east fringe of the site which requires appropriate consideration.
Likely Site Requirements
• Carbon neutral or low carbon development (CC2)
• Open space including pocket play and/or children`s play (DW8-13)
• Safe active travel connections to settlement centre where possible. Highway access
improvements if necessary.

173
125

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Preliminary Ecological Appraisal and protected species surveys to inform mitigation and
enhancement measures. Retention of the existing boundary hedges and trees, and biodiversity
offsetting on site. Protect, enhance and restore biodiversity and achieve a minimum of 10% uplift.
Ecological mitigation – For greater horseshoe bats, as a minimum, a dark flyway corridor will
need to be retained and protected. Other species are likely to be present. In relation to loss of tree
roosts/ foraging habitat/tree roosts and from lighting impacts, mitigation/ compensation needed.
Affordable housing (percentage to be determined). Adaptable and accessible home provision (H4).
Flood risk management (e.g. SUDS). (DW15 & EN6)
Vehicle & cycle parking (DW18) and waste & recycling storage (DW19)
Design requirements - Design Principles, Parameter Plans, Design Code and Parcel Plans
Electric vehicle supporting infrastructure (CC3)
High speed digital infrastructure (EC8)
Use of appropriate construction techniques to avoid over-compaction or pollution of soil.
Remediation of contaminated and unstable land (EN9)

174
126

27

LB

7
18

E

FLUDER

1

GVC

RIS

8
20

6

5

MOUNT PLEASANT CLOSE

FL UD

ER

CR

ES

CE

NT

21

24

21a

2
2

Mimosa

Palm Rise

1

Stevenstone

24a

The Old Reservoir

29a

29b

6

Kingskerswell

FL
U

DE

RH

IL L

Track

Tall Trees

MO UN
NT RO

SA
T PL EA

7

AD
Issues

Track

Legend
Small Residential Site Option
HELAA Adjacent Sites
Flood Zone 3
Parish Boundary

Land at Fluder Hill, Kingskerswell - 9m135ah

´

© Crown copyright and database rights 2019 Ordnance Survey 100024292. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to,
or interact with, the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

175
127

Longlands House, Kingskerswell
Site Reference Number: CFS-R-24
Site Name: Longlands House
Site Description: The site lies on the southwest side of Kingskerswell, forming a field area to the rear
of existing residential properties along the south side of Whilborough Road. The land also borders
Moles Lane on the eastern boundary. It adjoins the defined settlement limit and is gently sloped
towards eastern side.
Site size: Total size is 1.30 hectares, of which 1 hectare is developable.
Potential yield: 16 – 24 homes
Opportunities
Site size: There is sufficient space to provide natural infrastructure improvements, such as
landscaping, play spaces, biodiversity offsetting, allotments, tree planting and natural green space.
Impacts on the existing ecology is likely to be largely mitigated through good site design and layout.
Active and sustainable travel: The site lies approximately 1.2km from a bus route into Newton Abbot
town centre.
Landscape: The site is relatively well contained and unlikely to have a significant landscape impact.
Sensitivities
Ecology: The site lies within the South Hams SAC Landscape Connectivity Zone and Cirl Bunting
wintering zone and breeding territory with potential to affect habitats and connectivity features.
The site may contain protected species including bats, Cirl Bunting, dormouse and other species.
Land is close to a county wildlife site to the west. Priority habitat of species-rich hedges on eastern
side.
Highways: Highway improvements would be required in order to facilitate the development scheme
with safety measures put in place for suitable connections from the site.
Infrastructure: The impact of the proposed level of development on local infrastructure such GP
surgeries will require assessment with regards to existing capacity. The Primary School has capacity
for the proposed development.
Likely Site Requirements
• Carbon neutral or low carbon development (CC2)
• Open space including pocket play and/or children`s play (DW8-13)
• Safe active travel connections to settlement centre where possible. Highway access improvements
if necessary.
• Preliminary Ecological Appraisal and protected species surveys to inform mitigation and
enhancement measures. Retention of the existing boundary hedges and trees, and biodiversity
offsetting on site. Protect, enhance and restore biodiversity and achieve a minimum of 10% uplift.
• Ecological mitigation – For greater horseshoe bats, as a minimum, a dark flyway corridor will
need to be retained and protected. Other species are likely to be present. In relation to loss of tree
roosts/ foraging habitat/tree roosts and from lighting impacts, mitigation/ compensation needed.
• Affordable housing (percentage to be determined). Adaptable and accessible home provision (H4).
• Flood risk management (e.g. SUDS). (DW15 & EN6)
• Vehicle & cycle parking (DW18) and waste & recycling storage (DW19)

176
128

•
•
•
•

Design requirements - Design Principles, Parameter Plans, Design Code and Parcel Plans
Electric vehicle supporting infrastructure (CC3)
High speed digital infrastructure (EC8)
Use of appropriate construction techniques to avoid over-compaction or pollution of soil.
Remediation of contaminated and unstable land (EN9)

177
129

GOURDERS LANE

Beechcroft
2

Serenity

ESS

4

1

6

9

11a

ts

HUXNOR
CROSS
1

Manorola

The Vineyards
alcons
The F

Longlands Barns

h
eig

17

H
el

s tr
Ke

The Old Vinery

2

to 2

GP

Vineyards

Longlands
House

Path

(um

)

Legend
Small Residential Site Option
HELAA Adjacent Sites
Flood Zone 3
Parish Boundary

Longlands House Whilborough Road Kingskerswell TQ12 5DY - CFS-R-24

´

© Crown copyright and database rights 2019 Ordnance Survey 100024292. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to,
or interact with, the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

178
130

Higher Sandygate, Kingsteignton
Site Reference Number: zn15yva
Site Name: Higher Sandygate
Site Description: The open land is located north of Kingsteignton, west of A380 and bounded by
a stream to the west. It comprises a generally flat topography. There is residential development
bordering the land at Sandygate.
Site size: Total size is 1.34 hectare, of which 1.34 hectare is developable.
Potential yield: 21 – 32 homes (suburban/rural)
Opportunities
Site size: There is sufficient space to provide natural infrastructure improvements, such as
landscaping, play spaces, biodiversity offsetting, allotments, tree planting and natural green space.
Impacts on the existing ecology is likely to be largely mitigated through good site design and layout.
Active and sustainable travel: The site lies within reasonable proximity to a pavement along
existing estate roads which adjoin the land at Sandygate, providing connectivity with the rest of
Kingsteignton to the south.
Highways: There is suitable existing access, needing only moderate improvements, to enable a
suitable number of homes.
Landscape impact: The site is relatively well contained by hedge boundaries and tree cover along
these, unlikely to have a significant landscape impact.
Sensitivities
Ecology: The site lies within the South Hams SAC Chudleigh Sustenance Zone and Landscape
Connectivity Zone with potential to affect habitats and connectivity features. The site lies within
10km of the South Dartmoor Woods SAC.
The site may contain protected species including Greater horseshoe and Grey log-eared bats and
other species, Dormouse and Great crested newts.
Land is close to an Unconfirmed Wildlife Site (Lappathorn Copse) for broadleaved woodland, 140m
to the west of the site.
Priority habitat of river, broadleaved woodland and species-rich hedges.
Heritage: The site lies in an area of archaeological potential adjacent to the alignment of a Roman
road. Archaeological investigations may be needed.
Minerals: The site straddles Mineral Safeguarding Areas for ball clay, sand and gravel.
Infrastructure: The impact of the proposed level of development on local infrastructure such as
GP surgeries will require assessment with regards to existing capacity. The local Primary Schools
have capacity for the development Teign School (Secondary) does not have capacity for the
development and has limited capacity for expansion. It will require off-site sports provision in close
proximity to the school to allow for expansion.
Other: Safety aspects include a site of potential concern for a refuse tip on the northwest edge of
the land. The whole site is within gas pipe buffer with pipeline running through eastern side.

179
131

Likely Site Requirements
• Carbon neutral or low carbon development (CC2)
• Open space including pocket play and/or children`s play (DW8-13)
• Safe active travel connections to settlement centre where possible. Highway access improvements
if necessary.
• Preliminary Ecological Appraisal and protected species surveys to inform mitigation and
enhancement measures. Retention of the existing boundary hedges and trees, and biodiversity
offsetting on site. Protection of trees, hedges and woodlands Protect, enhance and restore
biodiversity and achieve a minimum of 10% uplift
• Ecological mitigation – For greater horseshoe bats, as a minimum, a dark flyway corridor will
need to be retained and protected. Other species are likely to be present. In relation to loss of
tree roosts/ foraging habitat and from lighting impacts, mitigation/ compensation needed. For
dormouse, in relation to loss of trees, hedges and from lighting, mitigation/compensation needed.
• Affordable housing (percentage to be determined). Adaptable and accessible home provision (H4).
• Flood risk management (e.g. SUDS). (DW15 & EN6)
• Vehicle & cycle parking (DW18) and waste & recycling storage (DW19)
• 5% custom and self-build plots if more than 20 homes proposed
• Design requirements - Design Principles, Parameter Plans, Design Code and Parcel Plans
• Electric vehicle supporting infrastructure (CC3)
• High speed digital infrastructure (EC8)
• Use of appropriate construction techniques to avoid over-compaction or pollution of soil.
Remediation of contaminated and unstable land (EN9)

180
132

Track

Sands Copse

31

33

6

A380

D LA

ND

S

35

31a

WO
O

12

14

4
1

Woodlands Copse

Ug br

2

oo ke

18

S tre

Higher Sandygate

am
Woodlands

1

11
2

23

15

120

29
139

13
145

9

7

98
Meadview

3

133
1

Legend
Small Residential Site Option
HELAA Adjacent Sites
Flood Zone 3
Parish Boundary

Higher Sandygate, Kingsteignton - zn15yva

´

© Crown copyright and database rights 2019 Ordnance Survey 100024292. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to,
or interact with, the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

181
133

Land and Buildings at Hopkins Lane, Newton Abbot
Site Reference Number: oz137qr
Site Name: Land and Buildings at Hopkins Lane, Newton Abbot
Site Description: The site lies within the town centre of Newton Abbot. It is a brownfield site with a
variety of run down modern buildings. Set within mix of residential and commercial development, with
school to south.
Site Size: Total size of 0.29ha, all of which is developable (land in Flood Zones 2 and 3a has not been
discounted as the site is brownfield).
Potential yield: 15-29 (at town centre densities)
Opportunities
Efficient use of land: The site involves the redevelopment of a brownfield site.
Active and sustainable travel: The site lies within close proximity to a pavement / cycle route / bus
route into the town centre.
Highways: There is suitable existing access, needing only minor / moderate improvements, to enable
a suitable number of homes.
Health and Wellbeing: The site lies close to a park / public open space / public rights of way,
providing opportunities for recreation and healthy lifestyles.
Sensitivities
Ecology: The site lies within the South Hams SAC Landscape Connectivity Zone with potential to
affect habitats and connectivity features.
The site may contain protected species including bats and birds.
Heritage: Grade II listed buildings lie close to the site and there is potential for industrial/urban
archaeology. This will require any scheme to provide especially high standards of design and layout
and development may require archaeological investigations.
Flood risk, Water Quality and Drainage: The site lies within Flood Zones 2 and 3. A detailed flood
risk mitigation and drainage plan will be required.
Infrastructure: The impact of the proposed level of development on local infrastructure such as GP
surgeries will require assessment with regards to existing capacity. Two new primary schools are
proposed in the existing Local Plan. If both of these schools are delivered, they could be expanded to
accommodate further development. Otherwise, additional new Primary provision would be required.
Likely Site Requirements
• Carbon neutral or low carbon development (CC2)
• Financial contribution towards open space including pocket play and/or children`s play (DW8-13)
• Safe active travel connections to settlement centre where possible. Highway access improvements
if necessary.
• Preliminary Ecological Appraisal and protected species surveys to inform mitigation and
enhancement measures. Retention of the existing boundary hedges and trees, and biodiversity
offsetting on site. / Protection of trees, hedges and woodlands / Protect, enhance and restore
biodiversity and achieve a minimum of 10% uplift

182
134

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Affordable housing (percentage to be determined). Adaptable and accessible home provision
(H4).
Flood risk management (e.g. SUDS). (DW15 & EN6)
Vehicle & cycle parking (DW18) and waste & recycling storage (DW19)
5% custom and self-build plots if more than 20 homes proposed
Design requirements - Design Principles, Parameter Plans, Design Code and Parcel Plans
Electric vehicle supporting infrastructure (CC3)
High speed digital infrastructure (EC8)

183
135

Pearl Assurance House
COURTENAY STREET

4

6

25

LB

13

Bank

5

1

3

7

5

TCBs

62

56

50

42

38

36

28

26

LBs

24

20

22

TCBs

50a

40

46

41

14

12
Cour

8

1

tyard

8

2 to

The

6
2

39

Works

a
37

50

Works

4

37

35

3

48

33

HOPKIN

46

Bank

2

1

Store

S LANE

PH
El

a
33

3

9

Sub Sta

Posts

42

Works

14
to

25

5

10

UN

40

4 to

13

Bank

Works

IO
N

Hopkins

RE
ST

1

ET

Court
1 to

Moorgate

1a

16

House
3
2a

3a

3
1 to

15

1

22

5

4

CE

5b

PRIN

5a

2

31

G
KIN
ST RE

6

L RO

ET

OO

10

17 to

4

SCH

Club

EE T
ST R

7

14

AD

21

Dance

27

16

39

NS

TR
E

11

ET

24

IO

32 to

Studio

UN

26

2

Kings

28

Court

ES

TR
E

ET

1 to 8
1

IS L
10

RL

7

Su
m

CA

5

1

me

rla
nd

Royal Court

Co
tta
ge
s

dv al
Woo
rt
Cou

h
boug
Wol

57a
Hall
5

id
E (a
C of

e

10

to 67

1 to 14

Nursery and Primary School

36

r

ed)

34

7

r Ba
Cide

2
to

46

39
ks
Wor

7

Hall

Yeos Court

1 to 7

Legend
Small Residential Site Option
HELAA Adjacent Sites
Flood Zone 3
Parish Boundary

Land and Buildings at Hopkins Lane, Newton Abbot - oz137qr

´

© Crown copyright and database rights 2019 Ordnance Survey 100024292. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to,
or interact with, the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

184
136

East of Haytor Drive, Newton Abbot
Site Reference Number: UFS_NA_11
Site Name: 11 - East of Haytor Drive
Site Description: The site lies to east of the Buckland area of Newton Abbot, bordering on an area
of steep coastal countryside.
Site Size: Total size of 3.5 ha, of which approximately 1ha may be developable (due to landscape
constraints)
Potential yield: 20-31 (suburban/rural)
Opportunities
Site size: There is sufficient space to provide natural infrastructure improvements, such as
landscaping, play spaces, biodiversity offsetting, allotments, tree planting and natural green space.
Impacts on the existing ecology is likely to be largely mitigated through good site design and layout.
Active and sustainable travel: The site lies within reasonable proximity to a pavement / cycle
route / bus route into the town centre.
Highways: There is suitable existing access, needing only minor / moderate improvements, to
enable a suitable number of homes.
Health and Wellbeing: The site lies close to a park / public open space / public right of way,
providing opportunities for recreation and healthy lifestyles.
Sensitivities
Ecology: The site lies within the South Hams SAC Landscape Connectivity Zone with potential to
affect habitats and connectivity features.
The site may contain protected species including bats, Cirl Bunting, Great Crested Newts,
Dormouse and other species.
Site is close to a County Wildlife Site at Netherton (designated for Cirl Buntings)
Priority habitat of species-rich hedges also exists on the site.
Landscape: The site is in a visually prominent location within a sensitive landscape adjacent to the
sensitive coastal landscape.
Topography: The topography may impact on site capacity, viability and how the dwellings can be
accessed and designed.
Minerals: The site is in a mineral consultation area for aggregates.
Infrastructure: The impact of the proposed level of development on local infrastructure such as
GP surgeries will require assessment with regards to existing capacity. Two new primary schools
are proposed in the existing Local Plan. If both of these schools are delivered, they could be
expanded to accommodate further development. Otherwise, additional new Primary provision
would be required.
Likely Site Requirements
• Carbon neutral or low carbon development (CC2)
• Open space including pocket play and/or children`s play (DW8-13)

185
137

•
•

•

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Safe active travel connections to settlement centre where possible. Highway access improvements
if necessary
Preliminary Ecological Appraisal and protected species surveys to inform mitigation and
enhancement measures. Retention of the existing boundary hedges and trees, and biodiversity
offsetting on site. / Protection of trees, hedges and woodlands / Protect, enhance and restore
biodiversity and achieve a minimum of 10% uplift
Ecological mitigation – For greater horseshoe bats, as a minimum, a dark flyway corridor will
need to be retained and protected. Other species are likely to be present. In relation to loss of
tree roosts/ foraging habitat/tree roosts and from lighting impacts, mitigation/ compensation
needed. For dormouse, in relation to loss of trees, hedges, scrub and from lighting, mitigation/
compensation needed
Affordable housing (percentage to be determined). Adaptable and accessible home provision (H4).
Flood risk management (e.g. SUDS). (DW15 & EN6)
Vehicle & cycle parking (DW18) and waste & recycling storage (DW19)
5% custom and self-build plots if more than 20 homes proposed
Design requirements - Design Principles, Parameter Plans, Design Code and Parcel Plans
Electric vehicle supporting infrastructure (CC3)
High speed digital infrastructure (EC8)
Use of appropriate construction techniques to avoid over-compaction or pollution of soil.
Remediation of contaminated and unstable land (EN9)

186
138

Honeysuckle
Farm

Buckland Barton
House

Beech Trees
Tudor Cottage

Higher
Osier
Court

Track

Lower
Court

Track

7
Pond

10

Collects

4

73

13

Collects

BYNG CLOSE

Buckland Barton
Cottages

Play Area

50

GOULD PLACE

1

BUCKLAND ROAD

61
2
13
40

7

ALURIC RISE

1

1

4

5
17
49
38

10

22

2

1

15

34

32

GARA WAY
ESS

ROAD

1

5

1

9

2

HOCKMORE DRIVE

32

12

22

JELLICOE

BARON WAY

35 33

2
20

2

1

31 29

10

8
18

10

2
8

14
25
23

15

95

2

1

13
Buckland Heights

1

119

2

85

3

129
147

107

DRAKE ROAD

109
85

26

99

137
56
141

79

66

36

106
102

108
104 110

114

120

122

50

El Sub Sta

Legend
Small Residential Site Option
HELAA Adjacent Sites
Flood Zone 3
Parish Boundary

East of Haytor Drive, Newton Abbot - UFS_NA_11 - Urban Fringe 11

´

© Crown copyright and database rights 2019 Ordnance Survey 100024292. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to,
or interact with, the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

187
139

Coach Road Nursery, Newton Abbot
Site Reference Number: znr123x
Site Name: Coach Road Nursery, Newton Abbot.
Site Description: Site set within southern part of town. Site lies to south of Coach Road, between
football pitch and allotments. Residential development to north and woods to south. Former
horticultural site/nursery use that comprises glasshouses, hard surfaced areas and growing areas.
Site Size: 1.09 ha, though likely to be less because of constraints.
Potential yield: Yield subject to the creation of a new pedestrian footway along Coach Road or
through neighbouring land, to the east of the site.
Opportunities
Efficient use of land: The site involves the redevelopment of a brownfield site.
Site size: There is sufficient space to provide natural infrastructure improvements, such as
landscaping, play spaces, biodiversity offsetting, allotments, tree planting and natural green space.
Impacts on the existing ecology is likely to be largely mitigated through good site design and layout.
Highways: There is suitable existing access, needing only minor improvements, to enable a suitable
number of homes.
Health and Wellbeing: The site lies close to a park / public open space / public rights of way,
providing opportunities for recreation and healthy lifestyles.
Landscape impact: The site is relatively well contained and unlikely to have a significant landscape
impact.
Minerals: Although the site is in a Minerals Safeguarding Area and Minerals Consultation Area
(Aggregates) the mineral resource would not be extracted due to the proximity of residential
development, and does not present a constraint to development.
Sensitivities
Ecology: The site lies within the South Hams SAC Landscape Connectivity Zone with potential to
affect habitats and connectivity features.
The site may contain protected species including bats, Cirl Bunting, Great Crested Newts, Dormouse
and other species.
Site is close to a SSSI at Wolborough Fen (Hydrology and water quality of SSSI must be protected)
and Decoy Country Park and Stray Park Meadow County Wildlife Site (buffer zone needed for
woodland and stream to south of site).
Priority habitat of species-rich hedges also exists on the site.
Heritage: Wolborough Hill Conservation Area is close to the site. This will require any scheme to
provide especially high standards of design and layout.
Highways: Highway improvements would be required in order to facilitate the development scheme
with safety measures put in place for suitable connections from site. Specifically, development will
need to secure a new footpath connection along Coach Road to the east of the site.
Flood risk, Water Quality and Drainage: Although the site lies within Flood Zone 1 (lowest risk

188
140

of flooding), surface water, which would run into Decoy Lake, may need to provide a financial
contribution towards the management of surface water. Foul drainage will require a new pumping
station.
Infrastructure: The impact of the proposed level of development on local infrastructure such as
GP surgeries will require assessment with regards to existing capacity. Two new primary schools
are proposed in the existing Local Plan. If both of these schools are delivered, they could be
expanded to accommodate further development. Otherwise, additional new Primary provision
would be required.
Likely Site Requirements
• Carbon neutral or low carbon development (CC2)
• Open space including pocket play and/or children`s play (DW8-13)
• Safe active travel connections along Coach Road. Highway access improvements if necessary.
• Preliminary Ecological Appraisal and protected species surveys to inform mitigation and
enhancement measures. Retention of the existing boundary hedges and trees, and biodiversity
offsetting on site to achieve a minimum of 10% uplift
• Ecological mitigation – For greater horseshoe bats, as a minimum, a dark flyway corridor will
need to be retained and protected. Other species are likely to be present. For dormouse, in
relation to loss of trees, hedges, scrub and from lighting, mitigation/compensation needed.
• Affordable housing (percentage to be determined). Adaptable and accessible home provision
(H4).
• Flood risk management (e.g. SUDS). (DW15 & EN6)
• Vehicle & cycle parking (DW18) and waste & recycling storage (DW19)
• 5% custom and self-build plots if more than 20 homes proposed
• Design requirements - Design Principles, Parameter Plans, Design Code and Parcel Plans
• Electric vehicle supporting infrastructure (CC3)
• High speed digital infrastructure (EC8)
• Use of appropriate construction techniques to avoid over-compaction or pollution of soil.
Remediation of contaminated and unstable land (EN9)

189
141

HU
NS
PE

Hurst Lodge

T
RS
RO

CO

AC

RO

H

AD

AD

South
Lodge

Lealands

htin
Lig

Little
Brinkley Lodge

Penshurst

ow
gT

er s

Penshurst

Football Ground
LB

Cross Park Nursery

ESS

htin
Lig

ow
gT

er s

Skatepark

Motor Sports Circuit

Pond

Allotment Gardens

Track

Legend
Small Residential Site Option
HELAA Adjacent Sites
Flood Zone 3
Parish Boundary

Coach Road Nursery, Newton Abbot - znr123x

´

© Crown copyright and database rights 2019 Ordnance Survey 100024292. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to,
or interact with, the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

190
142

Land at Shepherds Lane, Teignmouth (in Parish of Bishopsteignton)
Site Reference Number: 9r140zl
Site Name: Land at Shepherds Lane, Teignmouth
Site Description: Land follows the western boundary of Teignmouth, comprising a small
residential site defined from the lower eastern section of the original larger submission area which
borders Haytor Close to the east and Headway Cross Road to the south. Existing field boundaries
define the majority of the site.
Site Size (ha): Total Size is 1.2ha, of which 1.1ha is considered developable.
Potential yield: 17-26 (suburban / rural)
Opportunities
Active and sustainable travel: The site lies within reasonable proximity to a pavement / cycle
route / bus route into the town centre, but is over 1km from Teignmouth railway station.
Health and Wellbeing: The site lies close to a public open space and public rights of way,
providing opportunities for recreation and healthy lifestyles.
Landscape impact: The site is adjacent to the existing settlement and lies away from most visible
approach roads. Although the site is high, it is less prominent in the landscape as a large portion of
the site sits between and adjacent to existing residential development.
Sensitivities
Highways: All roads leading to this land are narrow with poor access and no footway or lighting.
Highway improvement would be required with safe routes for pedestrians. Access best taken in
eastern corner of site, and localised road widening required.
Ecology: The site is within 10km of the Exe Estuary SPA and Dawlish Warren SAC and is within
the South Hams SAC Landscape Connectivity Zone, with the potential for development to affect
habitat and connectivity features. Barbastelle Bats have been radio-tracked foraging on site.
The whole of site is within the Bishopsteignton County Wildlife Site (notified for its many breeding
cirl buntings).
The site may contain protected species including bats (including Greater Horseshoe bats,
Barbastelle bats, Grey Long Eared bats and Lesser Horseshoe bats), Cirl Buntings and Dormouse.
The site contains Priority Habitats of species-rich hedges and a watercourse.
Topography: Sloping site, which may impact on site capacity, viability and how the dwellings can
be accessed and designed.
Infrastructure: The impact of the proposed level of development on local infrastructure such as
the GP surgery will require assessment with regards to existing capacity. The site is close to an
existing primary school. The proposed level of development would be able to be accommodated
within the existing primary schools and secondary school.
Likely Site Requirements
• Carbon neutral or low carbon development (CC2)
• Provision of connections with existing sustainable/active travel links.
• Preliminary Ecological Appraisal and protected species surveys to inform mitigation and
enhancement measures. Retention of the existing boundary hedges and trees, and biodiversity

191
143

•

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

offsetting on site. / Protection of trees, hedges and woodlands / Protect, enhance and restore
biodiversity and achieve a minimum of 10% uplift
Ecological mitigation – For Greater Horseshoe Bats, Barbastelle Bats as a minimum, retention/
enhancement of boundary hedges and their connectivity with surrounding hedges/habitats, lighting
controls and compensatory provision/enhancement of foraging habitat. A dark flyway corridor will
need to be retained and protected. Other species are likely to be present, in relation to loss of tree
roosts/ foraging habitat/tree roosts and from lighting impacts. For Dormouse, in relation to loss of
trees, hedges, scrub and from lighting.
Exe Estuary SPA and Dawlish Warren SAC Habitat Regulations contribution.
Affordable housing (percentage to be determined). Adaptable and accessible home provision (H4).
Flood risk management (e.g. SUDS) (DW15 & EN6)
Vehicle & cycle parking (DW18) and waste & recycling storage (DW19)
Design requirements - Design Code and Parcel Plans
Electric vehicle supporting infrastructure (CC3)
High speed digital infrastructure (EC8)
Open space and children’s play area on-site (or contribution to nearby open space provision)
Use of appropriate construction techniques to avoid over-compaction or pollution of soil and
remediation of contaminated and unstable land (EN9)

192
144

19
11

85

81

Posts
1

CHW

RT
COU

16

BEE

60

OOD

67
75

36

El

2

58

Sub Sta
24

46

54

23

O
MO

R VIE

DRIVE

W

24
30

1

18

65

20

22

R

35

O
YT
HA

33

CLOSE

31

HEADWAY CROSS
7

55

12

53

45

14

8
21

ROA
D

15

RR

WAY
CRO
SS

OS

60

PE

14

12

HE A
D

CLOSE

50

7

2

5

44
74

62

1

3

16

Legend
Small Residential Site Option
HELAA Adjacent Sites
Flood Zone 3
Parish Boundary

Land at Shepherds Lane, Bishopsteignton - 9r140zl

´

© Crown copyright and database rights 2019 Ordnance Survey 100024292. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to,
or interact with, the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

193
145

Land to the East and West of Holcombe Road, Teignmouth (in Parish of Dawlish)
Site Reference Number: zs14xnz and j414xwv
Site Name: Land to the East and West of Holcombe Road, Teignmouth
Site Description: This agricultural land comprises 2 small fields divided by Holcombe Road, located
to the north of Teignmouth with open countryside north towards Holcombe. Each is mainly defined by
field boundaries with adjoining residential properties to the southern and edges.
Site Size (ha): Total Size is 3.4ha, of which 2.63ha is considered developable.
Minimum/medium/maximum yield: 31-47 (suburban / rural)
Opportunities
Active and sustainable travel: The site lies within adjacent proximity to a pavement and close to a
cycle route and bus route into the town centre, but is over 1km from Teignmouth railway station.
Health and Wellbeing: The site lies close to a public open space and public rights of way, providing
opportunities for recreation and healthy lifestyles.
Sensitivities
Highways: Access to the western field could be achieved via Holcombe Road. Development would
only be acceptable if localised road widening is undertaken. This could be done in combination with
the eastern field. Access from the A379 to the eastern field does not appear possible due to the
ground level differences and, it may not be possible to achieve visibility splay. Therefore, access
would also need to be via Holcombe Road. Development would only be acceptable if localised road
widening is undertaken to create a minimum highway width of 4.8m.
Ecology: The site is within 10km of the Exe Estuary SPA and Dawlish Warren SAC and is within the
South Hams SAC Landscape Connectivity with potential to affect habitat and connectivity features.
The site may contain protected species including bats, Cirl Bunting and Dormouse.
The site contains Priority Habitats of species rich hedges.
Landscape impact: The site lies in an area with a sensitive landscape and development would erode
the distinctive separate settlements of Teignmouth and Holcombe. Development is therefore best
suited to the lower elevations of the fields to reduce landscape impact.
Topography: Topography is reasonably flat with small sections of steeper land in the northern and
southern areas of the site (1:6 gradient), which may impact on site capacity and how the dwellings can
be accessed and designed.
Infrastructure: The impact of the proposed level of development on local infrastructure such as the
GP surgery will require assessment with regards to existing capacity. The site is more than 1km from
an existing primary school. The proposed level of development would be able to be accommodated
within the existing primary schools and secondary school.
Likely Site Requirements
• Carbon neutral or low carbon development (CC2)
• Provision of connections with existing sustainable/active travel links.
• Preliminary Ecological Appraisal and protected species surveys to inform mitigation and
enhancement measures. Retention of the existing boundary hedges and trees, and biodiversity
offsetting on site. / Protection of trees, hedges and woodlands / Protect, enhance and restore
biodiversity and achieve a minimum of 10% uplift

194

146

•

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Ecological mitigation – For Bats, as a minimum, retention/ enhancement of boundary hedges
and their connectivity with surrounding hedges/habitats, lighting controls and compensatory
provision/enhancement of foraging habitat. A dark flyway corridor will need to be retained and
protected. Other species are likely to be present, in relation to loss of tree roosts/ foraging
habitat/tree roosts and from lighting impacts. For Dormouse, in relation to loss of trees, hedges,
scrub and from lighting.
Exe Estuary SPA and Dawlish Warren SAC Habitat Regulations contribution.
Affordable housing (percentage to be determined). Adaptable and accessible home provision
(H4).
Flood risk management (e.g. SUDS) (DW15 & EN6)
Vehicle & cycle parking (DW18) and waste & recycling storage (DW19)
Design requirements - Design Code and Parcel Plans
Electric vehicle supporting infrastructure (CC3)
High speed digital infrastructure (EC8)
Open space and children’s play area on-site
Use of appropriate construction techniques to avoid over-compaction or pollution of soil and
remediation of contaminated and unstable land (EN9)

195
147

Issues

OAK HILL CROSS ROAD
HOLCOMBE RD

31

TEIGNMOUTH ROAD

j414xwv
and zs14nz

j414xwv
and zs14nz
36

34
33

Windjammer

33

Rugby Pitch

33a

46
4

35

Radnor Gardens
Sunny Brae

2

33b

39a

Mean High Water

39b

6

ALTA VISTA CLOSE

18

2

13

26

HOLCOMBE RD

Lairgs

A 379

23

Clanage

85a

Mean Low Water

Groyne

57

Blue Waters

Path

Sand

A 379
71b 71a

69
1

Groyne

79

Shelter
TEIGNMOUTH ROAD

Coastal Slope

El Sub Sta

58

Brambles

75a

MS
Little

White
Lodge

45

Tiekilew

1

TCB

56

Capri

1

Highlands

Bramblings
Lyme
View

3

8

10

Jaygar

Seascape

5

Mont Au Roux

Littlefield

Oakleigh

85

5

j414xwv
and zs14nz

j414xwv
and zs14nz

Legend
Small Residential Site Option
HELAA Adjacent Sites
Flood Zone 3
Parish Boundary

Land to East and West of Holcombe Road, Holcombe - j414xwv and zs14nz

´

© Crown copyright and database rights 2019 Ordnance Survey 100024292. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to,
or interact with, the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

196
148

Land to the North of Higher Woodway Road, Teignmouth
Site Reference Number: CFS-R-17 and nw13baw
Site Name: Land to the North of Higher Woodway Road
Site Description: Grassed fields likely to be in agricultural use on the north eastern edge of
Teignmouth. The land comprises 4 small fields running behind Higher Woodway Road and Higher
Holcombe Road. The site slopes toward the existing housing on the outer edge of Teignmouth.
Steep slope covering the western side of the site adjacent to residential development on land of
similar topography. Therefore, taking account of existing development on similarly sloping land,
this area of the site is also considered to have potential for development.
Site Size (ha): Total Size is 2.4ha, of which the area considered developable is a minimum
of 1.5ha. However, this is uncertain at this stage until more detailed slope analysis can be
undertaken.
Minimum/medium/maximum yield: Approx. 24-36 (suburban / rural)
Opportunities
Active and sustainable travel: The site lies within close proximity to a pavement and bus route
into the town centre, but is over 1km from Teignmouth railway station.
Highways: Main access to land could be achieved from Higher Woodway Road, although the
road narrows to single lane at the edge of the site. Localised road widening required to achieve
access into site, which could also serve as access to land to the east at Higher Holcombe Farm.
Possible access to smaller fields that form a small portion of land to the west of the site could be
achieved via the private drive off Higher Holcombe Road. Safe footways and connections would
be required.
Health and Wellbeing: The site lies close to a public open space and public rights of way,
providing opportunities for recreation and healthy lifestyles.
Landscape impact: The site lies in a sensitive coastal landscape on the upper slope of a west
facing spur. However the slope faces towards the town and, so as long as development avoids the
skyline, some development could be accommodated. The development would form the settlement
edge of Teignmouth and would need to be fragmented and irregular in form.
Sensitivities
Ecology: The sites lies within 10km of the Exe Estuary SPA and Dawlish Warren SAC and is
within the South Hams Bat SAC Landscape Connectivity Zone with potential to affect habitats and
connectivity features.
The site may contain protected species including bats, Cirl Buntings and Dormouse.
Part of the site is within Buddleford Farm Other Site of Wildlife Interest (OSWI) and it is adjacent to
Bishopsteignton County Wildlife Site, identified for Cirl Buntings.
Site also contains Priority Habitats of woodland, species-rich hedges and streams.
Topography: Sloping site in part, which may impact on site capacity, viability and how the
dwellings can be accessed and designed.
Infrastructure: The impact of the proposed level of development on local infrastructure such as
the GP surgery will require assessment with regards to existing capacity. The site is close to an
existing primary school. The proposed level of development would be able to be accommodated
within the existing primary schools and secondary school.

197

149

Likely Site Requirements
• Carbon neutral or low carbon development (CC2)
• Provision of connections with existing sustainable/active travel links.
• Preliminary Ecological Appraisal and protected species surveys to inform mitigation and
enhancement measures. Retention of the existing boundary hedges and trees, and biodiversity
offsetting on site. / Protection of trees, hedges and woodlands / Protect, enhance and restore
biodiversity and achieve a minimum of 10% uplift.
• Ecological mitigation – For Bats, as a minimum, retention/ enhancement of boundary hedges and
their connectivity with surrounding hedges/habitats, lighting controls and compensatory provision/
enhancement of foraging habitat. A dark flyway corridor will need to be retained and protected.
Other species are likely to be present, in relation to loss of tree roosts/ foraging habitat/tree roosts
and from lighting impacts. For Dormouse and Cirl Bunting in relation to loss of trees, hedges,
scrub and from lighting.
• Exe Estuary SPA and Dawlish Warren SAC Habitat Regulations contribution.
• Affordable housing (percentage to be determined). Adaptable and accessible home provision (H4).
• Flood risk management (e.g. SUDS) (DW15 & EN6)
• Vehicle & cycle parking (DW18) and waste & recycling storage (DW19)
• Design requirements - Design Code and Parcel Plans
• Electric vehicle supporting infrastructure (CC3)
• High speed digital infrastructure (EC8)
• Open space and children’s play area on-site.
• Use of appropriate construction techniques to avoid over-compaction or pollution of soil and
remediation of contaminated and unstable land (EN9)

198
150

HIGHER

Track
WOODWAY ROAD

Higher Holcombe
House

Tamarisk

Staddles
56a

56

3

1

El Sub Sta

Songlines

Tank

Higher
Holcombe
Farm

49
2

6

10

12

45

2

HAZEL CL

HAZEL CL

1
24

5

9

LB

ELM GROVE

3

1

31

Track

13

THATCHER DR

20

43

ST DAVID'S ROAD
19

MAUDLIN DRIVE

32

33

32

10

ST DAVIDS ROAD

30

CG

42

17

42

4

2

22

26

30

46

HIGHER
HOLCOMBE ROAD

21
31

24
26

20

23

22

4

CHARLEMONT ROAD

20
29

23

30a

16

5

ROAD

20

30

CHARLEMONT

1

3

7

32

14

18

1

Electricity
HIGHER WOODWAY ROAD NESS VIEW ROAD
SiteDistribution
2

1
11

15

HIGHER
HOLCOMBE DRIVE

13
10

8

16
2

2

18
39

19

13

49

2

12

PORTLAND AVENUE

1
1

17

El Sub Sta

14

18

10

12

1

11

HIGHER

52

Legend
Small Residential Site Option
HELAA Adjacent Sites
Flood Zone 3
Parish Boundary

Land North of Higher Woodway Road, Teignmouth, TQ14 9NR - CFS-R-17 and nw13baw

´

© Crown copyright and database rights 2019 Ordnance Survey 100024292. You are permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to,
or interact with, the organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

199
151

200

Consultation Plan for the Local Plan Review 2020-2040 (Part 3)
This document sets out suggested approach to consultation, engagement and communication for the 8week period of public engagement for the Draft Local Plan 2020-2040 (part 3). The consultation builds
on, and has been informed by the three previous consultations undertaken for the Issues and Options
stage, the Part 1 (Policies) and the Part 2 (site options) stages of Local Plan preparation.
It accords with the Teignbridge District Council Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) and with
Regulation 18 of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012.

1. Consultation Documents




Local Plan 2020-2040 (Part 3)
Sustainability Appraisal (SA)
Habitats Regulation Assessment (HRA)

The approach should employ, but not be limited to the following minimum standards:

2. General Principles
The following general principles will be applied:







Involvement will be open to all.
We will seek views of interested and affected parties as early as possible.
We will choose processes by balancing cost and time constraints, community impact and our
level of discretion on the outcome.
Publications will be clear and concise and wherever possible avoid unnecessary jargon, without
understating the complexities of any decision.
Those who respond will be kept informed of the later stages in the process.
To minimise costs and risk of Covid will strongly encourage responses to be made electronically
and discourage communication by post.

3. Who will we consult?
Statutory organisations including:













Devon County Council
Teignbridge District Council business leads, managers
Town and Parish Councils
District and County Councillors
Environment Agency
Natural England
Historic England
South West Water
NHS Devon
Devon Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) and Locality Groups
Devon and Cornwall Police
Devon and Somerset Fire and Rescue

Infrastructure providers and government bodies as legally required or otherwise appropriate.

201

1

Organisations representing local interests
Neighbourhood Planning Groups
Local businesses, voluntary and other organisations
Others who have expressed an interest in the subject matter.
The general public – widest possible cross section – proportionate demographic representation and
if necessary targeted marketing.

4. Where will the documents be available?
All information related to the Local Plan Review will be held on the dedicated webpage:

https://www.teignbridge.gov.uk/localplanreview
The website will be used to update the public and stakeholders on Local Plan related news and
current events and will also act as a signpost with links to relevant, related information, videos and
social media channels.

5. How will we consult?
The methods employed for the engagement / consultation will be flexible and responsive to the
nature of the document and the community involved, and incorporate a variety of approaches
designed to reach the widest possible cross section of the local community as possible. Reasonable
steps will be taken to ensure that responses to any engagement / consultation reflect the
demographic and social characteristics of the community.
The following methods will be employed as a minimum:
a) Web and social media







b)

Consultation information and updates will be placed on the TDC website.
The Local Plan Part 3 document will be published using Storymaps, a web-based interactive
package where the user can view the document, interact with site maps and link directly to an
embedded online response form.
The use of consultation software (Survey123) will be used to capture online responses.
Information will be posted on TDC Corporate Social Media pages regularly before, during and
after the consultation period, at key milestones.
Targeted Facebook / Nextdoor marketing if necessary.
Email responses will be directed to localplanreview@teignbridge.gov.uk

Email / Letters
An email or letter inviting comments will be sent to those individuals and organisation who are
listed on the Local Plan consultation database.

c)

Newsletters
The TDC Residents Newsletters, which is circulated to 16,000 people weekly will carry Local Plan
information and articles. We will also utilise the Leisure Facilities newsletter, Parish Council
circulars, TDC staff news, Landlords mailing list, planning agents newsletter, and the members
newsletter. Release will be co-ordinated and possibly themed around a different aspect of the
Local Plan on each release.

d)

Summary document (newsletter style/plain English)
The Local Plan Need to Know Guide created for the Local Plan Part 2 consultation will be modified
and adapted for Part 3.

e)

Media / Publications

202

2

Any media releases should be co-ordinated in liaison with the TDC communications team, which will
act as the hub for all media information and enquiries. Media releases will be circulated before and
during the consultation period.
f)

Displays and document viewing
Paper reference copies of the Local Plan Part 3 document will be available in the District Council
main offices, public libraries and to Town and Parish Councils (where possible).

g) Poster distribution
A poster will be produced publicising the consultation dates and an overview of the project including
illustrations and provided to:




h)

Comments / responses








i)

Libraries
District Council offices and leisure facilities
Community facilities, shops and supermarket noticeboards
Town and Parish Councils for display in public noticeboards and other key locations.

Comments should be made on the online (Survey123 integrated with Storymaps)
Email responses should be made to localplanreview@teignbridge.gov.uk .
Comments can also be sent in paper form to Spatial Planning and Delivery, Teignbridge District
Council, Forde House, Brunel Road, Newton Abbot, TQ12 4XX
Those people who do not have access to the internet at home have the option of using their
local library or the computers in Forde House reception area.
All comments submitted will be made publicly available, excluding contact details and a Data
Protection Act notice will be included in publicity information
Comments received after the deadline will not be considered.
Once all comments have been considered a list will be published containing responses to
themes raised from the Council and any suggested considerations / changes.

Formats available



Normal and large print paper (on request)
Electronic (accessible compliant)

203

3

This page is intentionally left blank

Equality Impact Assessment
Assessment Of: Report to Executive 2nd November 2021on Local Plan (Part 3)Options
☐ Policy ☒ Strategy ☒ Function ☐ Service
☐ New
☐ Other [please state]
☒ Already exists / review ☐ Changing
Directorate: Place & Commercial Services
Assessment carried out by: Trevor Shaw
Service Area: Spatial Planning
Job Role: Senior Planning Officer
Version / Date Of Sign Off By Director:

Step 1: What do we want to do?
This assessment should be started at the beginning of the process by someone with a good knowledge of
the proposal and service area, and sufficient influence over the proposal. It is good practice to take a team
approach to completing the equality impact assessment. Please contact the Policy Officer early for advice.

1.1 What are the aims and objectives/purpose of this proposal?
Briefly explain the purpose of the proposal and why it is needed. Describe who it is aimed at and the
intended aims / outcomes. Where known also summarise the key actions you plan to undertake. Please use
plain English, avoiding jargon and acronyms. Equality Impact Assessments are viewed by a wide range of
people including decision-makers and the wider public.

The Draft Local Plan 2020-40 (Part 3) is a consultation on site options for the Teignbridge Local Plan review. It
contains a range of development site options and policies to be considered through a statutory consultation
process. The key issues covered relate to renewable energy, gypsies and travellers, and small residential sites.
The Part 1 draft Local Plan covered general development management policies and was published in March 2020
for consultation.
Part 2 draft Local Plan consultation covered site options for residential, employment and school sites and was
published in June 2021.
The Local Plan review is needed in order to update the existing Teignbridge Local Plan which was adopted in May
2014.
Consultation on the Site Options draft Local Plan (Part 3) will seek the views of Teignbridge residents, local
businesses, stakeholders in the development process, Parish Councils, community/voluntary based groups,
statutory organisations including infrastructure providers and government bodies and the general public.
Following the consultation, all responses will be analysed and considered in the formulation and drafting of the
Submission version of the Local Plan, which we aim to publish in July 2022.

1.2 Who will the proposal have the potential to affect?
☒ Service users

☒ The wider community

☐ Teignbridge workforce

1.3 Will the proposal have an equality impact?
Could the proposal affect access levels of representation or participation in a service, or does it have the
potential to change e.g. quality of life: health, education, or standard of living etc.?
If ‘No’ explain why you are sure there will be no equality impact, then skip steps 2-4 and request review by
your manager.
If ‘Yes’ complete the rest of this assessment.

☒ Yes

☐ No

[please select]

205

Step 2: What information do we have?
2.1 What data or evidence is there which tells us who is, or could be affected?
Please use this section to demonstrate an understanding of who could be affected by the proposal. Include
general population data where appropriate, and information about people who will be affected with
particular reference to protected and other relevant characteristics (listed in 2.2).
Use one row for each evidence source and say which characteristic(s) it relates to. You can include a mix
of qualitative and quantitative data - from national research, local data or previous consultations and
engagement activities.
Outline whether there are any over or under representation of equality groups within your service - don't
forget to benchmark to local population where appropriate.
For workforce / management of change proposals you will need to look at the diversity of the affected
team(s) using available evidence such as the employee profile data. Identify any under/overrepresentation compared with Teignbridge’s economically active citizens for age, disability, ethnicity,
gender, religion/belief and sexual orientation.

Data / Evidence Source

Summary of what this tells us

[Include a reference where known]

Gypsy and traveller evidence is currently
being prepared

The evidence will tell us how many pitches
are required and whether these are
permanent to transitory pitches.

2.2 Do you currently monitor relevant activity by the following protected
characteristics?
☐ Age
☐ Marriage and Civil Partnership
☐ Religion or Belief

☐ Disability
☐ Pregnancy/Maternity
☐ Sex

☐ Gender Reassignment
☐ Race
☐ Sexual Orientation

2.3 Are there any gaps in the evidence base?
Where there are gaps in the evidence, or you don’t have enough information about some equality groups,
include an equality action to find out in section 4.2 below. This doesn’t mean that you can’t complete the
assessment without the information, but you need to follow up the action and if necessary, review the
assessment later. If you are unable to fill in the gaps please state this clearly with a justification.
For workforce related proposals all relevant information on characteristics may need to be sought from HR
(e.g. pregnancy/maternity). For smaller teams diversity data may be redacted. A high proportion of not
known/not disclosed may require action to address and identify the information needed.

See 2.1

2.4 How have you involved communities and groups that could be affected?
You will nearly always need to involve and consult with internal and external stakeholders during your
assessment. The extent of the engagement will depend on the nature of the proposal or change. This
should usually include individuals and groups representing different relevant protected characteristics.
Please include details of any completed engagement and consultation and how representative this has
been of Teignbridge’s diverse communities.
Include the main findings of any engagement and consultation in Section 2.1 above.

206

If you are managing a workforce change process or restructure please refer to HR for advice on how to
consult and engage with employees. Relevant stakeholders for engagement about workforce changes
may include e.g. staff-led groups, trades unions as well as affected staff.

The Gypsy and Traveller forum is kept informed of the Local Plan Review and was reminded of
the ‘call for sites’.

2.5 How will engagement with stakeholders continue?
Explain how you will continue to engage with stakeholders throughout the course of planning and delivery.
Please describe where more engagement and consultation is required and set out how you intend to
undertake it. Include any targeted work to seek the views of under-represented groups. If you do not intend
to undertake it, please set out your justification. You can ask the Consultation Officer for help in targeting
particular groups.

-

Local Development Scheme for Local Plan Review sets out procedural stages to be
followed for the forthcoming preparation of the plan, inclusive of engagement
requirements.
A Consultation strategy is prepared for each of these stages and will adjust to the
particular circumstances to be covered.

Step 3: Who might the proposal impact?
Analysis of impacts must be rigorous. Please demonstrate your analysis of any impacts of the proposal in this
section, referring to evidence you have gathered above and the characteristics protected by the Equality
Act 2010. Also include details of existing issues for particular groups that you are aware of and are seeking
to address or mitigate through this proposal.

3.1 Does the proposal have any potentially adverse impacts on people on the
basis of their protected or other relevant characteristics?
Consider sub-categories (different kinds of disability, ethnic background etc.) and how people with
combined characteristics (e.g. young women) might have particular needs or experience particular kinds
of disadvantage.
Where mitigations indicate a follow-on action, include this in the ‘Action Plan’ Section 4.2 below.

GENERAL COMMENTS (highlight any potential issues that might impact all or many groups)
The Local Plan Review (Part 3) contains a set of draft Development Site Options which may
adversely impact on any of the groups depending upon location. It is therefore cross-cutting in
nature and does not specifically rely upon the characteristics of the individual group/s
identified. However, the purpose of the plan is to provide a policy framework for delivering
beneficial outcomes for all groups in terms of new development.
PROTECTED CHARACTERISTICS
Age: Young People Does your analysis indicate a disproportionate impact? Yes ☐ No ☒
Potential impacts:
Mitigations:
Does your analysis indicate a disproportionate impact? Yes ☐ No ☒
Age: Older People
Potential impacts:
Mitigations:
Does your analysis indicate a disproportionate impact? Yes ☐ No ☒
Disability
Potential impacts:
Mitigations:
Does your analysis indicate a disproportionate impact? Yes ☐ No ☒
Sex
Potential impacts:
Mitigations:
Does your analysis indicate a disproportionate impact? Yes ☐ No ☒
Sexual orientation

207

Potential impacts:
Mitigations:
Does your analysis indicate a disproportionate impact? Yes ☐ No ☒
Pregnancy /
Maternity
Potential impacts:
Mitigations:
Does your analysis indicate a disproportionate impact? Yes ☐ No ☒
Gender
reassignment
Potential impacts:
Mitigations:
Does your analysis indicate a disproportionate impact? Yes ☐ No ☒
Race
Potential impacts:
Mitigations:
Does your analysis indicate a disproportionate impact? Yes ☐ No ☒
Religion or
Belief
Potential impacts:
Mitigations:
Does your analysis indicate a disproportionate impact? Yes ☐ No ☒
Marriage &
civil partnership
Potential impacts:
Mitigations:
OTHER RELEVANT CHARACTERISTICS
Does your analysis indicate a disproportionate impact? Yes ☐ No ☒
Socio-Economic
(deprivation)
Potential impacts:
Mitigations:
Other group(s) Please add additional rows below to detail the impact for other relevant groups as
appropriate e.g. Asylums and Refugees; Rural/Urban Communities, Homelessness, Digital Exclusion,
Access To Transport

Potential impacts:
Mitigations:

3.2 Does the proposal create any benefits for people on the basis of their
protected or other relevant characteristics?
Outline any potential benefits of the proposal and how they can be maximised. Identify how the proposal
will support our Public Sector Equality Duty to:


Eliminate unlawful discrimination for a protected group



Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected characteristic and those
who don’t



Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and those who don’t

The consultation proposes a gypsy and traveller site option, which would provide
potential benefits, subject to consultation comments.
A key element of identifying site options in the draft LPR is closely following an
assessment methodology which places a premium on potential housing sites that are
well located in terms of access to facilities such as town/village centres and convenient
for public transport services and pedestrian/cycle links. The delivery of such sites from
the plan will ultimately be beneficial to a number of the groups, particularly
young/older people and those with a disability.

208

Step 4: Impact
4.1 How has the equality impact assessment informed or changed the proposal?
What are the main conclusions of this assessment? Use this section to provide an overview of your findings.
This content should be used as a summary in reports, where this full assessment is included as an appendix.
If you have identified any significant negative impacts which cannot be mitigated, provide a justification
showing how the proposal is proportionate, necessary and appropriate despite this.

Summary of significant negative impacts and how they can be mitigated or justified:
The key impact is that to date, despite a wide ranging land search, only 1 suitable gypsy and
traveller site will be consulted upon. Further sites would be desirable to ensure opportunity and
choice, and this will be pursued during the next phase of plan preparation.
Summary of positive impacts / opportunities to promote the Public Sector Equality Duty:
Continue the proposal: The assessment demonstrates that the Local Plan Review – Part 3 shows
no potential for discrimination and we have taken all appropriate opportunities to advance
equality of opportunity and foster good relations between people with different protected
characteristics.
The consultation process will also build upon experience from previous consultations to ensure a
mix of digital / on-line information is available, and hard-copy formats, including an easy access
‘need to know’ guide. These methods and others have helped collect input from several of the
identified groups such as young people and old people.
The online survey will also be improved using ‘Firmstep’ to make it more user friendly.

4.2 Action Plan
Use this section to set out any actions you have identified to improve data, mitigate issues, or maximise
opportunities etc. If an action is to meet the needs of a particular protected group please specify this.

Improvement / action required
Prepare full Equality Impact Assessment for LPR alongside
preparation of Proposed Submission version of draft plan.

Responsible Officer
TS

Timescale
JanMarch
2022

4.3 How will the impact of your proposal and actions be measured?
How will you know if have been successful? Once the activity has been implemented this equality impact
assessment should be periodically reviewed to make sure your changes have been effective and your
approach is still appropriate. Include the timescale for review in your action plan above.

Monitoring the impact of the draft plan is a long term task which can only be fully undertaken
once some of the policies/proposals are implemented. It therefore follows that key timings will
be around time of plan adoption (Jan 2024) and then through yearly review linked to the
Annual Monitoring Report requirement, with a major assessment after five years during 2029.

Step 5: Review & Sign-Off
EIAs should only be marked as reviewed when they provide sufficient information for decision-makers on the
equalities impact of the proposal. Please seek review and feedback from management before requesting it
to be signed off. All working drafts of EIAs and final signed-off EIAs should be saved in G:\GLOBAL\EIA
Once signed-off please add the details to the ‘Corporate Register’ of all council EIAs saved in the same
directory.

Reviewed by Service Manager:

209

Strategic Leadership Team Sign-Off:

Yes ☐
No ☒ Instead was reviewed by:
Alex Lessware
Date: 11th October 2021

Date:

Version 1 – Nov 2021

210

Agenda Item 9

Teignbridge District Council
Executive Committee
2nd November 2021
Purpose of Report
To consider the options available for reducing the amount of residual waste collected
from households in the district and encourage an increase in recycling.

Recommendation(s)
The Executive RESOLVES:
1. That the charge for an additional residual waste bin is increased to £300 per
year from April 1st 2022, and reviewed annually through fees and charges
thereafter.
2. That a charge of £42 per 10 sacks is introduced for side waste collections
using prepaid bags delivered to service users from April 2022, and reviewed
annually through fees and charges thereafter.
3. That the use of the charged side waste service be restricted to one request
per year for each property.

Financial Implications
Please see paragraph 4.1 of the report.
Martin Flitcroft
Chief Finance Officer & Head of Corporate Services
Email: martin.flitcroft@teignbridge.gov.uk

Legal Implications
As Waste Collection Authority, the Council is duty bound to collect household waste,
for which generally it cannot charge other than in specified situations (e.g. where the
waste cannot fit into the bin provided to each residence by the authority for
household waste). In considering what charges to impose for the limited types of
household waste as part of its objective to encourage household recycling, it should
also be noted that the County Council as the Waste Disposal Authority cannot
charge for disposing of any type of household waste at its disposal sites, the use of
which may be more preferable by households than paying for additional household

Executive Committee
2nd November 2021

211

collection bins or recycling.
Paul Woodhead Interim Legal Services Manager and Monitoring Officer
Email: paul.woodhead@teignbridge.gov.uk

Risk Assessment
Please see paragraph 4.2 of the report.

Environmental/Climate Change Implications
Please see paragraph 4.3 of the report.

Report Author
Technical Officer
anna.lang@teignbridge.gov.uk

Executive Member
Cllr Alistair Dewhirst

Background Papers
None

1.

Background

1.1 Teignbridge District Council (TDC) has historically been, and continues to be, a
high performer nationally in relation to recycling, reaching the top ten of English
authorities with our highest recorded rate of 57.4% in 2009.
1.2 Since then, and despite significant positive service changes, the recycling rate
has plateaued at a level around 56%.
1.3 On 2nd March 2021, a report was brought to the Executive Committee that set
out the challenges faced in increasing the district’s recycling rate. It provided a
10 point action plan to increase the levels of recycling and reduce the amount
of residual waste collected.
1.4 This report provides further details for the Executive’s consideration regarding
Actions 8 and 9 in the Executive approved Action Plan.


Action 8 - Review the additional bin policy to remove option or increase the
charge levied.



Action 9 - Review the side waste policy to reduce the allowance from 3
times to once per year and consider introducing charges for this service.

Executive Committee
2nd November 2021

212

2.

Additional Residual Waste Bins

2.1 Households that meet a set criteria in relation to number of occupants are
currently entitled to an additional residual waste bin free of charge, usually 180
litres. Residual waste being that which cannot be recycled from home. At
present, households that don’t meet the criteria for a free additional bin can
apply for a second residual waste bin at a charge of £132.00 per year but must
agree to fully participate in the recycling services provided. This is difficult to
police and enforce.
2.2 At present we have 834 households with additional residual waste bins, 69 of
which pay the charge. Work is ongoing to identify unauthorised additional bins
(official ones are supplied with yellow lids) and remove those from properties no
longer requiring them, for example when children leave home.
2.3 The options for consideration regarding additional residual waste bins are as
follows:
a) Increase charge for rented additional bins for those not eligible for a free bin
due to household size
The current charge of £132.00 does not appear to be a sufficient deterrent for
some to ensure they are recycling as much as possible rather than just renting
an additional bin to dispose of their waste.
The Council currently charges £11.00 per collection of commercial waste for a
standard sized bin. Using this standard figure for the rental of a bin (for
additional household waste) the cost of the collections for a year would be
£286.00 (based on 26 collections per year). A reasonable administration fee
should be added to this to cover invoicing and administration of the rental, to
give an annual fee of £300.00.
It is difficult to estimate how many households would continue to rent a bin, but
the significant increase in cost is likely to deter some and help to reduce waste
and increase recycling. Alternative changes in fees could also be considered.
b) Remove the option to rent an additional bin
The average TDC household generates around 337kg of residual waste per
year. If the option to pay for a second residual waste bin was removed this
could potentially reduce waste by 23 tonnes per year. It is recommended
however that if this option is considered, the option for charging for side waste
should also be considered (see section 3 below).

Executive Committee
2nd November 2021

213

3.

Side Waste Policy

3.1 Residents are currently able to request a collection of up to five bags of “side
waste” (i.e. additional household waste left by the side of the bin because the
bin is full) in addition to their black residual waste bin on three occasions in a
rolling 12 month period. Any other side waste, or side waste not pre-booked,
will not be collected by crews.
3.2 Restrictions are relaxed during the post-Christmas catch up to allow for delayed
collections due to bank holidays.
3.3 Additional recyclable waste properly presented is collected without restriction or
booking and residents can request additional recycling containers free of
charge.
3.4 Last year we received 1378 requests for additional side waste collections,
amounting to an estimated 28 tonnes of residual waste. Of these
approximately a third were repeat requests from the same household.
3.5 The options for consideration for the Council’s policy on side waste are:
a) Reduce the number of occasions side waste can be requested
The current allowance of 3 occasions per 12 month period can be reduced to a
single occasion per rolling 12 months.
b) Introduce a charge for side waste
Rather than imposing a restriction on the occasions that side waste can be
booked, a charge could be implemented for the service. This would encourage
householders to consider recycling all that they can in order to reduce the
residual waste that they are producing, rather than paying for too many side
waste collections. Examples of two authorities that use this option are,



West Lindsey District Council charge £8.85 for 5 sacks plus p&p.
East Devon District Council charge £42 for 10 sacks including p&p

Both authorities use brightly coloured sacks that are posted to the householder
following payment and identify the collection to the collection crews.
In order to provide an element of standardisation of service across authorities, it
is suggested that if this option is recommended for adoption a charge of £42 for
10 sacks, should be considered to mirror the policy of East Devon District
Council. The sacks used in East Devon are purple, which makes them
identifiable to the crews.
Consideration should also be given to restricting the availability of this service
to prevent residents from buying their way out of correct recycling behaviour,
East Devon only allow householders to request the sacks once per year for
example, but the sacks can be used over a period of time.
Executive Committee
2nd November 2021

214

c) Remove the option to request side waste collections
Many of the top performing authorities, including South Hams District Council
who have a closed lid policy for the wheeled bins and Exeter City Council, do
not allow the collection of side waste at all, most advise that any additional
waste is taken to the local Household Waste Recycling Centre (HWRC) or in
the case of Exeter City Council, they expect the residents to dispose of any
additional waste themselves. Devon County Council, who are responsible for
the HWRC in the district, have confirmed that they already allow households to
take up to 8 sacks of general waste (black bag waste) a year to Brunel Road,
Newton Abbot. This covers things like missed collections, holidays and excess
waste and needs to be pre booked through the Devon County Council call
centre. They would not be looking to change this policy or allow unlimited
amounts of black bag waste to be taken to the site.
4.

Implications, Risk Management and Climate Change Impact

4.1

Financial
There would be an additional cost for the initial purchase of the sacks for the
side waste collections, but this would be offset by the charge made to the
householder for the service. The charge should also cover any delivery costs.
There would be no additional costs with regards to the additional bin charges.
The increased cost of an additional bin would cover the fortnightly collection of
the bin as well as any administration involved.
Increases in the collection and resale of dry recyclables generates additional
income for the Council from Recycling Credits (paid to TDC by DCC) and
through the sale of material to reprocessors. Material income levels vary with
global and national markets and have to be balanced against the additional
costs of collection, processing and onwards transportation.

4.2

Risks
There are no material significant risks considered within the proposals. There is
however a potential risk of customer dissatisfaction from those impacted by any
changes to the services included within the proposals.

4.3

Environmental/Climate Change Impact
Reducing the amount of residual waste and as a result increasing recycling
levels has a positive overall impact in relation to environmental and climate
change impacts in most scenarios. The actions proposed aim to reduce the
levels of additional residual waste collected and increase the level of
participation in recycling. This potential increase in the recycling rate would
therefore support the Council’s related aspirations.

Executive Committee
2nd November 2021

215

5

Alternative Options
There are no additional alternative options identified that could be pursued at
this time other than those presented in this report. Consideration could be
given to maintaining the status quo.

6

Conclusion

6.1

While there are fairly low cost or free options available for householders to
dispose of any additional residual waste, it provides little or no incentive for
increasing participation in recycling or reviewing the waste produced with a
view to reducing it altogether. They are able to dispose of it all as residual
waste without any additional thought or consideration.

6.2 Removing the options altogether or introducing a charge of a level that will
provoke some thought before paying for the service should encourage
householders to review the waste that they are throwing away or at a minimum,
ensure that they are recycling as much material as they are able to from the
kerbside.
6.3 Introducing or increasing the charges householders to pay for the additional
service if they feel that they need it, but should channel some users into
improved recycling behaviour.

Executive Committee
2nd November 2021

216

